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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

X1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT of
1934
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O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT of 1934
Commission File No. 1-11859
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(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or or ganization)
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(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
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None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢ifie Act:
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c0b#turities Act of 1933.  Ye§]
No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék) filed all reports required to be filed by Sewcti® or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 modh$or such shorter period that the Registrard vemjuired to file such reports) and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementstfe past 90 days. Ye&l No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the Registrant’s knowdedy definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller report
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reportir@mpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileild Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company]
(Do not check if a smaller reporti
company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yes[O No

The aggregate market value of the Registrant’'s comstock held by non-affiliates of the Registraaséd on the closing price (as
reported by NASDAQ) of such common stock on theé basiness day of the Registrant’s most recentigpieted second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2008) was approximately $197 million.

There were 35,573,607 shares of the Registrantsraan stock, $0.01 par value per share, outstarmhrigebruary 23, 2009.
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PART I

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incogtes forward-looking statements within the mearmhgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SeéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookitefements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projecéibost the industry and markets in which we opesatemanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. In addition, other written or oratestgents that constitute forward-looking statememay be made by us or on our behalf. Words
such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “may,” “target,” “@ject,” or variations of such words and
similar expressions are intended to identify swariwérd-looking statements. These statements arguasantees of future performance and
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumpgtibiat are difficult to predict. We have identifiegrtain risk factors included in ltem 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K that we believeldatause our actual results to differ materialtynfirthe forward-looking statements we
make. We do not intend to update publicly any fodMaoking statements, whether as a result of mdarination, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Pegasystems Inc. was incorporated in Massachusét®83. Our stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globglkest Market under the symbol
PEGA. Our website address is www.pega.com. We @renoluding the information contained on our wébsis part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-Kldds the context otherwise requires, referencéssmnnual Report on Form 10-K to “the
Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Pegasystetme. and its subsidiaries.

Our Company

We develop, market, license, and support softwaeitomate complex, changing business processeqdabanted Build for Chande
software technology enables organizations to bdiggloy, and change enterprise applications eanillyquickly by directly capturing business
objectives, automating programming, and automatiatk. It also allows organizations to avoid thediand expense required to create lengthy
policy manuals and system specifications by ungyisiness rules with business processes in tiwarefand automating the creation of
system documentation. Our software technologyasdsards-based and can leverage existing technoleggtments to reduce implementation
time. Our customers use our software and servicesprove their customer service, reach new mayleetd boost operational effectiveness.

Our SmartBPM Suite is complemented by softwaretgnia that we refer to as frameworks. These franmksvprovide purpose or
industry-specific functionality that allows our ¢osers to quickly implement our software.

We provide implementation, consulting, trainingddechnical support services to help our customersimize the business value they
obtain from the use of our software. We also maing#liances with systems integrators and technotmnsulting firms to support our
customers.

Our business strategy

We lead the Business Process Management (“BPMtjvaoé market by leveraging our patented technotbgy unifies business
processes and business rules. We focus our sé&bets &fn accounts within target customer organizestj which are typically large
organizations that are among the leaders in thdirgtry. We frequently sell initial licenses toghdarget accounts that are focused on a sp
purpose or area of operations, rather than sdbirge enterprise licenses. A primary objectivehid strategy is to have our customers quickly
realize business value from our software. Oncestoooer has realized this initial value, we workhathat customer to identify opportunities
follow-on sales. The sales process for follow-des&
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often shorter as a result of our established weiahip with the customer. We invest resources afiggsional services, customer support, and
customer and partner enablement to help our custoawhieve success.

Strategic partnerships with consultants and systetagrators are important to our sales effortsabige they influence buying decisions,
help us to identify engagements, and complemensaoiftware with their technology and domain expertiehese partners may deliver strategic
business planning, consulting, project managenagrt,mplementation services to our customers. @tlyreour partners include Accenture
Ltd., Capgemini SA, Computer Sciences Corporattomgnizant Technology Solutions Inc., and Intermaidusiness Machines Corporation.

Our products

We provide a comprehensive ruleased BPM suite intended to help our customers plaitd, and manage business process manage
solutions.

PegaRULES Process Commander

PegaRULES Process Commander provides capabilgsigned to model, execute, monitor, and analyadteef?egaRULES Process
Commander includes an application profiler thadval a business process application to be definseidban business goals and objectives,
simplified “fill in the blank” forms. The productso simplifies process modeling, allowing businessrs to graphically describe and test an
intended business process within the system itSkeH.software uses the results of the applicatiofilpr and the process modeling to create
new business solution, including the user intertate executable business models. PegaRULES PrGoessiander also provides a browser-
based graphical development environment, execetigine, and management dashboard for rapid busipgdisation and solution
development. This product helps solve a wide rarfd@M problems, including acquiring new busingeeyiding customer service, creating a
servicing backbone for enterpriggde processing, and managing risk, fraud and campé with regulatory requirements. PegaRULES Rg
Commander also allows our customers to leveragaqure technology investments by integrating sofenvapplications across a common
platform.

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite and Solution Frameworks

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite adds process analysigsg simulation, enterprise integration, poritgration, content management,
and case management to the PegaRULES Process Cdemcapabilities.

Pegasystems also offers purpose- or industry -psolution frameworks built on the capabilitielsonir PegaRULES Process
Commander software. These frameworks allow orgéioizaito quickly implement new customer-facing picas and processes, bring new
offerings to market, and provide customized or sdeed processing to meet the needs of differestamers, departments, geographies or
regulatory requirements. These include:

. Customer Process Manag

. Product Configuratiol

. Financial Services Industry Foundation Framew

. Fraud and AML Investigations Management Framev
. Healthcare Member and Provider Servi

. Healthcare Industry Framewo

. Customer Process Manager for Insura

. Insurance Industry Framewo

. Control and Compliance Framewc
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We also offer other frameworks that address exoaptimanagement — transactions that are not autcetigtprocessed by existing
systems. By automating not only research and aecisiaking, but also the business processes negdesaecute the decisions, our
exceptions management frameworks can reduce the @od risks associated with manual processindeviproving quality and efficiency.
These frameworks include PegaCARD Smart DisputegrBimvestigate for Payments, and Smart Investifpat&ecurities, Smart Adjust, and
Healthcare Claims Automation Suite.

Our services and support

We offer services and support through our professiservices group, customer support group, andratning services group. As of
December 31, 2008, our services and support groopsisted of 344 people. We also utilize third padntractors to assist us in providing
services.

Professional services

Our professional services group helps companiepartders implement our software. This enable® ggiide our customers through
deployment of our software. Many of our customérsase to engage our professional services groagpand their use of our software to
additional business or product lines or automathtiathal processes within existing solutions. Imiéidn, systems integrators and consulting
firms, with which we have alliances, help our caséos deploy our products.

Customer support

Our customer support group is responsible for sttpgfour software deployed at customer sites wtwesiomer support has been
purchased. Support services include automatedgmobcking, prioritization and escalation procesuperiodic preventive maintenance,
documentation updates, new software releases egudarly scheduled meetings with our staff.

Training services

The success of our sales strategy for multipl@¥elbn sales to target customers depends on our atailitain a larger number of partn
and customers to implement our technology. We dfééning for our staff, customers, and partnersifiing is offered at our regional training
facilities in Cambridge, Massachusetts, London,l&md, Hyderabad, India, Sydney, Australia, at tipadty facilities in numerous other
locations, or at customer sites. Courses are dedignmeet the specific requirements of procedsitaats, system architects, and system
administrators.

Our markets and representative customers

The market for BPM software is driven by busineshas seek to close the execution gap that may b&tsveen their business objectives
and their existing business processes. Our tatgbmers are large, industry-leading organizatfaned with managing transaction intensive,
complex and changing processes that seek theyaggléded for growth, productivity, and complian©er customers are typically large
companies in the financial services, healthcareiasulance markets. With PegaRULES Process Commandere also able to offer solutic
to a broader range of companies as well as a broadge of industries, such as life sciences aveémgonent.

Financial services

Financial services organizations require softwarenprove the quality, accuracy, and efficiencyco$tomer interactions and transactions
processing. Pegasystems’ customer process andtexcemanagement products allow customers to oresve to changing business
requirements. Representative financial services
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customers of ours include: Bank of America CorgorgtBarclays Bank PLC, Citigroup Inc., Credit S4sGroup, HSBC Holdings Plc,
JPMorgan Chase & Co., National Australia Bank Ledjtand TD Bank Financial Group.

Healthcare

Healthcare organizations seek products that integheir front and back office initiatives and heljve customer service, efficiency, and
productivity. Representative healthcare customemics include: Aetna Inc., Blue Cross Blue ShigldMassachusetts, Blue Cross Blue Shield
of Minnesota, Computer Sciences Corporation, Gideglth Cooperative, HealthNow New York Inc., Kaif@undation Hospitals, and
Wellpoint Inc.

Insurance

Insurance companies, whether competing globallyationally for customers and channels, need soéw@automate the key activities
policy rating, quoting, customization, underwritjrajd servicing as well as products that improv&auer service and the overall customer
experience. Representative insurance industry owes®of ours include: American National Insuranceup, American International Group,
Inc., John Hancock, Farmers Insurance Group, NaiienMutual Insurance Company, and The Prudentslilance Company of America.

Other industries

PegaRULES Process Commander offers solutions toallvange of companies and industries. We sasrbhsed BPM technology to
customers in telecommunications, government, tiferses, manufacturing, and travel services. Custsimclude: Amgen Inc., Advanced
Micro Devices, Inc. (“AMD”), General Electric Compg, Ford Motor Company, Novartis PharmaceuticalgpGd&tarwood Hotels & Resorts
Worldwide Inc., and The ServiceMaster Company.

Competition

The BPM software market is intensely competitiagidly changing, and highly fragmented, as curcempetitors expand their product
offerings and new companies enter the market. Ctitopevary in size and in the scope and breadth@froducts and services offered. We
encounter competition from:

. Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA) middleware vendorsiiahg International Business Machines Corp., Or&adeporation
Software AG, and Tibco Software In

. BPM vendors such as Appian Corporation, Global36€., Lombardi Software, Inc., Metastorm Inc., &alvion, Inc..
. Business Rules Engine vendors such as Corticonnbéafiies Inc., Fair Isaac Corporation, and the IL@@sion of IBM,;

. Customer Relationship Manageme* CRM”) application vendors including Chordiant Softwahe Microsoft Dynamics CRN)
division of Microsoft, and the Siebel division of&gle;

. Enterprise Content Management-based vendors sutie @ocumentum division of EMC Corporation, ankéRet, the division of
International Business Machines C¢s Information Management GroL

. Companies that provide application specific sofenfar the financial services, healthcare, insuraaother specific markets st
as Norkom Group Plc, SmartStream Technologies BuihGard, and The TriZetto Group, Ir

. Current custome’ information technology departments, which may deekodify existing systems or develop proprietargtams

6
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We are the leading company in the overall BPM safenmarket, and have a strong presence in thecimleservices, insurance and
healthcare markets. We have been most successfyeating for customers whose businesses are characdy a high degree of change,
complexity and size. We believe that the principahpetitive factors within our market include:

. Product adaptability, scalability, functionalityycgaperformance

. Proven success in delivering ¢-savings and efficiency improvemen

. East-of-use for developers, business units, anc-users;

. Timely development and introduction of new produastsl product enhancemer

. Establishment of a significant base of referencauers

. Ability to integrate with other products and teclogies;

. Customer service and suppc

. Product price

. Vendor reputation; an

. Relationships with systems integratc

We believe we compete favorably with our competiton the basis of most of these competitive facersur Build for Change
technology includes a comprehensive set of busingas that are unified with business processespealeveloped quickly by both client
business and IT staff, and incorporates a single-based user interface. We believe we also confpetgably due to our expertise in our
target industries and our long-standing customatiomships. We believe we compete less favorahlyhe basis of some of these factors with
respect to our larger competitors, many of whichehgreater sales, marketing and financial resoumese extensive geographical presence

and greater name recognition than we do. In additiee may be at a disadvantage with respect t@bility to provide expertise outside our
target industries.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tigfoa direct sales force. Strategic partnershipls eohsultants and systems integrators
are important to our sales efforts because thdyente buying decisions, help us to identify engaggts, and complement our software with
their technology and domain expertise.

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broadea@f marketing programs, including industry tratlews, industry seminars, meetil
with industry analysts, and other direct and inctiraarketing efforts. Our consulting staff, busgesrtners, and other third parties also
generate sales leads. As of December 31, 200&abes and marketing group consisted of 190 peoptwide.

Sales by geography

In 2008, 2007, and 2006, sales to customers bassitle of the United States of America (“U.S.”) regented 38%, 35%, and 37%,
respectively, of our total revenue. During 2008)20and 2006, we derived our revenue from the fohg geographic areas:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

uU.S. $ 131,25( 62% $ 104,95: 65% $ 79,90! 63%
United Kingdom 40,06 19% 34,27¢ 21% 19,741 16%
Europe, othe 27,34¢ 13% 8,75¢ 5% 11,60¢ 9%
Other 12,98¢ 6% 13,96« 9% 14,77 12%

$ 211,64 100% $ 161,94¢ 100% $ 126,02 100%

7
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No customer accounted for more than 10% of out teteenue in 2008, 2007 or 2006. The following éaflimmarizes our concentration
of credit risk associated with customers accounfiimgnore than 10% of our outstanding trade reddasand long and short-term license
installments as of December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Trade receivables $42,80: $45,92:
Customer A — 19%
Customer E — 14%
Customer C 12% —
Long and shori-term license installments $10,85¢ $27,45(
Customer C — 24%
Customer E 30% 15%
Customer C 16% —
Customer F 12% —
Customer C 11% —

We currently operate in one operating segment -estodsed BPM software. We derive substantially athuf operating revenue from 1
sale and support of one group of similar produnts services. Substantially all of our assets azated within the U.S.

Research and development

Our product development priority is to continue &xging the capabilities of our rules-based BPMnebttgy. We intend to maintain and
extend the support of our existing solution framekgpand we may choose to invest in additional &awrks which incorporate the latest
business innovations. We also intend to maintatheattend the support of popular hardware platfooperating systems, databases, and
connectivity options to facilitate easy and rapégpldyment in diverse information technology infrastures. Our goal with all of our products
is to enhance product capabilities, ease of impieat®n, long-term flexibility, and the ability farovide improved customer service.

We believe that the challenge of enhancing futemogsmance and maintaining technology leadershipdgpend on our ability to
anticipate changes, maintain and enhance our duyreducts, develop new products, and keep padethgt increasingly sophisticated
requirements of our current and prospective custenwge must develop products that conform to ostamers’ information technology
standards, scale to meet the needs of large eisespoperate globally, and cost less than a cabfmmternal development effort. Our
development organization is responsible for produchitecture, core technology development, protesting and quality assurance.

As of December 31, 2008, our development groupistetsof 162 people and has been supplementecdehysth of contracted resources.
During 2008, 2007, and 2006, research and developexpenses were approximately $31.5 million, $26illon, and $22.7 million,
respectively. We expect that we will continue tontoit significant resources to our product researuth development in the future to maintain
our leadership position.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 825 employeeshohw578 were based in the U.S., 32 were basedriad2a 155 were based in
Europe, 15 were based in Australia, and 45 weredsAsia. Our total headcount includes 190 satesmarketing employees, 344 consul
and customer support employees, 162 research amtbgenent employees, and 129 administrative emgleyim addition, we supplement our
research and development and services employelesaritractors.
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Backlog of license, maintenance, and professionarsices

As of December 31, 2008, we had software licensént®mnance, and professional services agreemetitcustomers expected to result
in approximately $172 million of future revenue,vafiich we expect approximately $110 million to leeagnized in 2009. As of December 31,
2007, we had backlog of software license, mainte@aand professional services agreements with mestoof approximately $134 million.
Under some of these agreements, we must fulfitag@conditions prior to recognizing revenue, amel¢ can be no assurance when, if evel
will be able to satisfy all such conditions in edcstance. Business conditions could change aedefitre, backlog may not be a reliable
indicator of future financial performance.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our wehsww.pegasystems.coour Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and aimemts to these reports, as soon as reasonabticplde after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish such material t@ Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”"). TBE $aintains a website that contains
reports, proxy, and information statements andrdtifermation regarding issuers that file electaatly with the SEC at www.sec.goWe
make available on our website reports filed by executive officers and Directors on Forms 3, 4, amdgarding their ownership of our
securities. Our Code of Conduct, and any amendnemtsr Code of Conduct, is also available on oebsite.

9
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors could cause oumatbusiness and financial results to differ matirifrom those contained in forward-
looking statements made in this Annual Report omTb0-K or elsewhere by management from time tetim

Factors relating to our revenues

The number of our license arrangements has beenr@asing, and we may not be able to sustain thisvgttoin license arrangements
unless we can provide sufficient high quality praf&onal services, training, and maintenance resoesdo enable our customers to realize
significant business value from our softwarOur customers typically request professional ses/@nd training to assist them in implementing
our products. Our customers also purchase maintenam our products in almost all cases. As a reanlincrease in the number of license
arrangements is likely to increase demand for pgifemal services, training, and maintenance regjatrour products. Given that the number of
our license arrangements has been increasing, Wweeegd to provide our customers with more prof@sal services, training, and maintenance
to enable our customers to realize significantiess value from our software. Accordingly, we hiagen hiring additional personnel in these
areas and improving our “on-boarding” process topaip new personnel in a shorter period of time.NAke also been increasingly enabling
our partners and our customers through trainingthedreation of “centers of excellence” to cremteexpanded universe of people that are
skilled in the implementation of our products. Howe if we are unable to provide sufficient highatity professional services, training, or
maintenance resources to our customers, our custamegy not realize sufficient business value framproducts to justify follow-on sales,
which could impact our future financial performankeaddition, the growth required to meet the @ased demand for our professional sen
could strain our ability to deliver our serviceggagements at desired levels of profitability, therempacting our overall profitability and
financial results.

We frequently enter into limited scope initial lioses with new customers, which could adversely etffeur financial performance if wi
are not successful in obtaining follow-on businesm these customerdVe frequently enter into initial licenses with cew customers that
are focused on a specific purpose or area of dpamtrather than selling large enterprise licenseallow these new customers to realize
business value from our software quickly and ftmated initial investment. We expect this trenddantinue in the near future. Once a
customer has realized this initial value, we woithvhe customer to identify opportunities for fadl-on sales. However, we may not be
successful in demonstrating this initial value ¢ang customers, for reasons relating to the perfoceaf our products, the quality of the
services and support we provide for our produatexternal reasons. For these customers, we maghtain follow-on sales or the follow-on
sales may be delayed, and our license revenudevlimited to the smaller initial sale. This coldever average transaction size and adversely
affect our financial performance.

Our professional services revenue is dependent sigmificant extent on closing new license transimts with customersWe derive a
substantial portion of our professional servicegneie from implementation of new software licensih our customers. Increasingly, we are
relying on business partners to provide the impleatéon services for our customers, thus redudiegamount of professional services reve
we derive relative to a given level of license mawe. Accordingly, it is imperative that we closermbicense transactions with our customers if
we are to maintain or grow our services revenue.

Factors relating to fluctuations in our financial results

The timing of our license revenue is difficult torgdict accurately, which may cause our quarterlyarpting results to vary
considerably Our quarterly revenue may fluctuate significanithypart because our revenue in any quarter idatable to a relatively small
number of transactions. Our decision to increagiegkter into term licenses that require the teoarlse revenue to be recognized over the
license term as payments become due or earliaidfip advance may adversely affect our profitpih any period due to sales commissions
being paid at the time of signing and the corredpanrevenue being recognized over time. The

10
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mix of perpetual license and term license signings quarter may cause a fluctuation in the tinohgecognized license revenue, because we
recognize revenue from term licenses over the typayments become due or earlier if prepaid. \&fe g¢lling and marketing expenses,
product development, and other expenses basedticipated future revenue. If revenue falls belowentations, financial performance is
likely to be adversely affected because only sp@aitions of expenses vary with revenue. As a repaliod-toperiod comparisons of operati
results are not necessarily meaningful and shootdbe relied upon to predict future performance.

Our financial results may be adversely affectednié are required to change certain estimates, judgitseand positions relative to our
income taxesln the ordinary course of conducting a global besienterprise, there are many transactions acdai#bns undertaken whose
ultimate tax outcome cannot be certain. Some afehmcertainties arise as a consequence of pasitierhave taken regarding valuation of
deferred tax assets, transfer pricing for traneastiwith our subsidiaries, and potential challerigasexus and tax credit estimates. We estil
our exposure to unfavorable outcomes related teethacertainties and estimate the probability ichsoutcomes. Although we believe our
estimates are reasonable, no assurance can betigatehe final tax outcome of these matters orcamrent estimates regarding these matters
will not be different from what is reflected in ohistorical income tax provisions, returns, andraats. Such differences, or changes in
estimates relating to potential differences, cddde a material impact, unfavorable or favorabhepor income tax provisions, require us to
change the recorded value of deferred tax asselsadversely affect our financial results.

We are investing heavily in sales and marketing gombfessional services in anticipation of a contiad increase in license
arrangements, and we may experience decreased tataifity or losses if we are unsuccessful in incs#ag the value of our license
arrangements in the futureWe have been increasing our investment in salesreileting to meet increasing demand by hiring taathl
sales and marketing personnel. We anticipate teavilV need to provide our customers with more pssfonal services, training, and
maintenance as a result of this increase in demaarttlhave been hiring additional personnel in tlaesas. These investments have resulted in
increased fixed costs that do not vary with thelef revenue. If the increased demand for our petgidoes not continue, we could experience
decreased profitability or losses as a result e§¢hincreased fixed costs.

Factors relating to our products and markets

The adverse changes in the global capital marketsl @conomy may negatively impact our sales to, #melcollection of receivables
from, our financial services and insurance custonseand possibly our customers in other industriThe recent financial crisis in the global
capital markets and the current negative globahecoc trends could impact the ability and willingseof our financial services and insurance
customers, and possibly our customers in othersitndis, to make investments in technology, whicly aeay or reduce the amount of
purchases of our software and professional servidesse factors could also impact the ability aflingness of these customers to pay their
trade obligations and honor their contractual commants under their non-cancellable term licensbss& customers may also become subject
to increasingly restrictive regulatory requirememthich could limit or delay their ability to proeeé with new technology purchases. Our
financial services and insurance customers aswgpgepresent a significant amount of our revenuesraceivables. Accordingly, their
potential financial instability could negatively jiact our operating results, financial condition aadh flows.

We will need to acquire or develop new productleg existing ones, and adapt to technology changechnical developments,
customer requirements, programming languages,rahgiry standards change frequently in our markets result, success in current mar
and new markets will depend upon our ability toamte current products, to acquire or develop amddnce new products that meet customer
needs, keep pace with technology changes, respacehipetitive products, and achieve market acceptaéProduct development requires
substantial investments for research, refinementt tasting. There can be no assurance that wéna sufficient resources to make necessary
product development investments. We may experidifieulties that will delay or prevent the succdglevelopment, introduction, or
implementation of new or enhanced products. Ingtiti introduce or implement new or enhanced priglirca timely manner would advers:
affect future financial performance.
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The market for our offerings is increasingly and iensely competitive, rapidly changing, and highkafmented.The market for BPM
software and related implementation, consulting, taaining services is intensely competitive, réphanging and highly fragmented. We
currently encounter significant competition fronteimal information systems departments of potetigxisting customers that develop
custom software. We also compete with companigganget the customer interaction and workflow nessk companies focused on business
rules engines or enterprise application integratipare play” BPM companies, and professional senarganizations that develop custom
software in conjunction with rendering consultirg\dces. Competition for market share and presureduce prices and make sales
concessions are likely to increase. Many compstitave far greater resources and may be ablegorrdsnore quickly and efficiently to new
or emerging technologies, programming languagesamdards or to changes in customer requirememeterences. Competitors may also be
able to devote greater managerial and financiaurees to develop, promote, and distribute prodactsprovide related consulting and trair
services. Larger companies such as IBM, Oracle S&f have acquired companies that provide BPM sofipwand we expect competition
from larger companies to increase. There can tesaorance that we will be able to compete sucdbssafyainst current or future competitors
or that the competitive pressures faced by usnetlimaterially adversely affect our business, diggaesults, and financial condition.

We have historically sold to the financial servigéssurance and healthcare markets, and rapid chasgor consolidation in these
markets could affect the level of demand for ourgolucts.We have historically derived a significant porti@ihour revenue from customers in
the financial services, insurance, and healthcankets, and sales to these markets are importantufduture growth. Competitive pressures,
industry consolidation, decreasing operating magiagulatory changes, and privacy concerns afffiectinancial condition of our customers
and their willingness to buy. In addition, custosigrurchasing patterns in these industries forddaeghnology projects are somewhat
discretionary. The financial services and insuranagkets are undergoing intense domestic and itieral consolidation and financial
turmoil, and consolidation has been increasindnéttealthcare market. Consolidation may interraptmal buying behaviors and increase the
volatility of our operating results. In recent ygaseveral of our customers have been merged golidated, and we expect this to continue in
the near future. Future mergers or consolidatioag cause a decline in revenues and adversely affedtiture financial performance. All of
these factors affect the level of demand for oodpcts from customers in these industries, anddcadversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

We rely on certain third-party relationship&Ve have a number of relationships with third partleat are significant to sales, marketing
and support activities, and product developmermtresf We rely on software and hardware vendorgelalystem integrators, and technology
consulting firms to provide marketing and salesarpmities for the direct sales force and to sttkeg our products through the use of
industry-standard tools and utilities. We also halationships with third parties that distributer @roducts. There can be no assurance that
these companies, most of which have significantBater financial and marketing resources, will d@telop or market products that compete
with ours in the future or will not otherwise endlimit their relationships with us.

We face risks from operations and customers basetsioe of the U.SSales to customers headquartered outside of therépBsented
approximately 38% of our total revenue in 2008, 36%007 and 37% in 2006. We, in part through obplly-owned subsidiaries based in the
United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, Switzet|a&Canada, and Australia, market products anderecwhsulting and training services to
customers based in Canada, the United Kingdom cEraBermany, Spain, the Netherlands, Belgium, Sndand, Austria, Ireland, Sweden,
Mexico, Australia, Hong Kong, and Singapore. Weehastablished offices in Canada, Europe, Asia fargdralia. We believe that growth will
necessitate expanded international operationsiriega diversion of managerial attention and iased costs. We anticipate hiring additional
personnel to accommodate international growth,vemdnay also enter into agreements with local distdrs, representatives, or resellers. |
are unable to do one or more of these things imely manner, our growth, if any, in our foreignesations may be restricted, and our busir
operating results, and financial condition couldhiegerially and adversely affected.
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In addition, there can be no assurance that webwilible to maintain or increase international mdlemand for our products. Several of
our international sales are denominated in U.SadlAccordingly, any appreciation of the valueled U.S. dollar relative to the currencies of
those countries in which we sell our products miaggus at a competitive disadvantage by effegtiedking our products more expensive as
compared to those of our competitors. Additionsksiinherent in our international business acésitjenerally include unexpected changes in
regulatory requirements, increased tariffs andrdtiagle barriers, the costs of localizing proddictdocal markets and complying with local
business customs, longer accounts receivable pattrd difficulties in collecting foreign accoungéseivable, difficulties in enforcing
contractual and intellectual property rights, héggied risks of political and economic instabiliye possibility of nationalization or
expropriation of industries or properties, diffites in managing international operations, potdigtedverse tax consequences (including
restrictions on repatriating earnings and the thmé&double taxation”), increased accounting amiginal control expenses, and the burden of
complying with a wide variety of foreign laws. Tleezan be no assurance that one or more of themedadll not have a material adverse
effect on our foreign operations, and, consequintiaur business, operating results, and finanooadition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchangées that could negatively impact our financiaésults and cash flowBecause a
significant portion of our business is conductetsime the U.S., we face exposure to adverse movsnreforeign currency exchange rates.
These exposures may change over time as busiras&cps evolve, and they could have a materialradvienpact on our financial results and
cash flows. Our international sales have incredgingcome denominated in foreign currencies. Therating expenses of our foreign
operations are primarily denominated in foreigrrencies, which partially offset our foreign currgrexposure. A decrease in the value of
foreign currencies, particularly the British pousnatd the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar, couldeadely impact our financial results and cash
flows.

Factors relating to our internal operations and poential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must be ablattract and retain qualified personnel in thature. The business is dependent
on a number of key, highly skilled technical, magxda, consulting, sales, and marketing persorineluding our Chief Executive Officer. The
loss of key personnel could adversely affect fimarmerformance. We do not have any significant-kegn life insurance on any officers or
employees and do not plan to obtain any. Our ssagédkdepend in large part on the ability to héned retain qualified personnel. The number
of potential employees who have the extensive kadge of computer hardware and operating systentedde develop, sell, and maintain
our products is limited, and competition for thegrvices is intense, and there can be no assuttzatcee will be able to attract and retain such
personnel. If we are unable to do so, our busirgssating results, and financial condition coutdnbaterially adversely affected.

We may experience significant errors or securitgiils in our product and services, and could facevaiy, product liability and
warranty claims as a resulDespite testing prior to their release, softwakepcts frequently contain errors or security flaaspecially when
first introduced or when new versions are releaeahrs in our software products could affect th#ity of our products to work with other
hardware or software products, or could delay #netbpment or release of new products or new vessid products. The detection and
correction of any security flaws can be time conisignand costly. Errors or security flaws in ourta@fre could result in the inadvertent
disclosure of confidential information or persodata relating to our customers, employees, or thérties. Software product errors and
security flaws in our products or services couldase us to privacy, product liability and warraolgims as well as harm our reputation, which
could impact our future sales of products and ses:iOur license agreements typically contain giowus intended to limit the nature and
extent of our risk of product liability and warrgrdlaims. There is a risk that a court might intetghese terms in a limited way or could hold
part or all of these terms to be unenforceableo Alsere is a risk that these contract terms mighbind a party other than the direct customer.
Furthermore, some of our licenses with our custsraez governed by non-U.S. law, and there is athiskforeign law might give us less or
different protection. Although we have not expecieth any material product liability claims to desegroduct liability suit or action claiming a
breach of warranty, whether or not meritorious,ldaesult in substantial costs and a diversion ahagement’s attention and our resources.
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We face risks related to intellectual property af@s or appropriation of our intellectual property ghts.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark and trade dsdeavs, as well as confidentiality agreementsrtiget our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents from the U.S. Patent and Trade@#Hite relating to the architecture of our systelive cannot assure that such patents will
not be invalidated or circumvented or that rightasnged thereunder or the claims contained therédirpmvide us with competitive advantages.
Moreover, despite our efforts to protect our prefaniy rights, unauthorized parties may attempbfwy@spects of our products or to obtain the
use of information that we regard as proprietamyaddition, the laws of some foreign countries doprotect our proprietary rights to as great
an extent as do the laws of the U.S. There carolessurance that our means of protecting our ptayi rights will be adequate or that our
competitors will not independently develop similachnology.

We are not aware that any of our products infritigeproprietary rights of third parties. There &&mno assurance, however, that third
parties will not claim infringement by us with resp to current or future products. Although we m@ftéto limit the amount and type of our
contractual liability for infringement of the praetary rights of third parties, these limitatiorftem contain certain exclusions, and we cannc
assured that these limitations will be applicalrid anforceable in all cases. Even if these linatadiare found to be applicable and enforceable
our liability to our customers for these types lafirms could be material in amount given the sizeastain of our transactions. We expect that
software product developers will increasingly bbjeat to infringement claims as the number of paigl@and competitors in our industry
segment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps. Any suchnataiwith or without merit, could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation, cause pretdgshipment delays, or require us to enter int@algyor licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may not be abel on terms acceptable to us or at all, whichcchave a material adverse effect upon our
business, operating results, and financial conditio

The acquisition of other businesses and technolagieay present new risk8Ve have undertaken an acquisition during the peet gnd
may continue to evaluate and consider other p@iesitiategic transactions, including acquisitiohbusinesses, technologiegrvices, produc
and other assets in the future. These acquisitibnadertaken, may involve significant new riskslauncertainties, including distraction of
management attention away from our current busiopsgations, insufficient new revenue to offsetenges, inadequate return on capital,
integration challenges, new regulatory requiremeantd issues not discovered in our due diligenoegss. No assurance can be given that
acquisitions will be successful and will not adedysaffect our profitability or operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have received no written comments from the stfaiie SEC regarding our periodic or current réptrat were issued 180 days or
more preceding the end of our 2008 fiscal year aiain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing, s, and research and development operation®eateld at 101 Main Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts in an approximately 10560are foot leased facility. The lease for thility expires in 2013, subject to our
option to extend for two additional five-year pel$o We also lease space for our other officeseénll8., Australia, Canada, India, the United
Kingdom and in other European countries. Theseekasgpire at various dates through 2013. We betteateadditional or alternative space \
be available as needed in the future on commeydiatisonable terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the fourth quarter of 2008, there were ndtera submitted to a vote of our security holders.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISS UER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Globak&eMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “PEGA”. Thellowing table sets
forth the range of high and low sales prices of@mmon stock on NASDAQ for each quarter in theryemded December 31, 2008 and 2

Common Stock Price

2008 2007

High Low High Low
First Quarte! $12.0¢ $ 8.7¢ $10.0¢4 $ 8.07
Second Quarte $13.81 $ 9.6 $11.17 $ 8.8t
Third Quartel $15.1(C $11.87 $12.6i $10.1(
Fourth Quarte $13.42 $ 9.5¢ $13.1( $10.7(

Holders

As of February 23, 2009, we had approximately 8ldiolders of record and approximately 28,400 Heiafowners of our common
stock.

Dividends

In July 2006, we began paying a quarterly cashddivil of $0.03 per share of common stock. Prioulp 2006, we had never declared or
paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Quatash dividends are expected to continue at35pdd share, subject to change or
elimination at any time by our Board of Directais stockholders of record as of the first tradiag of each quarter.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2008 regarding our Amended and Resi&@4di L ong-Term Incentive Plan
(the “1994 Plan”), the 1996 Non-Employee Directtwc® Option Plan (the “1996 Director Plan”), theéd20_ong-Term Incentive Plan (the
“2004 Plan”) and the 2006 Employee Stock Purchémse he “2006 ESPP”). Our stockholders previowgproved each of these plans and all
amendments that were subject to stockholder apprdi@have no equity compensation plans that hatéeen approved by stockholders.
Note 14“Stock-Based Compensation” included in the notehéoaccompanying consolidated financial statemfnt&irther information and
description of our equity compensation plans.

() (b) ©
NUMBER OF SHARES OF

WEIGHTED-
COMMON STOCK TO BE AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OF
EXERCISE COMMON STOCK
ISSUED UPON EXERCISE PRICE OF REMAINING AVAILABLE
OUTSTANDING
OF OUTSTANDING FOR FUTURE ISSUANCE
STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK (EXCLUDING THOSE IN
(In thousands, except per share amount VESTING OF RSUS (1) OPTIONS (2) COLUMN (a)) (3)
Equity Compensation Plans
approved by Stockholde 6,65¢ $ 9.0¢ 2,415

(1) The number of shares of common stock issued sptilement of the vested stock options will ks lan 6.7 million because of the “net
settlement” feature of most of these options. Tédgure enables the employee to satisfy the caesteccise the options and, if applicable,
taxes due on exercise by surrendering option startae Company based on the fair value of theeshat the exercise date, instead of
selling all
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()
3)

of the option shares on the open market to sdtisge obligations. The settlement of vested stptios on a net share basis will res

in fewer shares issued by the Company. During 20p8on holders net settled stock options représgthe right to purchase a total of
425,000 shares, of which only 152,000 were issaghd option holders and the balance of the shaees surrendered to the Company to
pay for the exercise price and the applicable te

In addition to the issuance of stock options, th@41Plan allowed for the issuance of stock apptieciaights, restricted stock and long-

term performance awards. The Company does notdriteissue any additional options or make any odlweards under the 1994 Plan or
the 1996 Director Plan in the future. In additiorthie issuance of stock options, the 2004 Planvalfor the issuance of stock purchase

rights and other stock-based awards, includingiotstl stock units (“RSUs”).

The weighte-average exercise price does not take into accberghares issuable upon vesting of outstanding RBklsh have n«
exercise price
Includes approximately 458,000 shares remainingabla for issuance as of December 31, 2008 uriteR006 ESPF

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth information regamliour repurchases of our common stock during thetticquarter of 2008.

Total Number Approximate Dollar
of Shares Value of Shares That
Purchased as Pai May Yet Be Purchase:
of Publicly Under Publicly
Total Number Average Price Announced Share Announced Share
Repurchased
of Shares Paid per Repurchase Programs (1) (2)
Period Purchased Share Program (1) (2) (in thousands)
10/1/0¢-10/31/08 200,62 $ 11.3(C 200,627 $ 1,95¢
11/1/0¢-11/30/08 171,72¢ 11.2¢ 171,72¢ 25
12/1/0¢-12/31/08 182,62: 11.8¢ 182,62: 12,86:
Total 554,97 $ 11.4¢
(1) On February 14, 2008, we publicly announced thaBmard of Directors authorized a $15.0 million heepurchase program effect

(2)

March 10, 2008 and expiring on December 31, 2008&Hases made under this share repurchase progeeemwade on the open mark
On December 1, 2008, we publicly announced thaBmard of Directors approved a $15.0 million shagurchase program effecti
December 1, 2008 and expiring on December 31, 20@3‘Fourth Program”). The Fourth Program replaaaedxisting program that
expired on December 31, 2008. Under the Fourthramgpurchases will be made from time to time @adhen market or in privately
negotiated transactions. Shares may be repurclirasedh amounts as market conditions warrant, subjeregulatory and other
considerations. The Company has established armaeged stock repurchase plan, intended to comjitytive requirements of Rule
10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1984 naended, and of Rule 10b-18 of the ExchangethAet‘00b5-1 Plan”). All share
repurchases under the Fourth Program during clivpadihg window periods will be made pursuant to18e5-1 Plan.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Stockblder Return

The following performance graph represents a corsparf the cumulative total stockholder returrs(aming the reinvestment of
dividends) for a $100 investment on December 303460 each of our common stock, the Total Retudeinfor the NASDAQ Composite
(“NASDAQ Composite”), a broad market index, and 8tandard & Poors (“S&P”) Goldman Sachs Technol8gftware Index (“S&P GSTI
™ Software Index”), a published industry index. Y&d dividends of $0.12 per share during each 682hd 2007 and $0.06 per share during
2006. The graph lines merely connect measuremées dad do not reflect fluctuations between thagesd

S250)
—l— Pegasystems [ne.
—8— Musdag Composite
s200 1 e 53-.“:’ G3TI Software
Index
51504
$100)
5301
50 : ' ' '
12031003 I 2031004 1213105 12/21/0 | 2731407 1273108
12731703 12731704 12/31705 12731106 1231407 12/31708
Pegasystems Inc. $100 $98.73 $84.61 $114.24 $138.08 $143.06
Nasdag Composite R0 H108.59 S110.08 12056 $132.39 §78.72
T SRR $100 | 11356 | SI0813 | $11086 | $13715 | ss0e
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data presented below has teex@ved from our consolidated financial stateraemhis data may not be indicative
of our future condition or results of operationsl ahould be read in conjunction with “Managemebli'scussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations”, the constéiddinancial statements and accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Total revenue
Income (loss) from operatiol
Income before provision for income tay
Net income
Earnings per shar
Basic
Diluted
Cash dividends declared per common sh
Weightec-average number of common shares outstan:
Basic
Diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable s
Working capital

Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme
Total asset

Capital lease obligation, including current port
Stockholder equity

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands, except per share data)
$211,64° $161,94¢ $126,02: $100,20¢ $103,29:
14,47¢ 1,951 (7,119 1,21¢ 5,771
15,67 9,94: 1,18i 5,31¢ 11,15¢
10,971 6,59¢ 1,84: 5,197 8,211
$ 03C $ 01 $ 00t $ 015 $ 0.2
$ 02¢ $ 01 $ 008 $ 014 $ 0.2z
$ 01z $ 01z $ o0.0¢ $ — 3 —
36,14¢ 35,87t 35,22¢ 35,77« 35,69
37,60¢ 37,43 37,13¢ 36,46: 37,04:
Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)

$167,22¢ $149,98. $127,75¢ $114,73! $ 97,36(
159,08( 159,54° 147,22¢ 133,44( 121,27:
5,41: 8,267 17,45¢ 31,37: 44,34
245,85( 243,30° 214,00¢ 209,65 195,87¢
— — 63 16€ 262
173,11« 172,94 166,15¢ 167,68: 166,60°
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT ’'SDISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Our products and services

We develop and license rules-based BPM softwargpamdde professional services, maintenance, aiditg related to our software.
We focus our sales efforts on target accounts, lwaie companies or divisions within companies, amdtypically large organizations that are
among the leaders in their industry. Our strategy isell initial licenses to these target accothms are focused on a specific purpose or ar
operations, rather than selling large enterprisenes. This strategy allows our customers to uielalize business value from our software
and limits their initial investment. Once a custoras realized this initial value, we work with ttiestomer to identify opportunities for follow-
on sales.

Our license revenue is primarily derived from salesur PegaRULES Process Commander (“PRPC”) softwad related solution
frameworks. PRPC is a comprehensive platform fdding and managing BPM applications that unifiesiness rules and business processes
Our solution frameworks are built on the capaleititof PRPC and are purpose- or industry -spedaflections of best practice functionality to
allow organizations to quickly implement new cusesrfacing practices and processes, bring new afferto market, and provide customized
or specialized processing. These products oftemnetpss implementation assistance than prior ggioas of our software products. In many
cases this has resulted in a shorter sales pracéssnplementation period. PRPC and related saldtameworks can be used by a broad rz
of customers within financial services, insuranecd healthcare markets, as well as other marketb, @si life sciences and government.

Our customers typically request professional ses/&nd training to assist them in implementingproducts. Almost all of our
customers also purchase maintenance on our produtth includes rights to upgrades and new rekedreident resolution and technical
assistance. Professional services are providedtljfitey us and through our network of partners.uilizing these partners, we have increased
the supply of skilled service consultants that @ssist our customers.

Business overview

Despite the current economic crisis, we achievashle revenue growth of 50% in 2008 compared t@,2006luding a 94% increase in
term license revenue. We generated approximatedyddillion in cash flows from operations in 200&ich represents a 51% increase
compared to 2007. We generated the majority ofioense revenue in 2008 from follow-on sales tsgng customers. We believe these
results reflect our ability to quickly and succedigfdeliver our versatile Build for Change techogy to Fortuné 500 customers across
industries and international borders, allowing éhegstomers to reduce operating costs and increasaues within a rapid time-frame from
implementation. These operational efficiencies eepeed by our customers are part of the strongevptoposition our technology provides to
our customers.

We believe our growth and success in 2008 wergatue
. Increased market acceptance of our industry leawicignology.

. Expansion of our solutions frameworks offeringg;tsas the Fraud and AML Investigations ManagemeatEwork, the Financial
Services Industry Foundation Framework and the tHeatte Industry Framewor

. Investment in our professional services employeesifrastructure
. Development and growth of our proficiency across malustries; an
. Expansion of our research and development effortsdia and in the U.<
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We believe that the ongoing challenges for ourrmss include continuing to drive revenue growttpdedhe current economic crisis,
continuing to expand our expertise in new and gxjsndustries, and maintaining our leadership fiamsiin the BPM market.

To support our growth and successfully addressethkallenges through 2009 we plan to:

. Continue to develop and increase our solutions éraonks offerings and expertise across targetedsinies;
. Expand our professional services and partner orgsons;

. Continue to invest in our research and developrefatts in India and the U.S.; al

. Continue to hire sales and marketing professiol

The recent liquidity crisis in the global capitadrkets and the current economic crisis have haatlgarse impact on market participants
including, among other things, volatility in sedunprices, diminished liquidity, and limited accessunding. These conditions could impact
the ability and willingness of our financial sergcand insurance customers, and possibly our cessamother industries, to make investm
in technology and pay their trade obligations. @nancial services and insurance customers asupgepresent a significant amount of our
revenues, including those associated with our raorcellable term licenses as detailed on page 3Ppanreceivables. We considered these
facts and determined they did not have a materiphct on our allowances for doubtful accounts atesscredit memos as of December 31,
2008.

As of December 31, 2008, our cash, cash equivalantsmarketable securities totaled $167.2 millaf17.2 million increase compared
to 2007. We believe that our current cash, casivatgnts, marketable securities, and cash flow foparations will be sufficient to fund our
operations and our share repurchase program feasitthe next 12 months. We also evaluate aciuisind other strategic opportunities from
time to time, which if pursued, could require us@wr funds. Material risks to cash flow from optgwas include delayed or reduced cash
payments accompanying sales of new licenses ocladén our services business.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our revenue is derived from software licenses, teaince fees related to our software licensespasfdssional services. Revenue from
software licenses includes perpetual and term $sieeavenue and subscription revenue. As of Jarily&908, we expanded the presentation of
the services revenue and the associated costwéegtines in the consolidated statements of iretorseparately disclose the amounts related
to maintenance and professional services. Maintmnegvenue is a significant portion of our totaleneue and is directly attributable to the
installed base of our software licenses. Professiservices revenue includes revenue from congudtamvices and training. We believe
separate disclosure of the maintenance revenutharaksociated direct costs is meaningful to imresind provides an important measure of
our business performance. Previously reported atsdwave been expanded to conform to the curremtpreaentation and have no impact on
previously reported total revenue, total cost @Ereie or net income.

2008 Compared to 2007

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 Increase
Total revenue $211,64 $161,94¢ $49,69¢ 31%
Gross profil 129,89( 96,747 33,14! 34%
Total operating expens: 115,41: 94,79¢ 20,61t 22%
Income before provision for income ta» 15,67: 9,94: 5,73C 58%
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The increase in our total revenue during 2008 coetpto 2007 was attributable to an increase irdémaand for our software products
and related services due to growth in the BPM seutd our position as leader in this market spdééebelieve the demand for our software
solutions in the current economic crisis is prirtyadiue to the strong value proposition and flexiidensing terms we offer our customers. The
increase in gross profit for 2008 compared to 208 due to the increase in both license and maintanrevenue despite a decrease in the
professional services gross profit.

The increase in income before provision for incdees during 2008 compared to 2007 was primariy tduour license and maintenal
revenue growth. These increases in revenue offedtigher expenses associated with our continuegbiment in expanding our sales and
marketing personnel, professional services infoastire, and research and development. During 2088t0 credit market turmoil and adverse
changes in the economy, we changed the mix ofrugsiment portfolio to increase our holdings ofmfinded municipal bonds, which
resulted in $1.7 million of lower interest incon@ur income before provision for income taxes was alegatively impacted by $4.5 million of
foreign currency transaction losses included irebthcome (expense), net.

Historically, our revenues have fluctuated quateguarter and have been higher in the seconcohéiie year. Furthermore, the revenue
growth rate achieved in any historical period is mecessarily indicative of the results expectedidture periods.

Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 Increase

License revenut

Perpetual license $46,667 61% $37,91¢ 74% $ 8,75 23%
Term license: 25,61 33% 13,17C( 26% 12,441 94%
Subscriptior 4,29¢ 6% - — 4,29¢ n/m
Total license revenu $76,57: 10C% $51,08¢ 10(% $25,48¢t 50%

n/m = not meaningful

The mix between perpetual and term license arrargésriluctuates based on customer circumstancegiéiverated the majority of our
license revenue in 2008 from follow-on sales testng customers.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangésraver the term of the agreement as paymentsrieedoe or earlier if prepaid. The
term license revenue growth was driven by a 26%ems®e in the average value of term licenses addaiBcrease in the number of term
licenses for which we recognized revenue in 2008pg=ared to 2007. The increase in term license rex@n@008 compared to 2007 was due to
the increase in the aggregate value of paymentsdiercancellable term licenses signed during 22087, and 2006 for which a portion of
these agreements was recognized as revenue ire2d0®e remainder will be recognized as revendieture periods. The aggregate value of
payments due under these term licenses increask88t6 million as of December 31, 2008 comparefi7tb.4 million as of December 31, 20
and compared to $14.2 million as of December 3062The aggregate value of future payments dueruraecancellable term licenses as of
December 31, 2008 includes $31.0 million of tercetise payments that we expect to recognize asuever2009. However, our actual term
license revenue in 2009 could be higher than $8illibn as we complete new term license agreemien2909. See the table of future cash
receipts by year from these term licenses on page 3

The increase in perpetual license revenue in 2088mimarily driven by an increase in the averagjaey of perpetual licenses.
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Subscription revenue primarily relates to our agements that include a right to unspecified fupnaucts and is recognized ratably ¢
the economic life or term of the arrangement.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Increase

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 40,11¢ $ 31,19¢ $38,91¢ 29%

The increase in maintenance revenue in 2008 compar2007 was due to the continued increase imstalled base of our software and
a larger number of new license arrangements is¢lcend half of 2007 for which a full year of maimeace revenue was recognized in 2008 as
compared to a partial year in 2007. The increasedimtenance revenue was also due to inflationsajents recognized on a larger installed
base of software licenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 Increase
Professional services revent
Consulting service $89,84: 95% $75,41( 95% $14,43: 1%
Training 511¢ 5% 4,25¢ 5% 85¢ 2%
Total Professional servict $94,96( 10C% $79,66¢ 10C% $15,29. 19%

Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Wé¢icoa to experience strong demand
for these services as our new license arrangerimarease. Our U.S. customers accounted for 57%eoptofessional services revenue in 2008
as compared to 66% in 2007. Our European custoateminted for 36% of the professional servicesmagen 2008 as compared to 24% in
2007. The revenue growth from our European custsiine2008 was due to our investment in expandingrdtastructure and sales and
marketing in Europe. The increase in professioealises revenue was partially offset by a decredspproximately $1.9 million as a result
a 27% decline in the British Pound and an 11% dech the European Euro relative to the U.S. dallaing the last half of 2008. As a resul
the demand for these services, we have increaspbbgee headcount in the professional services @gtan by 23% to 287 employees as of
December 31, 2008 from 233 employees as of DeceB1her007. In addition to our own employees, weag#ractors to provide these
services.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31
Increase

2008 2007 (Decrease)
Gross Profit
Software licens: $ 76,47 $ 51,08¢ $25,39: 50%
Maintenance 34,72¢ 26,40¢ 8,32( 32%
Professional service 18,68¢ 19,25¢ (570 3%
Total gross profi $ 129,89( $ 96,74 $33,14! 34%
Maintenance gross marg 87% 85%
Professional services gross mar 20% 24%

The increase in software license gross profit is thuthe increase in our license revenue, whichntwesignificant incremental associated
direct costs.

In the third and fourth quarters of 2008, we exgreeed a decline in demand for our professionaliees\n the U.S. due to the current
economic crisis. However, we continued to hire gssfonal services employees and improve our capadinticipation of increased demand
in the first half of 2009 associated with the iraged
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new license arrangements in the second half of ZDB8 increased professional services expensesigethtvith the lower demand resulted in
lower utilization and lower gross profit. We belgeour investment in professional services will gategrowth in license arrangements. We
expect to continue our investment in the professisarvices organization in 2009.

Operating expenses

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Increase
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketin $ 63,79¢ $ 51,74: $12,05¢ 23%
As a percent of total reven 30% 32%
Selling and marketing headcot 19C 158 37 24%

Selling and marketing expenses include compensairemefit, and other headcount-related expensesiassd with our selling and
marketing personnel as well as advertising, proomstitrade shows, seminars, and other programsinthease in selling and marketing
expenses was primarily due to a $5.7 million insee@ compensation and benefit expenses assogidtedigher headcount, as well as $2.4
million higher sales commissions in 2008 compace®07, mainly due to an increase in our new lieearsangements in 2008 compared to
2007. Selling and marketing expenses also incredisedo a $1.6 million increase in travel expersssociated with higher headcount and
higher costs of travel, $0.8 million of higher neiting and marketing agency fees associated withdiadditional employees.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Increase
Research and developme
Research and developm: $ 31,47: $ 26,19¢ $5,27¢ 20%
As a percent of total reveni 15% 16%
Research and development headct 162 11¢ 43 36%

Research and development expenses include comjgendmnefits, contracted services, and other hmaderelated expenses associated
with research and development. The increase irarels@nd development expenses during 2008 was filyrdae to a $4.0 million increase in
compensation and benefit expenses associated ighierhheadcount and $0.6 million of higher offshooatractor expenses. The increase in
contractor expenses related to ongoing developarahtesting, support for the latest release of BRI an increase in contractor rates in
2008 compared to 2007. In 2008, we establishedeareh and development center in India, for whielr@ceived favorable Special Economic
Zone (“SEZ") tax status approval from the Indiavgmment. The center became operational in Oct2b@8. Subsequent to this date, all
expenses associated with the facility are classderesearch and development expenses. Priocooniey operational, the associated start-up
expenses were classified as general and administetpenses. In connection with building our ofiers in India, we incurred $0.2 million
higher travel costs, $0.2 million of higher recinit agency fees associated with hiring additiomapkyees and $0.1 million of higher
equipment expenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Increase
General and administrativi
General and administrati\ $ 20,14( $ 16,85¢ $3,28¢ 19%
As a percent of total reveni 10% 10%
General and administrative headco 12¢ 10¢ 20 18%

General and administrative expenses include conagiens benefit, and other headcount-related exmeassociated with the finance,
legal, corporate governance, and other adminiggdteadcount, as well as accounting, legal, aner @tiministrative fees. It also includes
certain start-up expenses associated with our new
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research and development center in India. The aserén general and administrative costs during 2@@8primarily due to $3.0 million of
higher compensation and benefit costs relateda®ased headcount and $2.2 million of start-up es@e for establishing our research and
development center in India. In addition, we inedr0.5 million of higher legal fees in 2008 priihaassociated with the expansion of our
European operations and patent work and $0.6 mitfchigher tax planning and other tax-related esgs. We also incurred approximately
$0.6 million of higher rent expense associated withadditional leased space in Cambridge, Massattsy India, and Europe. These increases
were partially offset by $1.0 million of lower pedsional fees.

Stock-based compensation

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar8 (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting igfards (“SFAS”) No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)"), we recogmimek-based compensation expense associated quitty @wards in our consolidated
statements of income based on the fair value cfetlasvards at the date of grant. The following tabl@marizes stock-based compensation
expense included in our consolidated statemeritecome in 2008 and 2007:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands 2008 2007 Increase
Stoclk-based compensation exper
Cost of service $ 99t $  49C $ 50t 102%
Selling and marketin 807 43€ 371 85%
Research and developm 53¢ 13C 40¢ 315%
General and administrati\ 1,191 562 62¢ 112%
Total stocl-based compensation before 3,53: 1,61¢ $1,91¢4 11&%
Income tax benefi (1,090 (430)
Net stocl-based compensation expe! $ 2,44 $ 1,18¢

The increase in stock-based compensation experZ3B compared to 2007 was due to stock-based awsadted in December 2007
and March 2008. As of December 31, 2008, we hadoappately $2.1 million of unrecognized stock-basednpensation expense related to
the unvested portion of all our stock options thaxpected to be recognized over a weighted-aeguagod of approximately 2.0 years. As of
December 31, 2008, we had approximately $1.9 milibunrecognized stodiased compensation expense related to the unvesteoh of all
our RSUs that is expected to be recognized ovezighted-average period of 2.1 years. See Note igtkSBased Compensation” in the notes
to the accompanying consolidated financial stateésfm further information on our stock-based avgard

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 (Decrease)
Interest income, Other income and Income tax
Installment receivable interest incol $ 597 $ 1,24/ $ (647) (52)%
Other interest income, n 5,02¢ 6,71¢ (1,689 (25)%
Other income (expense), r (4,437%) 29 (4,467) n/m
Interest income and oth $ 1,19 $ 7,991 $(6,799) (85)%

n/m = not meaningful

The decrease in interest income in 2008 compar20@@ was primarily due to our investment in lowiglding tax-exempt municipal
bonds and the decrease in interest income froralimstnt receivables. We expect a continued redundtionterest income associated with the
installment receivables as a result of the dedijialance of term licenses on which revenue has tE®gnized in advance of payments.
During 2008, due to credit market turmoil and adesthanges in the economy, we changed the mixraheestment
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portfolio to increase our holdings of pre-refunaednicipal bonds. These bonds are collateralizethbyssuer purchasing U.S. Treasury
securities to fund all the cash flows of the refeehdnunicipal bonds that will mature when the issueond matures.

Other income (expense), net, consists primarifforfign currency exchange gains and losses anidedajains and losses on the sale of
our investments. The decrease in other income (esq)enet, resulted primarily from the significdetrease in the value of foreign currency
denominated net assets held in the U.S., consigtingarily of cash, license installments, receiesbland accounts payable. As a result of the
significant decrease in the value of the Britishupad and Euro relative to the U.S. dollar during08e recorded a $4.5 million foreign
currency exchange transaction loss as compare®&@d3amillion foreign exchange transaction gai@97. See Item 7A. “Quantitative And
Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk” for fugthdiscussion of our foreign currency exchange risk

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes represents curradtfature amounts owed for federal, state, anddartaxes. During 2008 and 2007,
recorded a $4.7 million and $3.3 million provisioaespectively, which resulted in an effective taterof 30% and 34%, respectively.

The decrease in the effective tax rate during 2Z@08pared to 2007 was primarily due to the increasegstment in tax-exempt
municipal bonds and the benefit from the SEZ Indiaholiday. These decreases in the effectivedatxwere partially offset by an increase in
our reserve for uncertain tax positions.

During 2008, we recorded a charge related to posittaken on prior tax returns, which resultednnrerease of $0.9 million to our
unrecognized tax benefits, the majority of whictswelated to state income tax credits. As of Deearth, 2008, the amount of unrecognized
tax benefits totaled approximately $6.2 millionwdfich $5.2 million, if recognized would impact ceffective tax rate. We expect that the
changes in the unrecognized benefits within the tvealve months would be approximately $1.3 milli@tated to tax positions for which the
ultimate settlement is highly certain but for whibtlere is uncertainty about the timing of such gegtion.

Our effective income tax rate for 2008 was below statutory federal income tax rate due to appratety $0.5 million of benefits
related to the current period domestic producticiviies, approximately $0.8 million of estimatéetleral income tax credits, and
approximately $0.6 million of benefit from tax-exptincome. These benefits were partially offseghyincrease in the Company'’s reserve for
uncertain tax positions of $1.3 million, the mafpef which is related to the state tax credits] permanent differences of $0.4 million
primarily related to nondeductible meals and eatenent expenses.

Our effective income tax rate for 2007 was below statutory federal income tax rate due to appratety $0.3 million of benefits
related to the current period domestic producticiviies, approximately $0.5 million of estimatétieral income tax credits, and
approximately $0.2 million of state income tax dtedThese benefits were partially offset by $0iBiom of permanent differences primarily
related to nondeductible meals and entertainmepetreses and approximately $0.2 million of prior yp@avision to tax return adjustments.

2007 Compared to 2006

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 Increase
Total revenu $161,94¢ $126,020 $35,92¢ 29%
Gross profil 96,74 72,26( 24,48° 34%
Total operating expens: 94,79¢ 79,37¢ 1542: 1%
Income before provision (benefit) for income ta 9,94: 1,187 8,755 n/m

n/m = not meaningful
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The increase in total revenue in 2007 compare®@® Zonsisted of a $15.7 million increase in lieersvenue, a $14.3 million increas
professional services and training revenue and@$ilion increase in maintenance revenue, in ease due to an increase in the overall
demand for our software, related professional sesjiand maintenance. Our international revenue3d¥sof total revenue in 2007 compared
to 37% in 2006.

The increase in gross profit for 2007 comparedd@62was due to the increase in license revenuamicrease of $8.7 million in
services gross profit.

Total operating expenses increased in 2007 compar2@d06 due to our continued investment in expamtiie number of sales and
marketing personnel, increased spending in researdtdevelopment, and higher professional feesrasudt of restating our previously issued
financial statements.

The increase in income before provision (benefit)iicome taxes was primarily due to the $24.5iarilincrease in our gross profit,
which was partially offset by a $15.4 million ines® in operating expenses as discussed above.

Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31
2007 2006 Increase
License revenut
Perpetual license $37,91¢  74% $27,19¢ 77% $10,71¢ 3%
Term license! 13,17C 26% 8,228 23% 494: 60%
Total license revenu $51,08¢ 10C% $35,42¢ 10C% $15,66( 44%

The mix between perpetual and term license arrargesiiluctuates based on customer circumstancedig@nse revenue growth in
2007 was primarily driven by increased demand &pptual licenses of our software. Both the nunalnel the average value of perpetual
license arrangements increased in 2007 compar2ao®.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangér@ver the term of the agreement as paymentaiieedae or earlier if prepaid.
While the number of term license arrangements dsed, the average value of term license arrangerimareased in 2007 compared to 2006.
The aggregate value of payments under these teemsies, which will be recognized in future periagdsevenue, totaled $71.4 million as of
December 31, 2007 as compared to $14.2 milliorf &eoember 31, 2006. The aggregate value of thesecancellable term license
arrangements as of December 31, 2007 includes $2illi@n of term license payments that we expeatsitognize as revenue in 2008, which
represents a 61% increase compared to $13.2 mdfiterm license revenue in 2007.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 Increase
Services revenu
Professional services and traini $ 79,66¢ T72% $65,44: T72% $14,22F 22%
Maintenance 31,19¢ 28%  25,15¢ 28% 6,041 24%
Total services revent $110,86! 10(% $90,59¢ 10C% $20,26¢ 22%

We continued to experience strong demand for thesgces as our installed license base continugdow in 2007. As a result of the
demand for these services, we increased employaiehent in the professional services organizatimaddition to our own employees, we
used contractors to provide these services.
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The increase in maintenance revenue in 2007 compar2006 was a result of the continued increaskdrinstalled base of our software.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 Increase
Gross Profit
License gross prof $ 51,08t¢ $ 35,39C $15,69: 44%
Services gross prof 45,66 36,86¢ 8,79 24%
Total gross profi $ 96,74 $ 72,26( $24,48: 34%
Services gross marg 41% 41%

There were no significant direct costs associatitll keense revenue, therefore, increases in liegess profit were due to increases in
license revenue.

Our professional services and training gross masgis unchanged in 2007 compared to 2006. Whilenateased the professional
services headcount by 42% in 2007, and 80% of theseemployees were hired in the second half of/#a, contractor costs as a percentage
of professional services and training revenue dmsere to 14%, or $11.2 million, in 2007 compareti#®, or $11.3 million, in 2006. Our
margin on maintenance in 2007 was also unchang2ddi compared to 2006.

Operating expenses

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 Increase
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketin $ 51,74: $ 43,93¢ $7,80¢ 18%
As a percent of total reven! 32% 35%
Selling and marketing headcot 15z 13¢ 15 11%

The increase in selling and marketing expensegwasrily due to an increase in employee relatestassociated with increased
headcount in 2007 compared to 2006. Payroll, cosguen and benefit expenses increased approximadeymillion and travel expenses
increased approximately $0.8 million a result @& tigher headcount.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 Increase
Research and developme
Research and developmt $ 26,19¢ $ 22,70] $3,491 15%
As a percent of total reven! 16% 18%
Research and development headct 11¢ 10¢€ 11 10%

The increase in research and development costsgd2@07 was primarily due to $1.1 million of higheyadcount costs and $1.2 million
of higher offshore contractor costs. We were ingtacess of establishing our research and developoeater in India in 2007. The associated
start-up costs were included in general and adin@tige expenses until the new center became dpeedtduring 2007.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 Increase

General and administrativi

General and administrati $ 16,85¢ $ 12,72¢ $4,12¢ 32%
As a percent of total reveni 10% 10%
General and administrative headco 10¢ 10z 6 6%
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The increase in general and administrative costisg@007 was primarily due to $1.4 million of highcompensation and benefit costs
relating to increased headcount and $1.3 milliohigher professional fees associated with the ters@nt of our previously issued financial
statements.

Stock-based compensation
The following table summarizes stock-based compemsaxpense included in our consolidated statesehincome in 2007 and 2006:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase

(in thousands, except per share amou 2007 2006 (Decrease)
Stock-based compensation exper
Cost of service $ 49C $ 28¢ $204 71%
Selling and marketin 43€ 52C (84) (16)%
Research and developmt 13C 13t (5) (4)%
General and administrati\ 562 527 35 7%
Total stocl-based compensation before 1,61¢ 1,46¢ $15C _10%
Income tax benef (430 (520
Net stocl-based compensation expel $ 1,18¢ $  94¢
Effect on earnings (loss) per she
Basic $ (0.09 $ (0.09
Diluted $ (0.09 $ (0.09

In December 2007, we granted approximately 4089006k options and approximately 204,000 RSUs ttaseemployees. The
associated stock-based compensation expense & ginents was insignificant in 2007, due to therdevaeing granted near the end of the
year. As of December 31, 2007, we had approxim&2I$ million of unrecognized stc-based compensation expense related to the unvestec
portion of all our stock options that is expectede recognized as expense over a weighted-avpeagel of approximately 2.0 years and we
had approximately $1.4 million of unrecognized ktbased compensation expense related to the R&tstéxpected to be recognized as
expense over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,
Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease)

Interest income, Other income and Income tax

Installment receivable interest incol $ 1,24« $ 1,89¢ $ (65E) (34)%
Other interest income, n 6,71¢ 5,36( 1,35¢ 25%
Other income, ne 29 1,042 (1,019 (9%
Interest income and oth $ 7,991 $ 8,301 $ (310 (4%

The increase in interest income was primarily adukatger balances of cash and investments, pgrtéitet by the decrease in interest
rates and an expected reduction in interest indoome installment receivables reflecting the declgnbalance of term licenses on which
revenue had been recognized in advance of payments.

Other income, net, consists primarily of foreigmrency exchange gains and losses and realized gathkbsses on the sale of our
investments. The decrease in other income, netltegsprimarily from the decrease in the gain akfgn currency denominated net assets held
in the U.S., consisting primarily of cash, licemsstallments, receivables, and accounts payablan®2007, we recorded a $0.3 million
foreign currency exchange transaction gain as coedp@a a $1.2 million gain in 2006.
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes

In 2007, we recorded a $3.3 million provision consgbto a benefit of $0.7 million in 2006, whichuéted in an effective tax rate of 34%
in 2007 compared to (55%) in 2006.

Our effective income tax rate for 2007 was below shatutory federal income tax rate due to appratety $0.3 million of benefits
related to the current period domestic producticiviies, approximately $0.5 million of estimatéetleral income tax credits, and
approximately $0.2 million of state income tax d¢tedThese benefits were partially offset by $0iBiom of permanent differences primarily
related to nondeductible meals and entertainmeuereses and approximately $0.2 million of prior ye@vision to return adjustments.

Our effective tax rate for 2006 differed from thatatory federal income tax rate due to approxitge®8.7 million of benefits related to
current period extrgerritorial income exclusions, approximately $0.®ion of estimated federal income tax credits,0a3dmillion benefit fron
foreign activities, and approximately $0.3 milliohnet benefit from state income taxes primarilg do state income tax credits. These factors
were partially offset by $0.2 million of permanetitferences primarily related to nondeductible nsesaid entertainment expenses and a $0.2
million increase in reserve for tax uncertaintielaited to international activity.

We adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation 88, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”) on January 1, 2008.8result, we recorded the cumulative effect ghapg the provisions of FIN 48 and
recorded a $1.5 million reduction to our Januar20Q7 retained earnings. As of December 31, 20@7aimount of unrecognized tax benefits
totaled approximately $9.8 million, of which $3.9llian, if recognized would impact our effectivexteate.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(in thousands Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
Cash flows provided by (used it
Operating activitie: $ 38,39¢ $ 25,341 $ 19,84«
Investing activities (13,769 (24,84") (20,77
Financing activitie: (13,359 (257) (4,9072)
Effect of exchange rate on cé (1,904 453 523
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 9,371 $ 70z $ 4,69¢
Total cash and cash equivalents and marketableites $167,22¢ $149,98: $127,75¢

We have funded our operations primarily from cdstv$ provided by operations and we expect to comtifunding our operations in this
manner in 2009. As of December 31, 2008, we hal, @ash equivalents, and marketable securitied @78 million, a $17.2 million increase
from $150.0 million as of December 31, 2007. Thisréase was primarily due to $38.4 million of cistv provided by operations offset by
$19.4 million in repurchases of our common stock $4.4 million in dividend payments to our shareleos. As of December 31, 2007, we had
cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securit®b58.0 million, a $22.2 million increase from 12 million as of December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily due to $25.3 million of célsiv provided by operations offset by $9.1 millianrepurchases of our common stock.
Working capital was $159.1 million as of Decembg&y 2008 compared to $159.5 million as of DecemiieRB07.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalemsketable securities, and cash flow from openatiwill be sufficient to fund our
operations and our share repurchase program feasitthe next 12 months. We also evaluate acgpisipportunities from time to time, whi
if pursued, could require use of our funds. Mateigks to cash flow from operations include delhye reduced cash payments on sales of new
licenses or a decline in our services businessrétent liquidity crisis in the global capital matk and the current economic
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crisis have had an adverse impact on market paatits including, among other things, volatilitysecurity prices, diminished liquidity, and
limited access to funding. These conditions comigact the ability and willingness of our financiarvices and insurance customers, and
possibly our customers in other industries, to makestments in technology and pay their tradegaiions. Our financial services and
insurance customers as a group represent a sigmiffienount of our revenues and receivables, whebansidered and determined did not
have a material impact on our allowances for dalstfcounts and sales credit memos as of Decenih@088. There can be no assurance
changes in our plans or other events affectingpperations will not result in materially accelethter unexpected expenditures.

Cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities durB@i)8 increased to $38.4 million compared to $251Bam in 2007. The increase of
$13.1 million was primarily the result of improventen the collection of our receivables and theéase in our net income.

The primary components of cash flows provided bgrapions during 2008 were $11.0 million of net imz a $3.1 million decrease in
trade accounts receivable due to the timing okectilbns, and a $16.6 million decrease in licenstaliments for term license arrangements
extended payment terms.

Cash flows used in investing activities

Net cash flows used in investing activities dur2@8, 2007, and 2006 were primarily for purchagenarketable securities of $194.5
million, $109.3 million and $94.0 million, respectly, partially offset by the proceeds receivedrfrihe sales, maturities and called debt
securities of $185.6 million, $87.2 million and $85nillion, respectively.

In March 2008, we paid approximately $0.8 millioncash to acquire certain assets of privately Reltls Technology Group, Inc. and a
related entity (collectively, “Focus”), that proeisl anti-fraud and anti-money laundering softwartaéobanking industry. In addition to the
initial purchase consideration, maximum contingaaisideration of approximately $2.1 million in cashy be due to the former owners of
Focus upon the achievement of certain performariestones and sales targets to be paid over agefi80 months from the acquisition date.

Cash flows used in financing activities

Net cash flows used in financing activities dur@d8, 2007, and 2006 were primarily for repurchadesir common stock and the
payment of our quarterly dividend. In each Febrwargt December 2008, our Board of Directors appravéti5.0 million share repurchase
program. The December 2008 repurchase programesxpir December 31, 2009. Since 2004, our Boardretrs has approved annual st
repurchase programs that have authorized the repsedn the aggregate up to $60.0 million of oummn stock. Purchases under these
programs may be made from time to time on the oparket or in privately negotiated transactions askat conditions warrant, subject to
regulatory and other considerations.
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Common stock repurchase programs
The following table is a summary of our repurchastvity under all of our stock repurchase progralmsng 2008, 2007, and 2006:

(Dollars in thousands 2008 2007 2006

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at Januan $ 1,21( $ 6,872 $ 4,12¢
Authorizations 30,00( 10,00( 10,00(
Repurchases pa 1,503,55. (27,969 799,34 (9,137) 962,42 (6,819)
Repurchases unsettl 32,37¢ (379 48,01t (569) —
Expirations — (5,95%) (432
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 12,86: $ 1,21 $ 6,872

These share repurchases offset the shares issdguiaoeeds received under our various share-basegensation plans in 2008 and
2006, and patrtially offset these amounts in 2007.

Dividends

On May 30, 2006, our Board of Directors approveaagoing quarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per sHaeginning with the second
guarter ended June 30, 2006. Accordingly, the Complaclared a cash dividend of $0.12 per sharedoh of the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007, $0.09 per share for the year eneéedrbber 31, 2006, and paid cash dividends of $#libm $4.3 million, and $2.1 million il
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. It is our qurhetention to pay a quarterly cash dividend of080per share to shareholders of record as of
the first trading day of each quarter, however,Bbard of Directors may terminate or modify thigidend program at any time without notice.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2008, we had material commitséortpurchases of customer support and consusngices, and payments under
operating leases. Our principal administrativeesamarketing, support, and research and develdpopenations are located in approximately
105,000 square foot leased facility in Cambridgesbachusetts. The lease for this facility expimeil3, subject to our option to extend for
two additional five-year periods.

We also lease space for our other offices in tf& ,Australia, Canada, India, the United Kingdord amother European countries. These
leases expire at various dates through 2013. Rgeetnse under operating leases is recognized aaighgtline basis to account for scheduled
rent increases. The excess of expense over cyragnients is recorded as deferred rent and inclidadcrued expenses and other long-term
liabilities.

As of December 31, 2008, our known contractualgations, including future minimum rental paymermguired under operating leases
with non-cancelable terms in excess of one yeae asifollows:

Payment due by period

2014 anc
2010 & 2012 &
Contractual obligations: (in thousands) Total 2009 2011 2013 after Other
Purchase commitmen $ 2541 $2411 $ 13 $ — $ — $ —
FIN 48 liability (1) 6,201  1,31¢ — — — 488
Operating lease obligations ( 20,082 4,624 9,04¢ 6,41 — —
Total $28,82: $8,35¢ $9,17¢ $6,41: $ —  $4,88:

(1) Total contractual obligations include our FIN 4&hility of approximately $6.2 million, but we areable to reasonably estimate
timing in individual years beyond 12 months du@meertainties in the timing «
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the effective settlement of tax positions. The Campexpects that the changes in the unrecognizeefitewithin the next twelve mont
would be approximately $1.3 million related to fgositions for which the ultimate settlement is ygtertain but for which there is
uncertainty about the timing of such recogniti

(2) Includes deferred rent of approximately $0.3 milliacluded in accounts payable and accrued expemskapproximately $1.6 million
other lon¢-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidatedalnce sheet as of December 31, 2!

The following table summarizes the cash receipesidiconnection with our existing term license agnents:

Installment
payments for term Installment
licenses recorded o payments for term
licenses not recorded
Year ended December 31, (in thousand the balance sheet ( on the balance sheet (;
2009 $ 5,44t $ 31,01¢
2010 2,79(C 21,81t
2011 2,21t 18,35¢
2012 1,292 11,63¢
2013 — 3,69¢
Thereaftel — 1,937
Total 11,74: $ 88,45¢
Unearned installment interest incol (884
Total license installments receivable, $ 10,85¢

(1) These amounts were recognized as license reyaetiof unearned installment interest incomecmsist of approximately $5.4 million
of short-term license installments and approxinya®&.4 million of long-term license installmentginded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, Fab8hese agreements, we recognized the presieet @bfuture term license
payments upon customer acceptance, provided thsigndicant obligations or contingencies existitetl to the software, other than
maintenance support, and provided all other cetfat revenue recognition were m

(2) These amounts will be recognized as reventiegriuture over the term of the agreement as patgrimtome due or earlier if prepaid.
The aggregate installment payments for these tieendes increased by $17.1 million in 2008 from.4fillion as of December 31,
2007.

Fair Value Inputs

We adopted SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measuremefi&FAS 157”) on January 1, 2008. See Note 3 “Reéecbunting
Pronouncements” and Note 4 “Cash, Marketable SiéesiriAnd Fair Value Measurements” in the noteth&ébaccompanying consolidated
financial statements for further discussion. Falue is a market-based measurement that is detedrbased on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiThe use of fair value to measure investmewit) related unrealized gains or losses on
investments, is a significant component to our otidated results of operations.

We value our investments by using quoted markeeprand broker or dealer quotations which are basedird party pricing sources
with reasonable levels of price transparency. Vpeg of instruments valued based on quoted marlasoin active markets include some of
the government debt securities, some of the mualicipbt securities, money market securities and ofdte corporate debt securities. We do
not adjust the quoted price for such instrumente fiypes of instruments valued based on other wlisker inputs include most of the municipal
debt securities and some of the corporate debtiiesuThe price for each security at the measerdrdate is sourced from an independent
pricing vendor. Periodically, management may asfesseasonableness of these sourced prices byacomgphem to the prices provided by
our portfolio managers to derive the fair valuahefse financial instruments. Management assesseasyhts of the pricing in order to
categorize the financial instruments into the appede hierarchy levels.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Management'’s discussion and analysis of the firmcindition and results of operations is basedwqo consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordetitaccounting principles generally accepted mthS. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgtiet affect the reported amounts of assetslilias, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Wése our estimates and judgments on historicadrexme, knowledge of current conditions
and beliefs of what could occur in the future giesilable information. We consider the followingcaunting policies to be both those most
important to the portrayal of our financial conditiand those that require the most subjective juadgnif actual results differ significantly frc
management’s estimates and projections, there dmubdmaterial effect on our financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Our revenue is derived from software licenses, teasnce fees related to our software licensespesfdssional services. Our license
arrangements, whether involving a perpetual licemseterm license, generally contain multiple edets. In addition to the license, these
elements generally include professional consubienyices, training, and software maintenance sesviRevenue from arrangements in which
the fair value of one or more undelivered elementsmiknown is deferred until the fair value of ta@dements is known and the residual value
of the license can be determined.

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@nue when the software is delivered, any accepteaquired by contract that is not
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligati@rscontingencies exist related to the softwarethan maintenance support, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable mionthly basis under license agreements thatdilpihave a three to five-year term
and may be renewed for additional terms at theocust’s option.

As a result of our focus on frequent sales to argdted customers, our strategy to sell initiahtécensing agreements to those custor
with the goal to generate follow-on sales, and essalt of extended payment terms, we recognize lieense revenue over the term of the
agreement as payments become due or earlier ijghgprovided all other criteria for revenue rectign have been met.

Historically, the majority of our term license argements were larger agreements with extended payterens that did not typically
result in follow-on license agreements. We havéestoly of successfully collecting payments under dhiginal payment terms, therefore for
these arrangements, we have recognized the preslertof the future term license payments uponoenst acceptance, provided that no
significant obligations or contingencies exist tethto the software, other than maintenance supgodt provided all other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met. A portion of the licefess payable under these agreements (equal thfteeence between the total license
payments and the discounted present value of {hegments) was initially deferred and recognizethssllment receivable interest income
(and is not part of total revenue) over the licetesm. For purposes of the present value calculatithe discount rates used were estimates of
customers’ borrowing rates at the time of recognittypically below prime rate, and have variedisstn 3.25% and 6.70% for the past few
years. As of December 31, 2008, the remaining loala these installment receivables totaled apprateély $10.9 million as summarized
the table on page 32.

For licensing arrangements that include a righirtspecified future products, fees are accounted$@ubscriptions and the revenue is
recognized ratably over the economic life or teffrthe arrangement.
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Maintenance revenues

Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognizeblyadaer the term of the support period. Perpeso#iivare maintenance revenue is
recognized over the term of the related maintenagceement, which is generally one year and ren@megh annual basis thereafter. For term
licenses, we recognize the entire arrangementtably over the license term when the renewalogafgeriod is not substantive compared tc
term license. In general, maintenance and suptigadions are based on separately stated reneses in the arrangement that are deemed
substantive and therefore represent vendor spetifective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value.

Professional services revenues

Our services revenue is comprised of fees for dtingwservices, including software implementatiand training. Consulting services
may be provided on a “stand-alone” basis or bundiitid a license and software maintenance services.

Revenue from training services and consulting sess/uinder time and materials contracts is recodraseservices are performed. We
have VSOE of fair value for our training servicasd consulting services under time and materiaisracts.

Services may be provided on a fixed-price basis.d@/aot have VSOE of fair value for fixed-price\sees prior to completion of the
services. When fixed-price services are part oU#tiple element arrangement, and the services @ressential to the functionality of the
software, and when services including maintenaaethe only undelivered element, we recognizediienue from the total arrangement
ratably over the longer of the software maintengreréod or the service period. In a limited numbkour arrangements, the fixed-price
services are essential to the arrangement becaisgake significant alterations to the functionatifithe software or build complex interfaces
necessary for the software to be functional inciiietomer’s environment. We have not been able teemeasonably dependable estimates for
the purpose of determining our progress to congoietks we have limited experience with these tgbesique and complex arrangements.
Accordingly, when the fixed-price services are aiaéto the arrangement, all revenue and costslafierred until the completion of the fixed-
price services under the completed contract metRedenue from fixed-price services that are notleohwith a software license is generally
recognized as performed during the service peritich is typically less than four months.

We warrant to our customers that our software prtsdwill conform to documented specifications. W d not experienced significant
claims related to software warranties beyond tlpsof maintenance support, which we are alreatlgatbd to provide, and consequently we
have not established reserves for warranty obbgati

Our agreements with customers generally requite usdemnify the customer against claims that aftvgare infringes third party pate
copyright, trademark or other proprietary rightacls indemnification obligations are generally lietitin a variety of industrgtandard respec
including our right to replace an infringing produss of December 31, 2008, we had not experieegdmaterial losses related to these
indemnification obligations and no claims with respthereto were outstanding. We do not expecifgignt claims related to these
indemnification obligations, and consequently, vagénot established any related reserves.

Deferred project costs

We defer direct costs when a project is being acmxlifor under the completed contract method océotain arrangements where all of
the required revenue recognition criteria havelbs@n met. We report these deferred project cosither current assets.
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Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resintin customer specific acceptance provisions d@hdrarrangements for which all of
the criteria to recognize revenue have not been Deferred maintenance revenue represents softigarese updates and product support
contracts that are typically billed on an annuai®# advance and are recognized ratably ovesupport periods. Deferred professional
services revenue represents prepayments for congsatid education services that are recognizeldeasdrvices are performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance foalgs credit memos

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. Our estimates are based on the compositihe accounts receivable aging, historical theloks, changes in payment patterns,
customer creditworthiness and current economiadseli we used different assumptions, or if thaficial condition of customers were to
deteriorate that resulted in their inability to reakequired payments, additional provisions for dhulaccounts would be required and would
increase bad debt expense.

We record allowances for estimates of potenti@satedit memos. We base these estimates on b#dtarialyses of sales credit memos
and assumptions about future events and experieiticeustomer disputes. If we used different assiionp in calculating the allowance,
adjustments would be reflected as changes to revenu

Stock-based compensation

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), we recognize stmded compensation expense associated with egudtyla in our consolidated
statements of income based on the fair value ietlagvards at the date of grant. We adopted thespwas of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006
using the modified prospective method, and, acegtgiprior period amounts were not restated. Stoaked compensation is recognized over
the requisite service period, which is generally tlsting period of the equity award, and adjussezh period for anticipated forfeitures. We
recognize stock-based compensation using the eatabthod, which treats each vesting tranche asviéiie an individual grant.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, our Board ofdgitors approved changes to our equity compensptagram, including the granting
RSUs in addition to stock options, for periodic gaompensation grants. RSUs deliver to the recipa right to receive a specified numbe
shares of our common stock upon vesting, net oiithholding. Unlike stock options, there is no ttwsthe employee at share issuance. We
value our RSUs at the fair value of our commonlistmtthe grant date, which is the closing pricewf common stock on the grant date, less
the present value of expected dividends as theamaplis not entitled to dividends during the reij@iservice period. We periodically grant
stock options and RSUs for a fixed number of sharesnployees and non-employee Directors. The esesprice for stock options is greater
than or equal to the fair market value of the shatehe date of the grant.

We estimate the fair value of stock options ushegBlack-Scholes option valuation model, which resgius to make estimates of key
assumptions including the expected term of theoopthe expected volatility of our stock price otle option’s expected term, the risk-free
interest rate over the option’s expected term,@mdexpected annual dividend yield. The expectad & options granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercises and postagestmployment termination behavior. The expectadtiity is based on the historical
volatility of our stock price. The expected anndizidend yield is based on the expected annuatldivil of $0.12 per share divided by the
average stock price. The risk-free interest ratsaiged on the yield of zero-coupon U.S. Treaswyritées for a period that is commensurate
with the expected option term at the time of gr#rfactors change and we employ different assuomgtiin the application of SFAS 123(R) in
future periods, the compensation expense that egradainder SFAS 123(R) may differ significantlyrfravhat we have recorded in the current
period.
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The choice of a valuation model, and the underlgsgumptions used in applying that model, invokigaificant judgment. Our
judgment reflects our assessment of the most aecarethod of valuing the stock options we issuetas our historical experienc
knowledge of current conditions and beliefs of wbatld occur in the future given available inforioat Our judgment could change over time
as additional information becomes available tooushe facts underlying our assumptions change twer, and any change in our judgments
could have a material effect on our financial stegsts.

See Note 14 “Stock-Based Compensation” in the notése accompanying consolidated financial statemtor further information on
the impact of SFAS 123(R) to our consolidated friahstatements.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SRAS109, “Accounting for Income Taxéq“SFAS 109”), which requires that
deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognizdguenacted tax rates for the effect of tempodiffgrences between the book and tax bases of
recorded assets and liabilities. We record a vimnat!lowance to reduce our deferred taxes to aouatnwe believe is more likely than not to
be realized. We consider future taxable income@ndent and feasible tax planning strategies iessisg the need for a valuation allowance.

As a global company, we use significant judgmerdaigulate and provide for income taxes in eactheftax jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the ordinary course of our businegsethre transactions and calculations undertak@sevhltimate tax outcome cannot be certain.
Some of these uncertainties arise as a conseqoéteasfer pricing for transactions with our sutigiies and potential challenges to nexus
credit estimates. We estimate our exposure to onédoke outcomes related to these uncertaintiegstiiohate the probability for such outcomes
in accordance with the provisions of FIN 48, whieh adopted on January 1, 2007. See Note 15 “Inctares” in the notes to the
accompanying consolidated financial statementéuidher information on the impact of FIN 48 on @mansolidated financial statements.

Although we believe our estimates are reasonablessurance can be given that the final tax outasith@ot be different from what is
reflected in our historical income tax provisioreturns, and accruals. Such differences, or chaingestimates relating to potential differences,
could have a material impact on our income tax isios and operating results in the period in whiakh a determination is made.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 “Recent Accounting Pronouncements”’emibtes to the accompanying consolidated finastéaéments for further
discussion.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE  ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgatfus due to adverse changes in financial mamke¢s and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily related to fluctuations imefigh exchange rates and interest rates. To dateawe not entered into derivative or hedging
transactions to manage risk in connection with diittuations.

Foreign currency exposure

We derived approximately 38%, 35%, and 37% of otaltrevenue from sales to customers based outidiee U.S. in 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively. Our international license aralfgssional services sales have increasingly bea@meminated in foreign currencies.
However, the operating expenses of our foreignatjmers are primarily denominated in foreign curieacwhich partially offset our foreign
currency exposure. A decrease in the value ofdareurrencies, particularly the British pound alnel Euro relative to the U.S. dollar, could
adversely impact our revenues and operating results

Most of our transactions with customers are invitem our offices in the U.S. For those transatithat are denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, we have receivablesliaedse installments that are valued in foreigmencies. In addition, our U.S. operating
company holds cash and investments in foreign naies in order to support our foreign operationgr fDnctional currency is the U.S. dollar,
therefore, when there are changes in the foreigreoay exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar, eegréze a foreign currency transaction gain
or (loss) in other income (expense), net in oursotidated statements of income. As of DecembePBa8, we had net monetary assets valued
in foreign currencies, consisting primarily of cabbense installments, and receivables, partiaifget by accounts payable and accrued
expenses, with a carrying value of approximately.$2nillion. During 2008, we recorded a $4.5 milliforeign currency transaction loss due
to the significant decrease in the value of foreigmrencies, primarily the British pound and tesser extent the Euro, relative to the U.S.
dollar. As of December 31, 2008, a ten percent gaan foreign currency exchange rates would haeagéd the carrying value of our net
assets by approximately $2.4 million as of thaedeith a corresponding currency gain (loss) recoephin our consolidated statement of
income.

Interest rate exposure

Our balance sheet contains interest bearing asbéth have fixed rates of interest. These assetade license installments receivable
generated in the normal course of business thrtnagisactions with customers and our investmentsarketable debt securities.

License installments receivable bear interestatdlte in effect when the license revenue was rézed, which does not vary throughout
the life of the contractual cash flow stream. Chemigp market rates do not affect net earningseatidgénse installments receivable are carrit
cost and, since they are not financial instrumantsare held until maturity, are not marked to retité reflect changes in the fair value of the
portfolio. The carrying value of our total licensstallment receivables was approximately $10.9ionilas of December 31, 2008, and reflects
the weighted-average of historic discount ratesl tseecord each term license arrangement. Thebalaf our license installments receivable
has significantly declined as historical arranget®ane billed and collected and no new licensallmsént arrangements have been added t
portfolio.

We invest primarily in tax-exempt municipal bondeyvernment sponsored enterprises and corporatestibatare fixed rate marketable
debt securities. A 200 basis point increase in etarkerest rates would have reduced the fair vafueur marketable debt securities by
approximately $2.8 million as of December 31, 200Banges in market rates and the related impafzioualue of the investments do not
generally affect net earnings as our investmerdiged rate securities and are classified as abksitfor-sale and as such, unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax effect, are recorded in accutedllather comprehensive income in our
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accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Howeten the investments are sold, the unrealized gaiddosses are recorded as realized
gains and losses and included in net income imtsempanying consolidated statements of income.

We analyze our investments for impairments on ayoong basis. Factors considered in determining ladred loss is temporary include
the length of time and extent to which the seasitiave been in an unrealized loss position andlility and intent to hold the investment for
a period of time sufficient to allow for any anpieied market recovery.

As of December 31, 2008, we did not directly oriiedtly hold any auction-rate securities or morggrfagcked securities. As of the date
this filing, we are not aware of any downgradessés, or other significant deterioration in the Yalue of our marketable securities.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggtasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the internal control over finansgplorting of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries“@ompany”) as of December 31,
2008, based on criteria establishedhiternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission. The Company’s managemensoreible for maintaining effective internal cohwager financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiit to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting base
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtdfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pars performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakoaaturance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(tt) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of tree&sof the company; (2) provide reasonable asseriat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statein accordance with generally accepted acaogiptiinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiosg, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlanfial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatketected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fic&al reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on the criteria establishethtarnal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements as of and foyder ended December 31, 2008 of the Company angepart dated March 9, 2009 expres
an unqualified opinion on those financial stateraent

/s/ DELOITTE & T OUCHELLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 9, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggtasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiariesQtmepany”)as of December 3
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensicome, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3B.Ahese financial statements are the respongibilithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamlogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteg@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinarficial position of Pegasystems Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007thencksults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted thdgions of Financial Accounting Standards Boar@iptetation No. 48Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretatidriFASB Statement No. 1, effective January 1, 2007.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2008, based on the criterébksited innternal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrtee Treadway Commission and our report datedcM8, 2009 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internaitcol over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & T OUCHELLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 9, 2009
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Total cash and cash equivalents and marketableites
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of Sl ahd $1,35.
Shor-term license installmen
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse
Total current asse
Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme
Property and equipment, net of accumulated degieciand amortizatiol
Long-term deferred income taxes and other as
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortiz:
Goodwill
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and related expel
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Income taxes payab
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 shareer#u; no shares issued and outstan
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 70,000 shares dméfihr35,810 shares and 36,192 shares issued and

outstanding
Additional pait-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Net unrealized gain on available -sale marketable securiti
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31,

2008 2007
$ 36,080 $ 26,71(
131,14; 123,27
167,22¢ 149,98
42,801 45,92;
5,44E 19,18:
4,351 2,14¢
4,151 5,09:
223,970 222,32
5,41¢ 8,261
5,72¢ 4,18:
8,111 6,59¢
47¢ —
2,141 1,93
$245,85(  $243,30°
$ 4,726 $ 5,67(
9,92t 10,40
18,01¢ 13,52¢
32,23! 33,17¢
64,89 62,77¢
5,66¢ 5,18¢
2,174 2,39¢
72,73¢ 70,36:
35¢ 362
117,92t 123,40:
53,93t 47,32
1,062 7
(167) 1,85¢
173,11 172,94
$245,85(  $243,30°
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Revenue
Software licens: $ 76,57: $ 51,08¢ $ 35,42«
Maintenance 40,11t 31,19¢ 25,15t
Professional service 94,96( 79,66¢ 65,44+
Total revenue 211,64 161,94¢ 126,02
Cost of revenue
Cost of software licens 95 — 32
Cost of maintenanc 5,39( 4,791 4,01¢
Cost of professional servic 76,27 60,41 49,71¢
Total cost of revenu 81,751 65,20: 53,76
Gross profi 129,89( 96,741 72,26(
Operating expense
Selling and marketin 63,79¢ 51,74: 43,93¢
Research and developmt 31,47 26,19¢ 22,701
General and administrati\ 20,14( 16,85¢ 12,72¢
Total operating expens: 115,41; 94,79¢ 79,37
Income (loss) from operatiol 14,47¢ 1,951 (7,119
Installment receivable interest incot 597 1,24¢ 1,89¢
Other interest income, n 5,02¢ 6,71¢ 5,36(
Foreign currency transaction (loss) g (4,537) 264 1,152
Other income (expense), r 104 (23E) (110
Income before provision (benefit) for income ta 15,67: 9,94: 1,187
Provision (benefit) for income tax: 4,69¢ 3,341 (655)
Net income $ 10,977 $ 6,59 $ 1,84:
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.3 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0t
Earnings per share, dilut $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0t
Weightec-average number of common shares outstanding, 36,14¢ 35,87t 35,22¢
Weightec-average number of common shares outstanding, di 37,60¢ 37,43: 37,13¢
Dividends per shar $ 0.1z $ 0.1z $ 0.0¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 20

Repurchase of common sto

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase

Issuance of stock awar

Exercise of common stock warral

Stocl-based compensation expel

Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic

Dividends declare:

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Net unrealized gain on investments avail-for-sale

Net deferred tax impact of unrealized loss on ihvesits availab-
for-sale

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C

Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of FI8I

Repurchase of common sta

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase

Issuance of stock awar

Exercise of common stock warrai

Stocl-based compensation expel

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options, netleferred tax asset
write-off of $211

Dividends declare:

Realization of stock option tax benefit from neeogting losse

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Net unrealized gain on investments avail-for-sale, net of tax of
$229

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C

Repurchase of common sto

Issuance of common stock for st-based compensation pls

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase

Stocl-based compensation expel

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options, netleferred tax asse
write-off of $216

Dividends declare

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Net unrealized gain on investments avail-for-sale, net of tax of
$2

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND

Common Stock

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Retainec Comprehensive Stock- Comprehensive
Number Paid-In holders’
of Share: Amount Capital Earnings Income Equity Income
35,56¢ $ 35€ $ 119,07 $ 47,88¢ $ 362 $167,68:
(962) (10 (6,809) — — (6,819)
64C 6 3,49( — — 3,49¢
25 1 202 — — 204
37 — 274 — — 274
3 N N N —_ N
— — 1,194 — — 1,19/
— — 694 — — 694
— — — (3,18)) — (3,18))
— — — — 49z 492 $ 492
— — — — 462 462 462
— — — — (182) (182) (182)
— — — 1,842 — 1,842 1,842
35,30¢ 353 118,12: 46,54¢ 1,13¢ 166,15¢ $ 2,61«
— — — (1,490 — (1,490
(847) (8 (9,69¢) — — (9,709
1,67¢ 17 10,71¢ — — 10,73¢
18 — 17¢ — — 17¢
26 — 27s — — 205
7 J— J— J— J— J—
— — 1,34: — — 1,34
— — 2,12¢ — — 2,12¢
— — — (4,337) — (4,337
— — 33z — — 33z
— — — — 37¢ 37¢ $ 37¢
— — — — 35C 35C 35C
— — — 6,59¢ — 6,59¢ 6,59¢
36,19: 362 123,40: 47,32: 1,86( 172,94 $ 7,32(
(1,53€) (15) (18,33)) — — (18,349
1,10¢ 11 5,80¢ — — 5,817
24 — 265 — — 265
22 — 3,53 — — 3,532
— — 3,25¢ — — 3,25k
— — — (4,367) — (4,367)
— — — — (2,020 (2,020 $ (2,020
— — — — 1,05¢ 1,05¢ 1,05t
— — — 10,97% — 10,977 10,97:
35,81( $  35¢ $ 117,92t $ 53,93t $ 89t $173,11- $ 10,01:
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income

Adjustment to reconcile net income to cash flonsvjated by operating activitie

Excess tax benefits from stock optic
Deferred income taxe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of investment
Stoclk-based compensation expel
(Gain) loss on sale of investmel
Loss on disposal of equipme
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat
License installment
Other current asse
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term assets and liabilitie
Cash flows provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of marketable securit
Matured and called marketable securi
Sale of marketable securiti
Payments for acquisitic
Investment in property and equipmi
Cash flows used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments under capital lease obliga
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Proceeds from sale of stock under Employee Stockhiase Plal
Excess tax benefits from stock optic
Dividend payments to sharehold:
Repurchase of common sta
Cash flows used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equi%
Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents, end of )

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid during the year fc

Interest expens

Income taxe:
Non-cash financing activity

Dividends payabli

Repurchases of common stock unset

Year ended December 31,

2008
$ 10,977

(3,47))
(3,806)
2,15¢
2,10¢
3,53:
(89)
08

3,121
16,59:
448

7,39¢
(947)

282
38,39¢

(194,479
91,70¢
93,85:

(79€)
(4,050)
(13,769

6,72(

265

3,471
(4,36¢)
(19,44
(13,359
(1,909
9,371
26,71(

$ 36,08

4,95¢

1,08(
37¢

©® A ©® &H

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2007
$ 6,59

(2,339
(169)
1,91z
28C
1,61¢
242

4

(13,93
11,79¢
1,05¢
5,20¢
16,11¢
(3,046)
25,34

(109,32))
78,01¢
9,15¢

(2,&95)
(24,84)

(63)
10,73¢
17¢
2,33¢
(4,307)
(9,13%)
(251)
452
702
26,00¢
$ 26,71

3,127

1,08t
56¢

©® A ©® &H

2006
$ 1,84:

(442)
(1,656)
1,812
30¢
1,46¢
164

4

(5,01
18,66¢
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) Business

The Company develops, markets, licenses, and stgpgpaftware to automate complex, changing busipessesses. The Company
provides implementation, consulting, training, aachnical support services to facilitate the usisodoftware.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
("U.S.”) requires management to make estimategwahginents that affect the reported amounts of ass@t liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitancial statements and the reported amounesvehues and expenses during the periods
presented. Actual results could differ from thoseneates. Significant accounts with reported amsbiaised on estimates and judgments
include revenue, trade and installment accountsivable, allowance for doubtful accounts, allowafwesales credit memos, deferred income
taxes, deferred revenue, and share-based compensati

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlo®ants of Pegasystems Inc. and its wholly ownégidiaries. All inter-company
accounts and transactions have been eliminateohisotidation.

(d) Presentation

The Company'’s revenue is derived from softwarenses, maintenance fees related to the Companyisareflicenses, and professional
services. Revenue from software licenses inclugesgtual and term license revenue and subscriptioenue. As of January 1, 2008, the
Company expanded the presentation of the servizentue and the associated cost of services lirthg ioonsolidated statements of income to
separately disclose the amounts related to maintenand professional services. Maintenance revisrausignificant portion of the Company’s
total revenue and is directly attributable to itstalled base of software licenses. Professiomalcgs revenue includes revenue from consulting
services and training. The Company believes sepdiatlosure of the maintenance revenue and tloeiassd direct costs is meaningful to
investors and provides an important measure o€trapany’s business performance. Previously repameadunts have been expanded to
conform to the current year presentation and havienpact on previously reported total revenue,ltotat of revenue or net income.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities of thenpany’s foreign subsidiaries is made at period@xghange rates, while revenue and
expense accounts are translated at the averagargehates during the period transactions occufieel resulting translation adjustments are
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive incdteealized and unrealized exchange gains or Idss@stransactions and adjustments are
reflected in foreign currency transaction (losshgan the accompanying consolidated statementscnime.

(b) Revenue recognition

The Company'’s revenue is derived from softwarenes, maintenance fees related to the Companyisaeflicenses, and professional
services. The Company’s license arrangements, whetholving a perpetual
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

license or a term license, generally contain midtgdements. In addition to the license, these etémgenerally include professional consulting
services, training, and software maintenance sesviRevenue from arrangements in which the fairesaf one or more undelivered elemen
unknown is deferred until the fair value of thotengents is known and the residual value of theneecan be determined.

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@nue when the software is delivered, any accepteaquired by contract that is not
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligati@rscontingencies exist related to the softwareeithan maintenance support, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable monthly basis under license agreements thatdilpihave a three to five-year term
and may be renewed for additional terms at theocust’s option.

As a result of the Company’s focus on frequentssadets targeted customers, the Company’s stratetgysell initial term licensing
agreements to those customers with the goal torgenfllow-on sales, and as a result of extendsanent terms, the Company recognizes
term license revenue over the term of the agreeasepayments become due or earlier if prepaid,igeavall other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met.

Historically, the majority of the Company’s termadnse arrangements were larger agreements withdedgayment terms that did not
typically result in follow-on license agreementfieTCompany has a history of successfully collegiiagments under the original payment
terms, therefore for these arrangements, the Coyripasrecognized the present value of the future lieense payments upon customer
acceptance, provided that no significant obligationcontingencies exist related to the softwafggrathan maintenance support, and provided
all other criteria for revenue recognition haverbeget. A portion of the license fees payable utdese agreements (equal to the difference
between the total license payments and the disedpresent value of those payments) was initiadfgided and recognized as installment
receivable interest income (and is not part ofl teteenue) over the license term. For purposeb@ptesent value calculations, the discount
rates used were estimates of customers’ borrovétegrat the time of recognition, typically belovinpe rate, and have varied between 3.25%
and 6.7% for the past few years.

For licensing arrangements that include a rightrtspecified future products, fees are accountedd@ubscriptions and the revenue is
recognized ratably over the economic life or teffrthe arrangement.

Maintenance revenues

Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognizeblyadaer the term of the support period. Perpeso#iivare maintenance revenue is
recognized over the term of the related maintenageceement, which is generally one year and ren@mexh annual basis thereafter. For term
licenses, we recognize the entire arrangementatably over the license term when the renewalaafegeriod is not substantive compared tc
term license. In general, maintenance and suptigadions are based on separately stated reneses in the arrangement that are deemed
substantive and therefore represent vendor spetifective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value.

Professional services revenues

The Company’s services revenue is comprised offfgesaining, and consulting services includindtaare implementation. Consulting
services may be provided on a “stand-alone” basizindled with a license and software maintenaeceices.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Revenue from training services and consulting ses/under time and materials contracts is recodrageservices are performed. The
Company has VSOE of fair value for our trainingviees, and consulting services under time and niadgéezontracts.

Services may be provided on a fixed-price basie. Company does not have VSOE of fair value fordipeice services prior to
completion of the services. When fixed-price sagsiare part of a multiple element arrangementlamdervices are not essential to the
functionality of the software, and when serviceduding maintenance, are the only undelivered efgéntee Company recognizes the revenue
from the total arrangement ratably over the lorgfeéhe software maintenance period or the servig@g. In a limited number of the
Company’s arrangements, the fixed-price serviceeasential to the arrangement because the Compakgs significant alterations to the
functionality of the software or builds complexérfaces necessary for the software to be functiontéle customer’s environment. The
Company has not been able to make reasonably daiplenestimates for the purpose of determining thie@ny’s progress to completion, as
the Company has limited experience with these tgbemique and complex arrangements. Accordinglyemvthe fixed-price services are
essential to the arrangement, all revenue and aostdeferred until the completion of the fixedeprservices under the completed contract
method. Revenue from fixed-price services thanatebundled with a software license is generalbpgmized as performed during the service
period, which is typically less than four months.

The Company warrants to its customers that itsxgo#t products will conform to documented specifarzg. The Company has not
experienced significant claims related to softwaagranties beyond the scope of maintenance suppbith it is already obligated to provide,
and consequently it has not established reservegdioanty obligations.

The Company’s agreements with customers genesdjyire it to indemnify the customer against clathet the Company’s software
infringes third party patent, copyright, trademarlother proprietary rights. Such indemnificatidsligations are generally limited in a variety
of industry-standard respects, including the Comfzarght to replace an infringing product. As oé€ember 31, 2008, the Company had not
experienced any material losses related to thekrinification obligations and no claims with regpgbereto were outstanding. The Company
does not expect significant claims related to thiedemnification obligations, and consequently, @@mpany has not established any related
reserves.

Deferred project costs

The Company defers direct costs when a projeaiisgoaccounted for under the completed contrachatkeor for certain arrangements
where all of the required revenue recognition ddatbave not been met. The Company reports thefgerde project costs in other current
assets.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resatisn customer specific acceptance provisions ahdrarrangements for which all of
the criteria to recognize revenue have not been Deferred maintenance revenue represents softigarse updates and product support
contracts that are typically billed on a per anrhasis in advance and are recognized ratably oeesupport periods. Deferred professional
services revenue represents prepayments for corgsattd education services that are recognizedeasdrvices are performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance for ales credit memos

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaaots for estimated losses resulting from the litgtif the Company’s customers
to make required payments. The Company’s estinstebased on the composition
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

of the accounts receivable aging, historical bautsjechanges in payment patterns, customer creditimess and current economic trends. If
the Company used different assumptions, or if ifenfcial condition of customers were to deterioragulting in their inability to make
required payments, additional provisions for doulbdiccounts would be required and would increaskdedt expense.

The Company records allowances for estimates @niatl sales credit memos. The Company bases éstiggates on historical analyses
of sales credit memos and assumptions about fetteets and experience with customer disputeselCthmpany used different assumption
calculating the allowance, adjustments would bkecéfd as changes to revenue.

(c) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digpiiat and amortization are computed using thegiitdine method over the estimat
useful lives of the assets, which are three yaaredquipment, including software, and five yearsféwniture and fixtures. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser ofitbh@1 the lease or the useful life of the assefp&rs and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Company capitalizes and amortizes costs assdaidth computer software developed or purchaeeéhfernal use in accordance
with AICPA Statement of Position 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Depell or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 98-
1"). The Company amortizes capitalized softwaraxgsnerally over three years commencing on the tthet software is placed into service.
During 2008 and 2007, the Company did not capitadimy costs for computer software developed ferival use. During 2006, the Company
capitalized costs totaling $0.4 million for compuseftware developed for internal use.

(d) Long-lived assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets foaimpent whenever events or changes in circumstandeaste that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. impat is generally assessed by comparison of ungiiged cash flows expected to be
generated by an asset to its carrying value, Wigheixception that goodwill impairment is assessedde of a fair value model at a reporting
unit level. If such assets are considered to baired, the impairment to be recognized is meashydtie amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Thepgaomperformed the annual impairment test in thetfoquarters of 2008 and 2007 and
determined that goodwill was not impaired.

(e) Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs, other than ced#imare related costs, are expensed as incurggatallzation of computer software
developed for resale is accounted for in accordaitteFinancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASEtatement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86 “Accounting for the CostsComputer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or OtisrwWlarketed” (“SFAS 86").
Accordingly, capitalization of software costs begipon the establishment of technical feasibifignerally demonstrated by a working model
or an operative version of the computer softwaoelpct. Such costs have not been material to dakrheological feasibility is established
within a short timeframe from the softwagsejeneral availability and, as a result, no intecoats were capitalized during 2008, 2007, and2
Amortization of capitalized software is includedtive cost of software license. No amortization exgaefor internally developed capitalized
software costs was charged to cost of softwarasieeluring 2008, 2007, and 2006.

(f) Stock-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Rayh{*SFAS 123(R)"), the Company recognizes stbelsed compensation
expense associated with equity awards in its cafeteld statements of income based
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on the fair value of these awards at the date ariitgiThe Company adopted the provisions of SFA§RR8n January 1, 2006 using the
modified prospective method, and, accordingly pperiod amounts were not restated. Stock-based @asagion is recognized over the
requisite service period, which is generally thstirg period of the equity award, and adjusted gefod for anticipated forfeitures. The
Company recognizes stock-based compensation usgngtable method, which treats each vesting teashf it were an individual grant.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtissing the Black-Scholes option valuation modgich requires management to
make estimates of key assumptions including theebeg term of the option, the expected volatilityhe Company’s stock price over the
option’s expected term, the risk-free interest mter the option’s expected term, and the expeatedial dividend yield. The expected term of
options granted is derived from historical dateearployee exercises and pesisting employment termination behavior. The expaeblatility
is based on the historical volatility of our stquce. The expected annual dividend yield is basethe expected annual dividend of $0.12 per
share divided by the average stock price. Thefris&interest rate is based on the yield of zergpoo U.S. Treasury securities for a period that
is commensurate with the expected option termeatithe of grant.

(g) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held consistagh equivalents, marketable securities, accaantivable, accounts payable, and
license installment receivables arising from lieetransactions.

The carrying values of cash equivalents, marketsdétarrities, accounts receivable, accounts payaduldicense installment receivables
approximate their fair value. See Note 4 “Cash,Rdtable Securities, And Fair Value Measurementsfdather discussion.

(h) Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SRAS109, “Accounting for Income Taxéq“SFAS 109”), which requires that
deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognizdguenacted tax rates for the effect of tempodiffgrences between the book and tax bases of
recorded assets and liabilities. We record a valnatilowance to reduce our deferred taxes to aouatrwe believe is more likely than not to
be realized. We consider future taxable income@ndent and feasible tax planning strategies iessisg the need for a valuation allowance.

As a global company, we use significant judgmerdaiculate and provide for income taxes in eactheftax jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the ordinary course of our businegsethre transactions and calculations undertak@sevhltimate tax outcome cannot be certain.
Some of these uncertainties arise as a conseqoétre@sactions and arrangements made among rglatéds, transfer pricing for transactis
with our subsidiaries, and potential challengesdarus and credit estimates. We estimate our expdsurnfavorable outcomes related to these
uncertainties and estimate the probability for sogttomes in accordance with the provisions of FA@Brpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretatiofrASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), which we adogten January 1, 2007. See Note 15
“Income Taxes” for further information on the impadé FIN 48 on our consolidated financial statensent

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In November 2008 the FASB ratified Emerging IssaskrForce (“EITF”) Issue No. 08-7, “Accounting defensive Intangible
Assets,” (“EITF 08-7"). EITF 08 applies to defensive intangible assets, whictaageired intangible assets that the acquirer doestend t
actively use but intends to hold to prevent its petitors from obtaining access to them. As thesetasare separately identifiable, EITF 08-7
requires an
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acquiring entity to account for defensive intangibksets as a separate unit of accounting, whakidbe amortized to expense over the pe
the asset diminished in value. Defensive intangiisigets must be recognized at fair value in acoosdwith SFAS No. 141 (Revised),
“Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”) and “FaiaMe Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). EITF 08-7 is efffiex for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December2088. The impact of EITF 08-7 on our consoliddtedncial statements will depend upon
the nature, terms and size of the intangible assatsmay be purchased or acquired after Janu&2909.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15ASSE57 defines fair value, establishes a framevamidk gives guidance regarding
the methods used for measuring fair value, andredgdisclosures about fair value measurements. IB&XSs effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning &fterember 15, 2007, and interim periods of thoseafigears. In February 2008, the FASB
released a FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2Efective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” whicllays the effective date of SFAS
157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancabilities, except those that are recognized orakgd at fair value in the financial statements
on a recurring basis (at least annually) to figesrs beginning after November 15, 2008. In Oct@@8, the FASB released FSP FAS 157-3
“ Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset Wilge Market for That Asset Is Not Active”, whiclafies the application of SFAS 157
as it relates to the valuation of financial asget market that is not active for those finaneissets. This FSP is effective immediately and
includes those periods for which financial statetaérave not been issued. We currently do not haydiaancial assets that are valued using
inactive markets, and as such are not impactetidoyssuance of this FSP. The partial adoption &ESSES7 on January 1, 2008 for financial
assets and liabilities did not have a material ichpa the Company’s consolidated financial statesierhe Company is currently assessing the
impact of the deferred portion of the pronouncem8&gt Note 4 “Cash, Marketable Securities, And Yalue Measurements” for further
discussion of the impact of SFAS 157.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (R).SSEAL(R) changes the accounting for business catibins including the
measurement of acquirer shares issued in consigiefatr a business combination, the recognitiosaftingent consideration, the accounting
for preacquisition gain and loss contingencies rédoagnition of capitalized in-process researcha@aklopment, the accounting for
acquisition-related restructuring cost accruals,ttkatment of acquisition related transactions;astd the recognition of changes in the
acquirer’'s income tax valuation allowance. SFAS(R}pplies prospectively to business combinatfonsvhich the acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual reportiregipd beginning on or after December 15, 2008, pixfte certain tax adjustments for prior
business combinations. Accordingly, the Company adbpt this statement on January 1, 2009. The ¢tmfaSFAS 141(R) on our
consolidated financial statements will depend ugnennature, terms and size of any business conidintitat may be entered into after
January 1, 2009.
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4. CASH, MARKETABLE SECURITIES, AND FAIR VALUE MEAS UREMENTS

(in thousands) December 31, 2008
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 25,57¢ $ — $ — $ 25,57¢
Money market mutual func 10,51: — — 10,51:
Cash and cash equivalel 36,08 — — 36,08’
Marketable securitiet
Municipal bonds 119,84 1,05¢ (©)] 120,89t
Government sponsored enterpri 5,99¢ 19 — 6,01¢
Corporate bond 4,23( 18 (20) 4,22¢
Marketable securitie 130,07: 1,09: (23) 131,14:
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable sect $166,15¢ $ 1,09: $ (23 $167,22¢
(in thousands) December 31, 200
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 17,68( $ — $ — $ 17,68(
Money market mutual func 9,03( — — 9,03(
Cash and cash equivalel 26,71( — — 26,71(
Marketable securitie:
Government sponsored enterpri 53,30: 94 (15) 53,38:
Corporate bond 68,53¢ 12C (297) 68,46¢
Municipal bonds 90¢ 3 — 91z
Foreign bond: 507 2 — 50¢
Marketable securitie 123,25¢ 21¢ (20€) 123,27:
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable sect $149,96¢ $ 21¢ $  (20¢€) $149,98:

The Company considers debt securities with maésrivf three months or less when purchased, todyearguivalents. Purchases and ¢
of securities are recorded on a settlement-datis.dagerest is recorded when earned. All of thenany’s investments are classified as
available-for-sale and are carried at fair valuthwinrealized gains and losses recorded as a campohaccumulated other comprehensive
income. The Company determines the appropriatsifitzgtion of its investments in debt securitiesheg time of purchase and esaluates suc
determination at each balance sheet date. The Guorisgavestments in government sponsored enterpitsgude debt securities that may not
be backed by the full faith and credit of the US®vernment. As of December 31, 2008, remaining ritags of marketable debt securities
ranged from February 2009 to July 2011. As of Ddoem31, 2007, remaining maturities of marketablet decurities ranged from January
2008 to October 2010. Proceeds from available-&e-securities that were sold, matured or callethdl2008 were $185.6 million with gross
realized gains of $0.3 million and $0.2 million gsarealized losses. Proceeds from available-ferseturities that were sold, matured or called
during 2007 were $87.2 million with gross realizesises of $0.2 million and no gross realized gdtneceeds from available-fegle securitie
that matured or were called during 2006 were $8&fllfon with gross realized losses of $0.2 milliand no gross realized gains. Specific
identification of the individual securities was dde determine the basis on which the gain or\eas calculated.

52



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesnd fair value of the Company’s investmentd) witrealized losses that are not

deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggpesd by investment category and length of timeittdividual securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position as of Decer3the2008.

(in thousands) Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Description of Securities Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Municipal bonds $4,16¢ $ (3 $— $ — $4,164 $ (3)
Corporate bond 98C (20 — — 98C (20
Totals $5,14¢ $ (23 $— $ — $5,14¢ $ (29

The Company analyzes its investments for impairsmentan ongoing basis. Factors considered in datergwhether a loss is
temporary include the length of time and extenwhich the securities have been in an unrealizesiposition and the Company’s ability and
intent to hold the investment for a period of timficient to allow for any anticipated market reeoy. The Company has the ability and intent
to hold the investments with unrealized lossed anticipated recovery of fair value, which mayrbaturity. Therefore, the Company does not
consider these investments to be other-than-tempoirapaired as of December 31, 2008.

Fair Value Measurements

SFAS 157 clarifies that fair value is an exit pricgpresenting the amount that would be receiveh fthe sale of an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants. As such, fair value isaaket-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market geattits would use in pricing an asset or liabilitg. &basis for considering such assumptions,
SFAS 157 establishes a three-tier value hieranghich prioritizes the inputs used in measuring Vailue as follows: (Level 1) observable
inputs such as quoted prices in active marketsyl2) inputs other than the quoted prices in actharkets that are observable either directly
or indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputsihich there is little or no market data, whichuigs the Company to develop its own
assumptions. This hierarchy requires the Compamgéoobservable market data, when available, andrtionize the use of unobservable
inputs when determining fair value. On a recurtiragis, the Company measures certain financialsaasetliabilities at fair value, including 1
Company’s marketable securities.

The Company’s investments are classified withindlelvor Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy becatlssy are valued using quoted
market prices, or broker dealer quotations andirmpticing compiled by third party pricing vendorsspectively, which are based on third
party pricing sources with reasonable levels afgtransparency.
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The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s marketad@dcurities at fair value in connection with odojgtion of SFAS 157 is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
December 31 Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Cash equivalent $ 10,51: $ 10,51¢ $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 120,89¢ $ 36,77¢ $ 84,12(
Government sponsored enterpri 6,01¢ 3,007 3,011
Corporate bond 4,22¢ 4,22¢ —
Total marketable securitie $ 131,14: $ 44,01! $ 87,13:

5. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCES

Trade accounts receivable balances, which conisistied and unbilled amounts, were $42.8 milliarde$45.9 million as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Tradewets receivable includes $6.4 million and $4.liarilas of December 31, 2008 and 2(
respectively, for services earned under time aniergh arrangements that had not been invoiceldeaéhd of the respective period. The
Company maintains allowances for doubtful accobatsed on factors such as the composition of acsoeneivable, historical bad debts,
changes in payment patterns, customer creditwa#isiand current economic trends. These estimaesiprsted periodically to reflect
changes in facts and circumstances. The Compatgisance for doubtful accounts was $0.4 milliorDegcember 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

The Company also records allowances for estimdtpstential sales credit memos when the relatedmeg is recorded and reviews
those allowances periodically. The Company basesktlestimates on historical analyses of salesteresinos, and assumptions about future
events and experience with customer disputes. Tmep@ny’s allowance for sales credit memos was #illion as of December 31, 2008,
$1.0 million as of December 31, 2007 and $1.2 orillas of December 31, 2006. The following refl¢laesactivity of the allowance for sales
credit memos for each of three years ended DeceBiber

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Balance at beginning of ye $ 98¢ $1,23¢ $ 47C
Provision for credit memc 1,771 1,16(C 2,37t
Credit memos issue 1,63¢) (1,417 (1,607)
Balance at end of peric $1,12¢ $ 98¢ $1,23¢
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6. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Other currents assets consist of the following:

December 31 December 31
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Deferred cost of service $ = $ 1,022
Interest receivable 2,061 1,72¢
Income tax receivabl 514 1,30¢
Prepaid expense 83¢ 787
Reimbursable expens 227 71
Sales tax receivab 511 17¢&
Balance at the end of peri $ 4,151 $ 5,09

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
The cost and accumulated depreciation and amadizaf property and equipment consisted of theofeihg:

December 31 December 31

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Computer equipmet $ 5,79¢ $ 5,461
Computer software purchas 1,49t 2,27¢
Computer software developed for internal 721 721
Furniture and fixture 2,94¢ 2,42¢
Leasehold improvemen 3,62( 3,631
Equipment under capital leas 594 594
15,17¢ 15,10¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (9,459 (10,927
Property and equipment, net of accumulated degfeciand amortizatio $ 5,72 $ 4,182

Depreciation expense was approximately $1.7 millgi5 million, and $1.3 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2008, 2007, and
2006. Amortization expense was approximately $0Ibom, $0.5 million, and $0.4 million for the yemended December 31, 2008, 2007, and
2006.

8. ACQUISITIONS, GOODWILL, AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASS ETS

Goodwill represents the residual purchase price jpaa business combination after all identifiededs have been recorded. Goodwill is
not amortized, but is tested annually for impairttiencomparing estimated fair value to its carrysadue. The Company performed the annual
impairment test in the fourth quarters of 2008 2667 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.

On March 21, 2008, the Company acquired certaietass privately held Focus Technology Group, brtd a related entity (collectivel
“Focus”). Focus provides software products to taeking industry designed to detect and prevennfire fraud and money laundering. The
Company believes that the acquisition will extelmel Company’s software capabilities and frameworkb vespect to its anti-fraud and anti-
money laundering
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offerings to the Compang’customers. The initial consideration for the @itjan was approximately $0.8 million in cash, liding transactio
costs. In addition to the initial purchase consatien, up to approximately $2.1 million of contimjeonsideration may be due to the former
owners of Focus, based on the achievement of nggtaformance milestones and sales targets dunpegiad of 30 months from the
acquisition date. A majority of the contingent cidlesation will be accounted for as compensatioreesp, if earned. As a result of the purcl
price allocation, the Company recorded intangilsleets of $0.8 million, consisting of $0.5 milliohtechnology designs, $0.1 million of non-
compete agreements and $0.2 million of goodwillalihis deductible for tax purposes. No amount otiogent consideration was earned or
paid in 2008. The results of the operations of Bae included in the results of operations ofGbenpany from the date of acquisition and
were nominal.

The following table presents the change in they@agramount of goodwill:

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Balance as of January $1,93¢ $2,34¢
Goodwill acquired during the ye 20¢ —
Adjustments to goodwill balanc: — (413
Balance as of December : $2,141 $1,93¢

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company oedbits valuation allowance related to the reatradf $0.4 million of certain tax los
and credit carry forwards that we acquired fromrddCorporation (“1mind”gs part of our acquisition of that company in 200Rich resultec
in a corresponding reduction in goodwiill.

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and prilhciggoresent technology acquired in business caatimns or from third parties.
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line bamisr the assets’ estimated useful lives. The t@logy designs and non-compete agreements
are being amortized over their estimated usefekligf four and five years, respectively.

Amortized intangible assets consist of the follogvin

Accumulated Net Book
(in thousands) Cost Amortization Value
As of December 31, 200
Technology design $ 49C $ (95) $ 39t
Non-compete agreemer 10C (16) 84
Intellectual propert 1,40( $ (1,400 $ —
Total $1,99( $ (1,519 $ 47¢
As of December 31, 200
Intellectual propert $1,40( $ (1,400 $ —
Total $1,40( $ (1,400 $ —

Amortization expense for this acquired technologgign was $0.1 million, $0, and $29,000 for theryemded December 31, 2008, 2(
and 2006, respectively. Future estimated amortinakpense is, $0.1 million, $0.1 million, $0.1lroi, $47,000, and $4,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2&43ectively.
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9. RESTRICTED CASH

The Company has approximately $0.8 million of riegtd cash related to amounts deposited to sedetéea of credit for its Cambridge,
Massachusetts office operating lease and is indliéong-term other assets in the accompanyingalishated balance sheet.

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31 December 31
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Accrued income taxe $ 2,55¢ $ 3,62¢
Accrued other taxe 2,552 1,96¢
Dividends payabli 1,08( 1,08t
Repurchases of common stock unset 37¢ 56¢
Accrued othe 3,35¢ 3,157
Balance at the end of peri $ 9,92t $ 10,40¢

11. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

December 31 December 31
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Software licensi $ 12,74 $ 16,47¢
Maintenance 15,68¢ 13,33«
Professional services and otl 3,80: 3,36¢
Balance at the end of peris $ 32,23 $ 33,17¢

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2008, the Company did not haaterial commitments for capital or operating expemds other than a purchase
commitment for customer support services and opegréases. The purchase commitment for custongatiservices covers quality
assurance and engineering support for legacy s@tWwae Company’s principal administrative, satearketing, support, and research and
development operations are located in an approgirh@b,000 square foot leased facility in Cambriddassachusetts. The lease for this
facility expires in 2013, subject to the Companyfdion to extend for two additional five-year pe&tso The Company also leases space for its
other offices in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Intli@ United Kingdom and in other European coustrihese leases expire at various dates
through 2013.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s known cehied obligations, including future minimum renpalyments required under
operating leases with non-cancelable terms in axgksne year were as follows:

Operating
(in thousands) Purchase

For the calendar year Obligations Leases
2009 $ 2,411 $ 4,62¢
2010 13C 4,42(
2011 — 4,62¢
2012 — 4,78¢
2013 — 1,627

Net minimum obligation: $ 2,541 $20,08:
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Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadstaight-line basis to account for scheduled ircreases and a landlord tenant
allowance. The excess of expense over current pagngerecorded as deferred rent and includeddruad expenses and other long-term
liabilities. As of December 31, 2008, deferred rehapproximately $0.3 million was included in ased expenses and approximately $1.6
million was included in other long-term liabiliti@s the accompanying consolidated balance sheél Tent expense under operating leases
was approximately $5.3 million, $4.7 million, an8.% million, for the years ended December 31, 2@08,7, and 2006, respectively.

The Company is a party in various contractual dispuitigation and potential claims arising in threlinary course of business. The
Company does not believe that the resolution cfghmatters will have a material adverse effect®firiancial position or results of operatic
Accordingly, no material accruals have been madk@édCompany’s consolidated balance sheets refatedch contract disputes, litigation or
potential claims.

13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares d&rpeefstock, which may be issued from time to timene or more series. The Bo:
of Directors has the authority to issue the shafgseferred stock in one or more series, to estalthe number of shares to be included in each
series, and to fix the designation, powers, prefee and rights of the shares of each series anguidifications, limitations or restrictions
thereof, without any further vote or action by #teckholders. The issuance of preferred stock cdetalease the amount of earnings and asset:
available for distribution to holders of commoncitpand may have the effect of delaying, deferingefeating a change in control of the
Company. The Company had not issued any shareefgfrped stock through December 31, 2008.

(b) Common stock

The Company has 70,000,000 authorized shares ahoonstock, $0.01 par value per share, of whichBBEB60 shares were issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2008.

Since 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors hgsamed stock repurchase programs that have audbtie Company to repurchase
in the aggregate up to $60.0 million of its comnstock. Purchases under these programs may be readarket conditions warrant, subject to
regulatory and other considerations, from timdrteeton the open market or in privately negotiatadgactions.

The following table is a summary of the Companggurchase activity under all of the Company’s repase programs for the years
ended December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at Januarn $ 1,21( $ 6,872 $ 4,12¢
Authorizations 30,00( 10,00( 10,00(
Repurchases pa 1,503,55. (27,969 799,34 (9,137) 962,42 (6,819)
Repurchases unsettl 32,37¢ (379 48,01t (569) —
Expirations — (5,95%) (432
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 12,86 $ 1,21 $ 6,87-
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(c) Dividends

On May 30, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directggraved an ongoing quarterly cash dividend of $@&3share, beginning with the
second quarter ended June 30, 2006. AccordinglyCtimpany declared $0.12 per share, for the yealesdeDecember 31, 2008 and 2007,
$0.09 per share for the year ended December 385, 20@ paid cash dividends of $4.4 million, $4.3iom and $2.1 million for the years enc
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(d) Warrants summary

In October 2006 and November 2007, the Compang&8,686 shares and 1,306 shares of its commok, sespectively, in connection
with the exercise of warrants originally issuecag of the consideration for its acquisition ofithichin 2002. These warrants were exercise
former stockholders of 1mind. In accordance with iet exercise provisions of these warrants, thagamy withheld 259 shares and 102
shares of the Company’s common stock to coverxbecese price, which shares were valued at appratdiy $2,000 and $1,200, respectively,
based on the average closing price of the Compamytsmon stock over the ten consecutive trading éaging on the third trading day prior
to the exercise date.

In November 2007, the Company issued 5,815 shdiesa@mmon stock in connection with the exer@gereviously issued warrants to
International Business Machines Corporation (“IBMfY) accordance with the net exercise provisionthigfwarrant, the Company withheld
20,923 shares of the Company’s common stock tordbeeexercise price, which shares were valueg@toximately $0.3 million, based on
the average closing price of the Company’s comntocksover the five consecutive trading days endinghe day prior to the exercise date.

As of December 31, 2008, there were outstandingamés to purchase 11,045 shares of the Compangisnom stock with a fair value of
$4.50 per share and an exercise price of $0.85l@@e. These warrants expire in 2012.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In accordance with SFAS 123(R) and beginning oidgnl, 2006, the Company recognizes stock-basegeonsation expense
associated with equity awards in its consolidatatements of income based on the fair value ofetla@gards at the date of grant. The Comg
adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R) using theifremtprospective method, and, accordingly priorige amounts were not restated. Stock-
based compensation is recognized over the reqgisitéce period, which is generally the vestinggueof the equity award, and adjusted each
period for anticipated forfeitures. Under this apgrh, the Company is required to record compensatet for all share-based awards granted
after the date of adoption based on the grantfdatgalue, estimated in accordance with the priowis of SFAS 123(R), and for the unvested
portion of all share-based payments previously tghthat remain outstanding based on the grantfditealue, estimated in accordance with
the original provisions of SFAS 123. The majorifittee Company’s stock-based compensation arrangsment over either a four or five year
vesting schedule and have a ten-year term. The @oyngcognizes stock-based compensation usingthkle method, which treats each
vesting tranche as if it were an individual grant.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company’sibof Directors approved changes to its equitymemsation program, including the
granting of restricted stock units (“RSUSs") in atitath to stock options, for periodic equity compeimagrants. RSUs deliver to the recipient a
right to receive a specified number of shares ef@Gompany’s common stock upon vesting. Unlike stmutions, there is no cost to the
employee at share
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issuance. The Company values its RSUs at the dievof our common stock on the grant date, whidhé closing price of our common stock
on the grant date, less the present value of eggelividends, as the employee is not entitled valdnds during the requisite service period.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company’saRbof Directors also approved the election by @ygés to receive 50% of their
target incentive compensation under the Compangtp@ate Incentive Compensation Plan (the “CICR’thie form of RSUs instead of cash,
beginning with the CICP for 2008. If elected byeanployee, the equity amount will be equal in valuehe date of grant to 50% of his or her
target incentive opportunity, based on the empleydgnuary 2008 base salary. The number of RSUdeagtavill be determined by dividing
50% of the employee’s target incentive opportubifithe fair value of a RSU on the grant date. ét&dd, the equity grant will occur during the
open trading period following the release of thiempyear’s financial results and will vest 100%tbe CICP payout date of the following year
for all participants. Vesting is conditioned updametshold funding of the CICP and on continued emplent; if threshold funding does not
occur, the equity grant will expire. The Companyl vécognize the associated stock-based compensatjpense over the requisite service
period beginning on the grant date and ending ervéist date.

Upon vesting of the RSUs, the Company will withhskdires of common stock in an amount sufficieroteer its minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations and will issue shares sféommon stock for the remaining amount. The corsgon expense incurred by the
Company for RSUs is based on the closing markeemf the Company’s common stock on the date aftdess the future present value of
dividends and is amortized ratably on a straighe-basis over the requisite service period.

Beginning in December 2007, the Company beganrgspptions that allow for the settlement of vestextk options on a net share basis
(“net settled stock options”), instead of settlemeith a cash payment (“cash settled stock optipr#/ith net settled stock options, the
employee will not surrender any cash or shares epercise. Rather, the Company will withhold thenber of shares to cover the option
exercise price and the minimum statutory tax wittdimg obligations from the shares that would otheeabe issued upon exercise. The
employee receives the number of shares equal touimer of options being exercised less the nurobsiares necessary to satisfy the cost to
exercise the options and, if applicable, taxesatuexercise based on the fair value of the share a&xercise date. The settlement of vested
stock options on a net share basis will resuleimer shares issued by the Company. In 2008, thep@oynbegan offering certain employees
opportunity to modify and convert certain outstangdcash settled stock options to net settled stptions. These modifications did not result
in any additional compensation expense. During 20p8on holders net settled stock options reprisgihe right to purchase a total of
425,000 shares, of which only 152,000 were issaehd option holders and the balance of the shages surrendered to the Company to pay
for the exercise price and the applicable taxes.

Share-Based Compensation Plans:
(&) 1994 Long-term incentive plan

In 1994, the Company adopted a 1994 Long-Term lineeRlan (the “1994 Plan”) to provide employeeggbtors and consultants with
opportunities to purchase stock through incentigelsoptions and non-qualified stock options. Idiidn to options, participants under the
1994 Plan were eligible to receive stock appremiatights, restricted stock and long-term perforogaawards. The Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors (“Compensation Commitlegdministers the 1994 Plan. Generally, the exengige of options granted under the
plan was equal to the fair market value of the ullydey common stock on the date of grant. Optiorented under the 1994 Plan generally vest
over four years and expire no later than ten yfrars the date of grant. As of December 31, 2008pop to purchase an aggregate of
approximately 2,861,000 shares of common stock wetgtanding under the 1994 Plan. The Company doesitend to issue any additional
options or make any other awards under the 1994 iRlthe future.
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(b) 1996 Non-employee Director stock option plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 1996 Non-EmployeecRir Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), whiprovides for the grant to
non-employee Directors of the Company of optiongurchase shares of its common stock. Originatlg,Director Plan provided for the grant
to non-employee Directors on the date he or skebiezcame a Director of an option to purchase 80sb@res of common stock at a price equal
to the fair market value thereof on the date ohgrauch options to vest in equal annual instalbimener five years. In 1999, the Director Plan
was amended to provide for (i) the grant to momployee Directors on the date he or she firstineca Director of an option to purchase 30,
shares of common stock at a price per share eglaétfair market value thereof on the date of grsunch options to vest in equal annual
installments over three years and (ii) the grargaoh non-employee Director at the time of the leegueeting of the Board of Directors
following the annual meeting of stockholders (comgirg in 2000), of a fully vested option to purchd®,000 shares of common stock at a
price per share equal to the fair market valueetbfeon the date of grant. The Compensation Comenéteninisters the Director Plan. As of
December 31, 2008, options to purchase an aggrefjafgroximately 210,000 shares of common stodewetstanding under the Director
Plan. The Company does not intend to issue anytiaddi options under the Director Plan in the fetur

(c) 1996 Employee stock purchase plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 1996 Employee Rackhase Plan (the “1996 Stock Purchase Plan”upntgo which its employees
were entitled to purchase up to an aggregate 601000 shares of common stock at a price equalktdéesser of 85% of the fair market valu
the Company’s common stock on either the commennedae or completion date for offerings underpta. During 2005, the Company
amended the 1996 Stock Purchase Plan to providefdh@ach offering period beginning on May 1, 3@ later, employees are entitled to
purchase shares of common stock at a price eq@&ltoof the fair market value on the completioredztthe offering period. As of
December 31, 2008, approximately 800,000 sharedéen issued thereunder. The 1996 Stock Purchasésax qualified and as of
December 31, 2008 no compensation expense retattthtes issued under the plan had been recognizédancial statement purposes. The
1996 Stock Purchase Plan was terminated on Novei(&£06.

(d) 2004 Long-term incentive plan

In 2004, the Company adopted a 2004 Long-Term linceiPlan (the “2004 Plan”) to provide employeesntemployee Directors and
consultants with opportunities to purchase stoctittgh incentive stock options and non-qualifiectktoptions. In addition to options, eligible
participants under the 2004 Plan may be grantezk gtorchase rights and other stock-based awardef Becember 31, 2008, a total of
7,000,000 shares of common stock had been autkdanizéer the 2004 Plan and approximately 3,588,880es were subject to outstanding
options and stock-based awards. Beginning in J006,2ach member of the Company’s Board of Direcfexcept the Company’s Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer) is entitled to recetrean annual basis a number of shares of unrestr@tommon stock equal to $55,000 divided
by the fair market value of its common stock onghent date. The Compensation Committee adminiter2004 Plan. Generally, the exerc
price of options granted under the plan is equéhéofair market value of the underlying commorckton the date of grant. Options granted
under the 2004 Plan generally vest over five yaatsexpire no later than ten years from the dagranit.

(e) 2006 Employee stock purchase plan

In 2006, the Company adopted a 2006 Employee Frackhase Plan (the “2006 Stock Purchase Plan”ypatgo which the Company’s
employees are entitled to purchase up to an aggre§®00,000 shares of common stock at a pricaldquB5% of the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on either the
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commencement date or completion date for offerimgder the plan, whichever is less, or such higheems the Company’s Board of
Directors may establish from time to time. UntiétBompanys Board of Directors determines otherwise, the Bdes set the purchase prict
95% of the fair market value on the completion d#dtthe offering period. As a result, the 2006 8tBarchase Plan is nhamempensatory und
SFAS 123(R) and is tax qualified. Therefore as e€@mber 31, 2008, no compensation expense retasfthtes issued under the plan had
recognized for financial statement purposes. Tis differing period under the 2006 Stock Purchdaa Began November 1, 2006. As of
December 31, 2008, approximately 42,000 sharebbad issued thereunder.

Shares reserved

As of December 31, 2008, there were approximatg$y 2,000 shares available for future issuance uthde€ompany’s stock plans,
consisting of approximately 1,959,000 shares utitee2004 Plan and approximately 458,000 sharesrihde®006 Stock Purchase Plan. There
were no shares available for future issuance uti#et994 Plan, the Director Plan or the 1996 Skisichase Plan.

Equity grants, Assumptions and Activity

The Company periodically grants stock options aBdJR for a fixed number of shares to employees andemployee Directors. The
exercise price for stock options is greater thaaqural to the fair market value of the shareseatthte of the grant. In July 2007 and May 2008,
the Company granted unrestricted common stock talmees of its Board of Directors (other than the @any’s Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) in lieu of the annual stock aptigrant historically made. The following table ggats the stockased compensation expel
included in the Company’s consolidated statemehitscome for 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
(in thousands, except per share amount: December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C
Stoclk-based compensation exper
Cost of service $ 99t $ 49C $ 28€
Selling and marketin 807 43€ 52C
Research and developm 53¢ 13C 13t
General and administrati\ 1,191 562 527
Total stocl-based compensation before 3,532 1,61¢ 1,46¢
Income tax benef (1,090 (430 (520
Net stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,44z $ 1,18¢ $ 94¢

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes option valuation model Kguts used to estimate the fair
value of stock options include the exercise pricthe award, the expected term of the option, #peeted volatility of the Company’commor
stock over the option’s expected term, the risle-freerest rate over the option’s expected terrd,the Company’s expected annual dividend
yield. The amount of sto-based compensation recognized during a periodsedon the value of the portion of the awardsataultimately
expected to vest. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeittmdse estimated at the time of grant and revidatkdessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Basedhanreview of historical forfeiture data for the Quany’s employees, an annual forfeiture rate
of 5-20% has been applied and is re-evaluated djudted as necessary. Ultimately, the Company rézeg the actual expense over the
vesting period only for the shares that vest. Teahted average grant date fair value for stoclooptgranted in 2008, 2007, and 2006 was
$4.75, $5.44, and $5.20 per share, respectively.
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The weighted-average assumptions used in the B3abloles option valuation model are as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C
Expected volatility (1 46% 53% 75%
Expected term in years ( 5.9 5.€ 6.1
Risk-free interest rate (¢ 2.3t% 4.02% 4.81%

Expected annual dividend yield ( 1.07% 1.1% 97%

(1)
(@)
3)
(4)

The expected volatility for each grant is detiered based on the average of historical weeklgepthanges of the Company’s common
stock over a period of time which approximatesdkpected option tern

The expected option term for each grant is detegthivased on the historical exercise behavior ofl@yeps and po-vesting
employment termination behavic

The risl-free interest rate is based on the yield of -coupon U.S. Treasury securities for a period thabmmensurate with the expec
option term at the time of grar

The expected annual dividend yield is basetherweightedaverage of the dividend yield assumptions useotions granted during t
applicable period. In July 2006, the Company bgumying an on-going quarterly cash dividend of $@8Bshare of common stock. The
expected annual dividend yield for the year endeddinber 31, 2008 is based on the expected divioe$d.12 per share, per year ($(
per share, per quarter times 4 quarters) dividethéyverage stock price. The expected annualatiddield for the year ended
December 31, 2006 includes the weighted averagadtrgf expected dividends beginning July 2(

SFAS 123(R) provides that for the purposes of datimg the pool of excess tax benefits (“APIC pgpthe Company should include the

net excess tax benefits that would have qualifeed the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) from inceplibe. FASB issued FSP 123(R)-3
“Transition Election Related to Accounting for thax Effect of Share-Based Payment Awards” (“FSP(R23"), which provides an
alternative transition method to calculate the beiig pool of excess tax benefits. The Companytedetm adopt the alternative transition
method (“short cut method”) in calculating theistioirical APIC pool of windfall tax benefits in ragia to its share-based compensation.
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The following table summarizes the combined stqutkom activity under the Company’s stock optionngddor the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006:

Weighted-
Cash settlec Weighted- average Aggregate
Net settled option: average remaining intrinsic
options (in exercise contractual value
thousands) (in thousands) price term (in years) (in thousands
Options outstanding as of January 1, 2 9,72¢ = $ 7.8¢€ 6.0z
Granted 49C — 8.11
Exercisec (640) — 5.4¢€
Forfeited/expirec (1,149 — 8.7C
Options outstanding as of December 31,
2006 8,43¢ — 7.94 5.6 $ 24,65¢
Granted 28t 40¢ 11.3¢
Exercisec (1,679 — 6.3¢
Forfeited/expirec (219 — 10.0:
Options outstanding as of December 31,
2007 6,82¢ 40¢ 8.57 5.0¢€ $ 30,02¢
Granted — 551 11.3¢
Modified (cash settled to net settle (4,594 4,59/ 6.54
Exercisec (931) (42%) 7.1C
Cancellec (101 (83 9.9¢
Options outstanding as of December 31,
2008 1,202 5,04¢ $ 9.0¢ 4.717 $ 24,06!
Weighted-average exercise price, as of
December 31, 200 $ 9.54 $ 8.9¢
Vested and expected to vest a:
December 31, 200 1,07¢ 4,59¢ $ 8.9: 4.37 $ 23,22!
Weighted-average exercise price of optic
vested and expected to vest, as of
December 31, 200 $ 957 $ 8.7¢
Exercisable as of December 31, 2! 964 4,071 $ 8.6¢ 3.8C $ 22,37
Weighte-average exercise price of optic
exercisable, as of December 31, 2 $ 9.5¢ $ 8.47

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options eised (i.e., the difference between the marketepaicexercise and the price paid by the
employee at exercise) during the years ended Deze&ih 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $7.6 million, $7ilbon, and $1.6 million, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options tamtding and exercisable as of December 31, 2008sed on the difference between the
closing price of the Company'’s stock of $12.36 @t&mber 31, 2008 and the exercise price of thecafbé stock options.
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As of December 31, 2008, the Company had unrecedrizmpensation expense related to the unvestédpof stock options of
approximately $2.1 million that is expected to beagnized as expense over a weighted-average peragproximately 2.0 years.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased payment arrangements for the year endechibece31, 2008 was $6.7 million.
The actual tax benefit for the tax deductions fistntk option exercises for year ended Decembe2@®18 totaled $3.5 million.

The following table summarizes the combined RSWagtfor periodic grants and the CICP under th®2®lan for the year ended
December 31, 2008. In 2007, the Company grantecbapately 204,000 RSUs to certain employees wittegghted-average grant date fair
value of $11.71.

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Aggregate
Grant Date Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Contractual Value
(in thousands Fair Value Term (in years) (in thousands
Nonvested at January 1, 20 204 $ 11.71
Granted 271 11.2¢
Vested (37 11.71
Forfeited (26) 11.4(
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 412 $ 11.4] 2.0¢€ $ 4,961
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 251 $ 11.2¢ 1.6z $ 3,02i

The RSUs associated with periodic grants vest fiveryears with 20% vesting after one year andrémeaining 80% vesting in equal
quarterly installments over the remaining four gedihe RSUs granted in connection with the 2008R0MII vest 100% on March 13, 2009,
the CICP payout date. The Company expenses itk-bimsed compensation under the ratable methodhvitéats each vesting tranche as if it
were an individual grant. As of December 31, 2@88,Company had approximately $2.0 million of umigrtized compensation cost related to
all unvested RSUs that is expected to be recogriagezkpense over a weighted-average period oféafsy

15. INCOME TAXES
The components of income before provision (benéditjincome taxes are as follows for the years dridecember 31:

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Domestic $13,22.  $8,34:  $ (649

Foreign 2,451 1,59¢ 1,83(
Total $15,67:  $9,94:  $1,187
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The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes are as follows for the years ended DeceBtiber

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Current:
Federal $ 6,947 $2,281 $ 42z
State 647 35C 187
Foreign 907 87¢ 393
Total current 8,501 3,51( 1,002
Deferred:
Federal (2,657) 582 (1,329
State (1,067) (699) (423
Foreign (92 (46) 94
Total deferrec (3,806 (163) (1,6579)
Total provision (benefit $ 4,69t $3,34 $ (65

The effective income tax rate differed from thetgiary federal income tax rate due to the following

2008 2007 2006
Statutory federal income tax re 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit andtedits (1.4 (2.9 (24.1)
Permanent difference 2.7 3.8 14.2
Extraterritorial income exclusion and domestic prottbn activities (3.9 (3.2 (59.1)
Federal research and experimentation cre (4.9 (4.€) (20.5)
Tax effects of foreign activitie (1.6 (0.9 (24.9)
Changes in deferred tax liabiliti — — 7.4
Tax-exempt incomt (3.9 — —
Provision to return adjustmer 0.3 1kt 1.7
Tax exposure resern 8.3 1.6 13.7
Valuation allowanct (2.3 1.C 0.¢
Other 02 2L (0
Effective income tax rat 30.0% 33.7% (55.9%

The difference in the Company’s effective fedeaad tate for 2008 as compared to the statutorywateprimarily the result of changes to
the following tax provision items: domestic prodontactivities, tax-exempt income, and federal stade credits, all of which reduced the
Company’s effective tax rate. These decrease=xindte were offset by permanent differences forisrmad entertainment and an increase in
the Company’s reserve for uncertain tax posititims,majority of which is related to state income t¢eedits.

The Company has recorded a FIN 48 liability foren&in tax matters, both domestic and foreign, witidelieves could result in
additional tax being due. Any additions or reduasido the FIN 48 liability will be reflected in tli@ompany’s effective tax rate in the period
that additional facts become known.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeEtemporary differences between the carrying am@ohfssets and liabilities for

financial reporting purposes and the amounts useth€ome tax purposes. Significant componentsbfleferred tax assets and liabilities are
as follows:

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Software revenu $ 1,99( $ 30€
Depreciatior 487 872
Accruals and reserve 5,25k 3,58¢
Unrealized loss on investmet @) (5)
Intangibles 27 —
Tax credit carry forward 3,70( 3,40z
Net deferred tax asse 11,45: 8,15¢
Less valuation allowanct — (204)
Net deferred income tax $11,45: $7,95¢

Reported as
Current deferred tax asset, included in other cirmsset: $ 4,351 $2,14¢
Long-term deferred income tax ass 7,101 5,807
Net deferred income tax $11,45: $7,95¢

A valuation allowance has been provided for certegferred tax assets when it is more likely thantinat the Company will not realize
the entire benefit of the assets. The $0.2 mildearease in the valuation allowance during 2008pwasarily due to realization of benefits
related to capital losses. The $0.6 million deaéaghe valuation allowance during 2007 was prily@ue to realization of approximately $!
million of tax benefits generated on the exercisstack options, which were recorded directly toigg and the realization of approximately
$0.4 million of certain tax loss and credit caroyvfards that were acquired in the 1mind acquisitind were recorded as a reduction to
goodwill. These decreases were offset by an inergathe valuation allowance of $0.1 million dueatiditional capital loss carry forwards in
the period.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had avai®®lé million of state tax research and experimémgt'R&E") and investment tax
credits expiring in the years 2011 through 2023.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreignssdilaries amounted to approximately $9.8 millioroa®ecember 31, 2008. The
Company has not provided any additional federatate income taxes or foreign withholding taxeshenundistributed earnings as such
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in thgress as defined in the provisions of SFAS 108ekas Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 23 “Accounting for Income Taxes — S@¢direas” (“APB 23").

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 oudgnl, 2007. As a result, the Company recordedtineulative effect of applying
the provisions of FIN 48 and recorded a $1.5 millieduction to the January 1, 2007 retained easning
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending bakshof the total amounts of gross unrecognized ¢grefits is as follows:

(in thousands) 2008

Balance as of January 1, 2C $9,82¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 45C
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 86C
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: (4,939
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 6,201

Included in the balance as of December 31, 200822 million of tax positions for which the ultiteasettlement is highly certain but-
which there is uncertainty about the timing of sdelductibility. Due to the impact of deferred tacaunting, other than interest and penalties,
a change in the income recognition period wouldaifatct the annual effective tax rate but wouldede@te the payment of cash to the tax
authority to an earlier period.

As of December 31, 2008, the total amount of urgatzed tax benefits totaled approximately $6.2iomill of which $5.2 million, if
recognized, would favorably affect our effectivg tate in any future period. The Company expedstie changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months would beragpmately $1.3 million related to tax positions fehich the ultimate settlement is highly
certain but for which there is uncertainty abowt timing of such recognition. The Company expeztsettle its income tax audit with the UK,
as discussed further below, in the next twelve mm®but is uncertain as to the amount.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiescktatuncertain tax positions in income tax expehsethe year ended December 31,
2008, the Company recognized approximately $1.Hanibf interest expense and $0.1 million of peealtelated to the $6.2 million uncertain
tax positions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal and state jurisdictions and foreign jurisdics. Generally, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal, state, or locafpoeign income tax examinations by tax authorif@sthe years before 2001. Currently, the
Company is under examination in the UK for theytaars 2001 through 2004. With few exceptions, thaute of limitations remains open in
other jurisdictions for the tax years 2005 to thespnt.

The Company reported in its reconciliation of groesertain tax benefits a $4.9 million reductiorunrecognized tax benefits for the y
ended December 31, 2008. The reduction relatesxtpdsitions for which the ultimate settlementighly certain but for which there is
uncertainty about the timing of such recognitiohisTreduction does not affect the annual effedi@xerate. The gross reduction reported in the
current period reflects a change in managemendgment as to the timing of recognition of such samaccordance with FIN 48 and an
increase in the estimated amounts to be recogsined the close of the prior reporting period.
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed using thehtedlgaverage number of common shares outstandimggdihe period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed using the weightethge number of common shares outstanding dunmg@ériod, plus the dilutive effect of
outstanding options, warrants and RSUs, usingrdastiry stock method and the average market pficera&common stock during the
applicable period. Certain shares related to soneeiooutstanding stock options, warrants, and R@eke excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share because they were duitiive in the periods presented, but could betditiin the future.

(in thousands, except per share data) Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Basic
Net income $10,971 $ 6,59¢ $ 1,84:
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 36,14¢ 35,87¢ 35,22¢
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.3C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0
Diluted
Net income $10,971 $ 6,59¢ $ 1,840
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 36,14¢ 35,87¢ 35,22¢
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options, wasrand RSU: 1,45¢ 1,565¢ 1,90¢
Weighte-average common shares outstanding, assuming dhi 37,60¢ 37,43: 37,13¢
Earnings per share, dilut $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0t
Outstanding options, warrants and RSUs excludeahpact would be ar-dilutive 1,52: 1,121 2,971

17. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company currently operates in one operatingneeg— rules based Business Process Managemen¥()Bsdftware. The Compal
derives substantially all of its operating revefroen the sale and support of one group of simitadpcts and services. Substantially all of the
Company’s assets are located within the U.S. Thegamy derived its operating revenue from the follmngeographic areas (sales outside the
U.S. are principally through export from the U f81)the years ended December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

U.S. $131,25( 62%  $104,95: 65% $ 79,90: 63%
United Kingdom 40,06: 19% 34,27¢ 21% 19,74: 16%
Europe, othe 27,34t 13% 8,75t 5% 11,60¢ 9%
Other 12,98¢ 6% 13,96¢ _ 9% 14,77: 12%

$211,64° @% $161,94¢  10C% $126,02  10(%
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No customers accounted for more than 10% of theg@aryis revenue in 2008, 2007, and 2006. The folgwable summarizes the

Company’s concentration of credit risk associatéti sustomers accounting for more than 10% of tbenGanys outstanding trade receivak
and long and short-term license installments d3emfember 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Trade receivables $42,80: $45,92:
Customer A — 19%
Customer E — 14%
Customer C 12% —
Long and shorl-term license installments $10,85¢ $27,45(
Customer C — 24%
Customer E 30% 15%
Customer C 16% —
Customer F 12% —
Customer C 11% —

The Company’s financial services and insuranceouists as a group represent a significant amoutimteo€ompany’s revenues and
receivables, which the Company considered and méted it did not have a material impact on its\wloces for doubtful accounts and sales
credit memos as of December 31, 2008.

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consisharketable securities, trade accounts
receivable and license installments receivable. Chmpany records long-term license installmentscicordance with its revenue recognition
policy, which results in long-term installment ra@bles from customers (due in periods exceedirggy@ar from the reporting date, primarily
from large organizations with strong credit ratihgshe Company grants credit to customers whoaratéd throughout the world. The
Company performs credit evaluations of customedsgemerally does not request collateral from custsmFuture installments due under term
licenses as of December 31, 2008 were as follows:

(in thousands) License

Year ended December 31 Instaliments (1
2009 $ 5,44¢
2010 2,79(C
2011 2,21¢
2012 1,292
11,74:
Unearned installment interest incol (889
Total license installments receivable, $ 10,85¢

(1) These amounts have previously been recognizedassk revenue, net of unearned installment intereste and consist
approximately $5.4 million of short-term licensastallments and approximately $5.4 million of lorgrh license installments included in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet asadrber 31, 2008. For these agreements, we reeabthie present value of future
term license payments upon customer acceptancégdprbthat no significant obligations or contingescexist related to the software,
other than maintenance support, and provided ldiratriteria for revenue recognition have been |
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contributtinement plan for qualifying employees pursuantvhich the Company makes
discretionary matching profit sharing contributio@@mpany contributions under the plan totaled exiprately $1.3 million in 2008, $1.0
million in 2007, and $0.8 million in 2006. In addi, the Company has defined contribution plangjimlifying international employees and
contributions expensed under those plans totalptbapnately $0.6 million in 2008, approximately $0nillion in 2007, and approximately
$0.2 million in 2006.

19. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2008
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 48,47¢ $ 51,11¢ $ 52,69¢ $ 59,35:
Gross profil 28,92¢ 30,34¢ 32,14 38,47¢
Income from operation 2,16¢ 2,58¢ 3,441 6,28¢
Income before provision for income tay 4,171 4,02¢ 2,717 4,74¢
Net income 2,94¢ 2,852 2,351 2,83(
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Earnings per share, dilut $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

2007

(in thousands, except per share date 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 37,48¢ $ 35,66 $ 42,04! $ 46,75¢
Gross profil 21,92t 21,34 26,32( 27,15¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (244) (939 2,957 177
Income before provision for income tay 1,557 1,08(¢ 5,15¢ 2,157
Net income 1,02( 647 3,51(C 1,41¢
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.0 $ 0.0Z $ 0.1 $ 0.0¢
Earnings per share, dilut $ 0.0Z $ 0.0z $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduge

Our management, with the participation of our Cleigécutive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial ioéf, or CFO, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(@¢uthe Securities Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2008. In designing and evaluatingl@alosure controls and procedures, our manageraeagnized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opras provide only reasonable assurance of actgeheir objectives, and our
management necessarily applied its judgment iruatialg the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatomls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that oudalsice controls and procedures were effective &eakember 31, 2008.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over féncial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Se@sitixchange Act. Under the supervision and wittptrécipation of our management,
including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evalnaif the effectiveness of our internal control ofileancial reporting based on the
framework ininternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadriee Treadway Commission
(*Coso").

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to thaterance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect transacti@amsl dispositions of assets, provide reasonableasses that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stateiin accordance with U.S. generally acceptedwuating principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made in accordance withoda#tions of our management and Directors; andigeoreasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijions, use or disposition of our assets thatetbiave a material effect on our financial
statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness ofteumahcontrol over financial reporting as of Ded®mn31, 2008. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that we maadaffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framewd@sg&ued by the COSO.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerabl accounting firm which also audited our coidated financial statements, has
issued an attestation report on our internal coltrer financial reporting, which is included onges40.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we completed testing of the changes in our internal controlerdinancial reporting with respect to
the material weakness related to accounting forptexsoftware revenue recognition transactionsweateported at December 31, 2007 and
continued to report during each of the three qusaé2008. At December 31, 2008 we have determihat] as a result of the changes to our
internal controls during the first three quartef2@08 and management’s testing of these changegreviously reported material weakness
was remediated. There have been no other changes internal control over financial reporting @efined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act) during the guamded December 31, 2008 that have materiakctsd, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalcreporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORP ORATE GOVERNANCE

Except as set forth below, the information requibgdhis Item is contained in our proxy statememtdur 2009 Annual Stockholders
Meeting (the “2009 proxy statement”) under the legdElection of Directors,’and is incorporated herein by reference. Infornmateating tc
certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is containedur 2009 proxy statement under the heading “Sed6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by refeeefaformation required by this item pursuant s 401(h), 401(i), and 401(j) of
Regulation S-K relating to an audit committee ficiahexpert, the identification of the audit comteé of our Board of Directors and
procedures of security holders to recommend norsiteeur Board of Directors is contained in the 2@@oxy statement under the heading
“Corporate Governance” and is incorporated hergirelference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thatieppd all of our employees, including our prindipaecutive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller, or persons performing similar functions

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of our executive officers and certaiarmftion about them are set forth below as of Fetyrd, 2009:
There are no family relationships among any ofexgcutive officers or Directors.

Alan Trefler,age 52, a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Ctéetifive Officer and Chairman and has been a Qiresihce we
organized in 1983. Prior to 1983, he managed astreldc funds transfer product for TMI Systems Gwogiion, a software and services
company. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in Econmsrand Computer Science from Dartmouth College.

Craig Dynes, age 53, joined Pegasystems in September 2006iatKinancial Officer and Senior Vice President. Mynes also served
as the Company'’s principal accounting officer frllmvember 2007 until May 2008. From 2004 to 2006, Diynes served as Chief Financial
Officer at Demandware, a venture-backed entergeévare firm. From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Dynes serasdPresident and CEO of Narad
Networks, a manufacturer of equipment for the caédlievision industry. From 1997 to 2002, Mr. Dysesved as Chief Financial Officer
SilverStream Software, Inc., an application develept software company. Prior to SilverStream, Myn&s held senior financial positions at
Sybase Inc. and Powersoft Corp. Mr. Dynes is auatedof the Richard Ivey School of Business Adntiatgon, the University of Western
Ontario and is a Canadian Chartered Accountant.

Efstathios Kouninis age 47, joined Pegasystems in April 2008 as Vice Presidéfinance. In May 2008, the Board of Directors
appointed Mr. Kouninis as the Company’s Chief Aaaiing Officer. From February 2006 to April 2008, Mtouninis served as Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Tasker Prod@msgporation, a publicly traded manufacturer of mitrobial chemicals. From November
2004 to February 2006, Mr. Kouninis served on ttaf®f the Division of Corporation Finance of the S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. From January 2004 to November 2004 Kiduninis served as Director of Finance at BottomTechnologies, a publicly traded
software company. Mr. Kouninis holds a Post Baag&ate in Accounting, a M.S. in taxation from BemgtCollege, and a B.S. from the
University of Massachusetts.

Douglas Kra,age 46, joined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Prasidéslobal Services. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaved as
Vice President at eLoyalty Corp., a consulting campspecializing in customer relationship managenteom 2000 to 2001, Mr. Kra served
as President of Zefer Corp., an internet consufiing. Prior to Zefer, Mr. Kra spent ten years anibridge Technology Partners Inc. in a
variety of senior roles. He holds a B.A. in Comp@eience from Brandeis University and an M.B.Afiirance from the New York University
Stern School of Business.
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Max Mayer,age 59 joined Pegasystems in 2004 as Vice President gi&Zate Development. In November 2008, Mr. Mayer was
promoted to Senior Vice President of Corporate Dxpraent. From 1999 to 2004, Mr. Mayer served asiBent and CEO of The Mayer
Group, a management consulting firm. From 19959@61 Mr. Mayer was President of Norstan, a publicdgled communications company.
Prior to 1995, Mr. Mayer spent 15 years with DigEguipment Corporation. He holds a B.A. from theiérsity of Pennsylvania, an M.B.A.
from Boston University, and completed executivecadion at Insead in Fontainebleau, France.

Michael Pyle, age 54 joined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as Séo@President of Product Development since Auga§0.
Including his positions with Pegasystems, Mr. Pylerofessional background encompasses almost ftaetss of software development and
managerial experience throughout Europe and theNr.SPyle completed his B.C.S. specializing in Quiter Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is contaifedhe 2009 proxy statement under the headingstbars Compensation”,
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, and “Exa@i€ompensation” and is incorporated herein bgnerice.

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item with respect éxgrities authorized for issuance under our equatppensation plans is included in
Item 5. Market For RegistrastCommon Stock, Related Stockholder Matters, Aedds Purchases Of Equity Securities in Part Ihisf teport
Information required by this item with respect tock ownership of certain beneficial owners and agament is contained in the 2009 proxy
statement under the heading “Security Ownershipestain Beneficial Owners and Management” anddsiiporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is containedhe 2009 proxy statement under the heading ‘deRelationships and Related
Transactions” and is incorporated herein by refezen

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is containedhe 2009 proxy statement under the heading ‘feddent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Services” and is incorfgat&erein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnniRéport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statementsiactuded in Item 8:

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0D200% 42
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearseimecember 31, 2008, 2007, and 2 43
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years etdmber
31, 2008, 2007, and 20! 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2008, 2007, and = 45
(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtereceding such exhibits are filed as part of &isual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted beedhe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to require
submission of the schedule or because the infooméireflected in the consolidated financial stegats or notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiaht has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beHaby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PEGASYSTEMS INC

By: /s| CRraiG D YNES
Craig Dynes
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
(duly authorized officer)

Date: March 9, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exa@mnge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
March 9, 2009 by the following persons on behalf dhe Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/sl ALAN T REFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairmi
Alan Trefler (principal executive officer
/s/ CRAIG D YNES Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Craig Dynes (principal financial officer’
/s EFSTATHIOSK OUNINIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting €ffi
Efstathios Kouninis (principal accounting officel
/s|  RICHARD JONES Vice Chairman and Directc

Richard Jones

/s/ STEVENK APLAN Director
Steven Kaplan

/sl JAMES O'H ALLORAN Director
James O’Halloran

/sl WiLLIAM W YMAN Director
William Wyman
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description
3.3 Restated Articles of Organization, of the Regidtréfiled as exhibit 99.2 to the Registr's June 2, 2005 Forn-K and
incorporated herein by referenc
3.4 Restated B-Laws of the Registrant. (Filed as exhibit 99.3he Registrar's June 2, 2005 Forn-K and incorporated here
by reference.
4.1 Specimen Certificate Representing the Common S{édled as exhibit 4.1 to the RegistranRegistration Statement on Fc
S-1 (Registration No. 3:-03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporatezirhby reference,
10.1++ Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Bled in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for2@93 annual
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein greefce.’
10.2++ 1996 Nol-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (Filed in Registrar’s Proxy Statement for its 2000 annual stockhol
meeting and incorporated herein by referen
10.3 Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betweeRdpistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent{irded as exhibi
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerffammn S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amestarthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc
10.4 Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated Augyst994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©fiark Joint
Venture. (Filed as exhibit 10.14 to the Registrafégistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by meder}
10.5 Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2(B12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
exhibit 10.23 to the Registrés 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.6 Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated JulB02 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L{Eled as exhibit
10.24 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
+10.7++ 2004 Lon¢-Term Incentive Plan, as amended on November 24..
+10.8++ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amermte@ctober 1, 200¢
+10.9++ Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement, as amewnaeOctober 1, 200¢
10.10 Form of Nor-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement. (FilecaBibit 10.2 to the Registré s September 30, 2004 Fo
10-Q and incorporated herein by referen:
10.11++ Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&sd. dated October 19, 2004. (Filed as exhibit 1@2the Registrans’ 2004
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.12 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s April 11, 2@®&rm 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc
10.13++ 2007 Section 16 Officers Corporate Incentive Conspéion Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regig's April 9, 2007 Forr
8-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.14++ 2007 Section 16 Officers Base Salaries and TargatiB Percentages. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to théd&ag’s April 9, 2007
Form &K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.15++ Offer Letter between the Registrant and Edward lgles dated February 21, 2006. (Filed as Exhib2 89the Registra’s
February 27, 2006 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.16++ 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedbondfg 14, 2008. (Filed as exhibit 10.15 to the iRegnt's 2007 Form
10-K and incorporated herein by referenc
10.17++ Compensation program for members of the Regiss@dard of Directors, effective May 30, 2006. (Dlethin Registrant’s

June 5, 2006 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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10.18++

10.19

10.20++

10.21++

10.22++

10.23++

10.24

+10.25++
+21.1
+23.1
+31.1
+31.2
+32

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Craig An&ydated September 7, 2006. (Filed as Exhibitt@Xie Registra’s
September 7, 2006 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 10 to Lease Agreement dated Jylg@06 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfra@.L(Filed as
exhibit 10.1 to the Registre' s September 30, 2006 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment to Stock Option Agreement between theédRagt and Richard H. Jones dated December 2%.460ed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s January 4, 2007 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2008 Section 16 Officers Corporate Incentive Conspéion Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regig’'s February 21, 20C
Form &K and incorporated herein by referenc

2008 Section 16 Officers Base Salaries and TargatiB Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Remif s February 21
2008 Form -K and incorporated herein by referenc

Offer Letter between the Registrant and EfstathioKouninis dated April 25, 2008. (Filed as ExhiBf.1 to the Registrant’s
June 5, 2008 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 11 to Lease Agreement dated dsraf 11, 2008 between the Registrant and NOP RiverfLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr’'s June 30, 2008 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Max Maysed April 20, 2004

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring—Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135¢hef Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Finah&#éficer.

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgena@nts required to be filed pursuant to Item 18{¢jorm 1(-K.
+  Filed herewitt



Exhibit 10.7

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
2004 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purposes of the PlaiThe purposes of this 2004 Long-Term IncentivenRthe “Plan”) are to attract and retain the besilable
personnel for positions of substantial responsihito provide additional incentive to Employeesetors and Consultants, and to promote the
success of the Company’s business. Options, StoahBse Rights and other stock-based awards mgsabéed under the Plan.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions shadpdy:
(a) “ Administrator’ means the Board or the Committee administerirgRtan in accordance with Section 5 hereof.

(b) “ Applicable Laws’ means the requirements relating to the admirtistiaof stock options plans under U.S. state cafmlaws,
U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Cadestock exchange or quotation system on whiclCtimon Stock is listed or quoted and the
applicable laws of any other country or jurisdiatiehere Awards are granted under the Plan.

(c) “ Award” means any Option, Stock Purchase Right or ottuaksbased award granted pursuant to the Plan.
(d) “ Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company,asstituted from time to time.

(e) “ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aetkmd any successor statute or statutes thereferéhce to any
particular Code section shall include any successction.

(H “ Committee” means a committee of Directors appointed by tbarB in accordance with Section 5(b) hereof.
(9) “ Common Stock means the Common Stock, $0.01 par value per shathe Company.
(h) “ Company’ means Pegasystems Inc., a Massachusetts copurati

(i) “ Consultant” means any consultant or adviser if: (i) the cdtasu or adviser renders bona fide services tolatBeé Company;
(ii) the services rendered by the consultant oismhare not in connection with the offer or sdlsexurities in a capital-raising transaction and
do not directly or indirectly promote or maintaimerket for a Related Company’s securities; angtfie consultant or adviser is a natural
person who has contracted directly with a Relatech@any to render such services.

(j) “ Director " means a member of the Board.

(k) “ Disability ” means total and permanent disability as definegiction 22(e)(3) of the Cod



() “ Employee” means any person, including Officers and Direstemployed by a Related Company who is subjetttea@ontrol
and direction of the employer entity as to bothwhek to be performed and the manner and methgedbrmance. An Employee shall not
cease to be an Employee in the case of (i) anyelefabsence approved by a Related Company drdjisfers between locations of a Related
Company or between the Related Companies, or agessor. For purposes of Incentive Stock Optioosuth leave may exceed ninety (90)
days, unless reemployment upon expiration of sealid is guaranteed by statute or contract. If ré@mpent upon expiration of leave of
absence approved by the Related Company is naia@ugteed, on the 181st day of such leave any tiveeBtock Option held by the
Participant shall cease to be treated as an IneeBtock Option and shall be treated for tax puep@s a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Neither
service as a Director nor payment of a directar&s by the Company shall be sufficient to constitataployment” by the Company.

(m) “ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as asted any successor statute or statutes thereferdc
to any particular Exchange Act section shall inelashy successor section.

(n) “ Exercise Pricé or “ Purchase Pricé means the per Share price to be paid by a Paatitior Purchaser to exercise an Option
or Stock Purchase Right.

(o) “ Fair Market Value¢’ *means, as of any date, the value of a share of @Gon8tock determined as follows:

(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any establilstock exchange or a national market system, dimoduwithout limitation the
Nasdaq National Market or the Nasdaq SmallCap Markthe Nasdaq Stock Market, (a) for purposessdémnining the number of
Shares to be retained by the Company in paymetieoéxercise price of an Option or the withholdafigax for any Award, Fair Market
Value shall be the execution price for the trad€ofnmon Stock (excluding “after hours” trading) oing, in the case of an Option,
immediately before the receipt by the Companyoagent of the notice of exercise, or, in the cdserestricted stock unit, immediately
before the date of vesting, and (b) for all othemeses Fair Market Value shall be the closingg¢excluding “after hours” trading) for a
share of such stock on that day (or, if the Comi&tmtk is not traded on that day, on the last tigadiay preceding such date).;

(ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted byegaognized securities dealer but selling priceshatgeported, (a) for purposes of
determining the exercise price of an Option, Faarkét Value shall be the mean between the higheéstrial lowest asked prices
(excluding “after hours” trading) for a share oétBommon Stock on that day (or, if there are naepifor that day, on the last day
preceding such date for which quotes were avaijabte (b) for all other purposes, Fair Market \éashall be the mean between the
highest bid and lowest asked prices (excludingetdiburs” trading) for a share of the Common Stackthe last day preceding such date;
or

(iii) In the absence of an established marketlier€@ommon Stock, the Fair Market Value thereofldfambetermined in good faith
by the Administrator.

(p) “ Incentive Stock Optioi means an Option intended to qualify as an incersiwek option within the meaning of Section 42
the Code and which is designated as an IncentivekSdption by the Administrator.

1 This section 1(0) has been restated to reflect dments to the Plan adopted by the Company’s Bolidrectors on November 24, 2008.
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(a) “ Nonstatutory Stock Optiohmeans an Option (or portion thereof) that is designated as an Incentive Stock Option by the
Administrator, or which is designated as an Inaen8tock Option by the Administrator but fails taadjfy as an incentive stock option within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

(r) “ Officer " means a person who is an officer of the Compaitimthe meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange & the rules
and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(s) “ Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the.Plan

(t) “ Option Exchange Prografrmeans a program whereby outstanding Optionsakamged for Options with a lower Exercise

Price.
(u) “ Optioned Stock means the Common Stock subject to an Option®toak Purchase Right.
(v) “ Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or bfiex existing, as a defined in Section 424(ehefCode.
(w) “ Participant’ means the holder of an outstanding Award.
(x) “ Plan” means this 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

(y) “ Purchased Sharésneans the shares of Common Stock purchased lbyt&ipant pursuant to his or her exercise of arafdy

(2) “ Purchasef means a Participant exercising an Option or Stegichase Right.

(aa) “ Related Compariymeans and includes the Company and the Pareraran&ubsidiaries of the Company.

(bb) “ Restricted Sharésmeans unvested shares of Common Stock acquinestdiaut to the exercise of an Award which are stibjec
to a Right of Repurchase.

(cc) “ Retirement means retirement of an Employee or Director frotivaeemployment or service with any Related Compaifiten
having attained age 60.

(dd) “ Right of Repurchasemeans the right of the Company to repurchase
Restricted Shares issued pursuant to any Award.

(ee) “ Sale of the Compariymeans (i) a sale of substantially all of the éssdé the Company, or (ii) a sale or transfer ofirng
securities of the Company to an individual, entitygroup (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3)Yld(d)(2) of the Exchange Act), in one
transaction or a series of related transaction@iipa consolidation or merger of the Companyearch case, as a result of which the beneficial
holders of a majority of the voting power of thenQmany’s voting securities entitled to vote gengrailthe election of directors (“Voting
Power”) prior to such transaction do not, directindirectly, beneficially hold a majority of théoting Power (or of the voting power of the
surviving or acquiring entity) after such transanti

(ff) “ Section 16(b)” means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

(gg) “ Service” means the Participant’s performance of serviceafRelated Company in the capacity of an Emploéector or
Consultant.



(hh) “ Service Providet means an Employee, Director or Consultant.
(i) “ Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjustadciordance with Section 12 hereof.

(ji) “ Stock Option Agreemeritmeans a written agreement between the Company &atticipant evidencing the terms and
conditions of an individual Option grant. A Stockti®n Agreement is subject to the terms and coowiitiof the Plan.

(kk) “ Stock Purchase Agreemeéhnmeans a written agreement between the Company &atticipant evidencing the terms and
conditions of a Stock Purchase Right. A Stock PasehAgreement is subject to the terms and conditibthe Plan.

(I “ stock Purchase Riglitmeans the right of a Participant to purchase Com@&tock pursuant to Section 10 hereof.

(mm) “ Subsidiary’ means “subsidiary corporation,” whether now ordadter existing, as defined in Section 424(f)lef Code.

(nn) “ 10% Stockholdet means the owner of stock (as determined undetid®e424(d) of the Code) possessing more than ten
percent (10%) of the voting power of all classestotk of a Related Company.

3. Effective Date and Term of Plaffhe Plan shall become effective upon its adoptipthe Board. No Awards shall be granted under
the Plan after the completion of ten years fromeh#ier of (i) the date on which the Plan was aedy the Board or (ii) the date the Plan was
approved by the Company’s stockholders, but Awardsiously granted may extend beyond that date.

4. Stock Subiject to the Plan

(a) Number of SharesSubject to the provisions of Section 12 of thenPthe maximum aggregate number of Shares whighbma
subject to Awards and issued under the Plan i0f000 Shares. The Shares may be authorized buugishares or treasury shares. If an
Award expires or becomes unexercisable withoutrigalsieen exercised in full, or is surrendered purstsaan Option Exchange Program, the
unpurchased Shares which were subject theretolsbadime available for future grant or sale undeRtan (unless the Plan has terminated).
However, Shares that have actually been issued tinel€lan, upon exercise of an Award, shall nateterned to the Plan and shall not
become available for future distribution under Eien, except that if Restricted Shares are fodeited repurchased by the Company at not
more than their Exercise Price, such Shares shatirhe available for future Awards under the Pldrar&s which are delivered by the
Participant or withheld by the Company upon thereise of an Option under the Plan, in payment efdakercise price thereof or tax
withholding thereon, may again be optioned, graotegwarded hereunder, subject to the limitatidintig Section 4(a). Notwithstanding the
provisions of this Section 4(a), no Shares mayrafjaioptioned, granted or awarded if such actionldvoause an Incentive Stock Option to
fail to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option un&erction 422 of the Code.

(b) PerParticipant Limit. No Participant will receive, over the term of fhkan, Awards for more than an aggregate of 30%ef
shares of Common Stock with respect to which Awandy be granted under the Plan . The per-Partitipait described in this Section 4(b)
shall be construed and applied consistently witttiSe 162(m) of the Code.

5. Administration of the Plan




(a) Administration by Board of DirectorsThe Plan will be administered by the Board. Tioaf8 shall have authority to grant
Awards and to adopt, amend and repeal such adnaitivgt rules, guidelines and practices relatinthtoPlan as it shall deem advisable. The
Board may correct any defect, supply any omissioreooncile any inconsistency in the Plan or anyafohin the manner and to the extent it
shall deem expedient to carry the Plan into effact it shall be the sole and final judge of sugbegency. All decisions by the Board shall be
made in the Board’s sole discretion and shall bal fand binding on all persons having or claiming eaterest in the Plan or in any Award. No
director or person acting pursuant to the autha#ggated by the Board shall be liable for anjoaddr determination relating to or under the
Plan made in good faith.

(b) Appointment of CommitteesTo the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, theaBl may delegate any or all of its powers under
the Plan to one or more committees or subcommitietdse Board.

(c) Powers of the AdministratoiSubject to the provisions of the Plan and, indhge of a Committee or executive officer, the
specific duties delegated by the Board to such Citi@en the Administrator shall have the authonitytg discretion:

(i) to determine the Fair Market Value;

(ii) to select the Service Providers to whom Awamttsy from time to time be granted hereunder;
(iii) to determine the number of Shares to be cesldsy each Award granted hereunder;
(iv) to approve forms of agreement for use underRian;

(v) to determine the terms and conditions of anyafdvgranted hereunder. Such terms and conditiahsde, but are not
limited to, the Exercise Price or Purchase Priwe time or times when an Award may be exercisedcfwmay be based on performance
criteria), any vesting, acceleration or waiveraféiture restrictions, and any restriction or liation regarding any Award or the Shares relz
thereto, based in each case on such factors @glthaistrator, in its sole discretion, shall detémm

(vi) to determine whether and under what circumstaran Option may be settled in cash under Set8(fiyinstead of
Common Stock;

(vii) to reduce the Exercise Price or PurchaseeRufcany Award to the then current Fair Value Maikéhe Fair Market
Value of the Common Stock covered by such Awarddeatined since the date the Award was granted,;

(viii) to initiate an Option Exchange Program;
(ix) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules andlagigas relating to the Plan; and

(x) to construe and interpret the terms of the Rlach Awards granted pursuant to the Plan.

6. Eligibility .



(a) Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Purchase Righd other stock-based awards (other than Inee8tock Options) may be
granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Otimay be granted only to Employees.

(b) Each Option shall be designated in the Stoctid@pAgreement as either an Incentive Stock Optioa Nonstatutory Stock
Option. However, notwithstanding such designatiorthe extent that the aggregate Fair Market Vafube Shares with respect to which
Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for th&t time by the Participant during any calendar yaader all plans of the Related Companies)
exceeds $100,000, such Options shall be treatBiastatutory Stock Options. For purposes of thigiSe 6(b), Incentive Stock Options shall
be taken into account in the order in which theyeagranted. The Fair Market Value of the Share#l beadetermined as of the time the Option
with respect to such Shares is granted.

7. Term of Option The term of each Option shall be stated in tleelSOption Agreement; provided, however, that grentshall be no
more than ten (10) years from the date of grarmetifeln the case of an Incentive Stock Option tgdro a 10% Stockholder, the term of the
Option shall be five (5) years from the date ofnigrar such shorter term as may be provided in tbekKOption Agreement.

8. Option Exercise Price and Consideration

(a) The Exercise Price for the Shares to be issped exercise of an Option shall be such price @giermined by the
Administrator; provided, however, that in the ca$an Incentive Stock Option granted to a 10% Stotder, the Exercise Price shall be no
than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share ordtite of grant, and provided further that in theecaf an Incentive Stock Option granted to
any other Employee, the Exercise Price shall blesmthan 100% of the Fair Market Value per Sharthe date of grant.

(b) 2For Options issued prior to December 13, 2007, ddnsideration to be paid for the Shares to be dsspen exercise of an
Option, including the method of payment, shall Béednined by the Administrator (and, in the casarofncentive Stock Option, shall be
determined at the time of grant and set forth @$tock Option Agreement). Such consideration nuegist of (i) cash or a check payable to
the Company, (ii) a promissory note of the Par#aip (iii) when the Common Stock is registered uride Exchange Act other Shares which
(x) in the case of Shares acquired upon exercis@a @ption, have been owned by the Participantiore than six months on the date of
surrender, and (y) have a Fair Market Value ordéite of surrender equal to the aggregate Exercise & the Shares as to which such Option
shall be exercised, (iv) consideration receivedhgyCompany under a cashless exercise programnmepled by the Company in connection
with the Plan, or (v) any combination of the foregpmethods of payment.

For Options issued on or after December 13, 20@/¢consideration to be paid for the Shares toswees upon exercise of
Option, including the method of payment, shall b&edmined by the Administrator (and, in the casarofncentive Stock Option, shall be
determined at the time of grant and set forth @$tock Option Agreement). Such consideration nuegist of (i) cash or a check payable to
the Company; (ii) a promissory note of the Partaip (iii) consideration received by the Companygema cashless exercise program
implemented by the Company in connection with tleP(iv) when the Common Stock is registered urtderExchange Act, consideration
received by the Company under a “net exercise’ngement pursuant to which the number of Sharegdsguthe Participant in connection
with the Participant’s exercise of the Option idueed by the Company’s retention of a portion ef 8fnares otherwise issuable in connection
with such exercise having a Fair Market Value (deteed as of the date of the exercise notice) etgutle aggregate exercise price of the
Shares as to which such Option is being exercizefl) any combination of the foregoing methodpayment.

2 This section 8(b) has been restated to reflect dments to the Plan adopted by the Company’s Boabdrectors on December 13,
2007.



9. Exercise of Option

(a) Procedure for ExerciséAny Option granted hereunder shall be exercisabt®rding to the terms hereof at such times adémun
such conditions as determined by the Administratat set forth in the Stock Option Agreement. UntissAdministrator provides otherwise,
vesting of Options granted hereunder shall beddliering any unpaid leave of absence. An Option mabe exercised for a fraction of a
Share.

An Option shall be deemed exercised when the Coynpeives: (i) written notice of exercise (in actance with the Stock Opti
Agreement) from the person entitled to exerciseQpgon, and (ii) full payment for the Shares wieispect to which the Option is exercised.
Full payment may consist of any consideration aethad of payment authorized by the Administratat parmitted by the Stock Option
Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exeifcgeOption shall be issued in the name of thiéidaant or, if requested by the
Participant, in the name of the Participant andohiser spouse.

Exercise of an Option in any manner shall result decrease in the number of Shares thereaftdabiegiboth for purposes of the
Plan and sale under the Option, by the number af&has to which the Option is exercised.

(b) Termination of Servicelf a Participant terminates Service other thamdason of the Participant’s death, Disability or
Retirement, such Participant may exercise his oQpgion within such period of time as is specifindhe Stock Option Agreement to the
extent that the Option is vested on the date ofitgation (but in no event later than the expiratidthe term of the Option as set forth in the
Stock Option Agreement). In the absence of a sigecifime in the Stock Option Agreement, the Optball remain exercisable for three
months following the Participant’s termination adr8ice. If, on the date of termination, the Paptgit is not vested as to his or her entire
Option, the Shares covered by the unvested poofitine Option shall revert to the Plan. If, aftermbination of Service, the Participant does not
exercise his or her Option within the time spedifig’ the Administrator in the Stock Option Agreeméme Option shall terminate, and the
Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the.P

(c) Disability of Participant If a Participant terminates Service as a redith® Participans Disability, the Participant may exerc
his or her Option within such period of time aspcified in the Stock Option Agreement to the eixtee Option is vested on the date of
termination (but in no event later than the expirabf the term of such Option as set forth in $teck Option Agreement). In the absence of a
specified time in the Stock Option Agreement, thei@n shall remain exercisable for 24 months foilogvthe Participant’s termination of
Service as the result of the Participant’s Disabilff, on the date of termination of Service, &rticipant is not vested as to his or her entire
Option, the Shares covered by the unvested poofitine Option shall revert to the Plan. If, aftlembination of Service, the Participant does not
exercise his or her Option within the time spedifie the Stock Option Agreement, the Option stelhinate, and the Shares covered by such
Option shall revert to the Plan.

(d) Death of Participantlf a Participant dies while a Service Providag Option may be exercised within such periodrogtas is
specified in the Stock Option Agreement to the eixtkat the Option is vested on the date of ddathiq no event later than the expiration of
the term of such Option as set forth in the Stopkidh Agreement) by the Participant’s estate oalperson who acquires the right to exercise
the Option by bequest or inheritance. In the absefi@ specified time in the Stock Option Agreemérg Option shall remain exercisable for
12 months following the Participant’s




termination of Service because of death. If, atithe of death, the Participant is not vested ablecentire Option, the Shares covered by the
unvested portion of the Option shall immediatelyert to the Plan. If the Option is not so exercigaithin the time specified in the Stock
Option Agreement, the Option shall terminate, dr@l$hares covered by such Option shall revertetd’tan.

(e) Retirement of Participantf a Participant terminates Service as a reduRaiirement, the Participant may exercise hisesr h
Option within such period of time as is specifiadhie Stock Option Agreement to the extent the @pi vested on the date of termination
in no event later than the expiration of the tefrsuch Option as set forth in the Stock Option Asgnent). In the absence of a specified time in
the Stock Option Agreement, the Option shall renei@rcisable for 24 months following the Particigatermination of Service as the result
of the Participant’'s Retirement. If, on the dateesmination of Service, the Participant is nottedsas to his or her entire Option, the Shares
covered by the unvested portion of the Option steadért to the Plan. If, after termination of Seryithe Participant does not exercise his or her
Option within the time specified in the Stock Optidgreement, the Option shall terminate, and ther&hcovered by such Option shall revert
to the Plan.

(f) Unvested SharesThe Administrator shall have the discretion targrOptions which are exercisable for Restrictedr&h
Should the Participant terminate Service or fasatisfy performance objectives while holding s&gstricted Shares, the Company shall have
a Right of Repurchase, at the Exercise Price paicspare or such other price determined by the Atnator and set forth in the Stock Opt
Agreement, with respect to any or all of those Reted Shares. The terms upon which such RightegfuRchase shall be exercisable (incluc
the period and procedure for exercise and the g@piate vesting schedule for the purchased Shahedl) s established by the Administrator
and set forth in the Stock Option Agreement or otteeument evidencing such repurchase right.

(9) Automatic Extension of PoStermination Exercise Period$-or Options issued on or after December 13, 20@7period of
time during which a Participant may exercise ani@pafter he or she terminates Service pursuathtiscSection 9 or as specified in any Stock
Option Agreement (the “Post-Termination Exercisadet) shall be extended by the amount of timerif/, during the Post-Termination
Exercise Period when the effectiveness of any tegisn statement covering the issuance of Shardenthe Plan is suspended for any reason;
provided, however, that in no event shall the Fastnination Exercise Period be extended beyon@stpé&ation of the stated term of the
Option.

10. Stock Purchase Rights

(a) Rights to PurchaseStock Purchase Rights may be issued either alloreldition to, or in tandem with other Awards rogped
under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside ¢flan. After the Administrator determines thatilt offer Stock Purchase Rights under
the Plan, it shall advise the Participant in wgtof the terms, conditions and restrictions reldtethe offer, including the number of Shares
such person shall be entitled to purchase, the poibe paid, and the time within which such persmist accept such offer. The offer shall be
accepted by execution of a Stock Purchase Agreeiméiné form determined by the Administrator.

(b) Right of RepurchaseUnless the Administrator determines otherwise,Stock Purchase Agreement shall grant the Comaany
Right of Repurchase exercisable upon the terminatfdhe Purchases’Service with the Company for any reason (inclgdiaath or disability
or upon the failure to satisfy any performance ctijes or other conditions specified in the StockdRase Agreement. Shares issued as
Restricted Shares may not be sold, assigned, énaadf pledged or otherwise disposed of, exceptilhpr the laws of descent and distributic
or as otherwise determined

8 This section 9(g) has been inserted to reflect aimemts to the Plan adopted by the Company’s Bdfabdrectors on December 13,
2007.



by the Administrator in the Stock Purchase Agreetfen such period as the Administrator shall detiee. The purchase price for Restricted
Shares repurchased pursuant to the Right of Repsecshall be the purchase price paid by the Puecbasuch other price determined by the
Administrator and set forth in the Stock Purchagee&ment, and may be paid by cancellation of adghbtedness of the Purchaser to the
Company. The Right of Repurchase shall lapse upoh sonditions or at such rate as the Administratay determine and set forth in the
Stock Purchase Agreement.

Each certificate for Restricted Shares shall beaappropriate legend referring to the Right of Repase and other
restrictions and shall be deposited by the stoaédralith the Company together with a stock powaloesed in blank. Any attempt to dispose
of Restricted Shares in contravention of the RaftiRepurchase and other restrictions shall beandlvoid and without effect. If Restricted
Shares shall be repurchased by the Company pursutire Right of Repurchase, the stockholder $batwith deliver to the Company the
certificates for the Restricted Shares, accompauyeslich instrument of transfer, if any, as magoeably be required by the Company. If the
Company does not exercise its Right of Repurchassh Right of Repurchase shall terminate and @ déirther force and effect.

The Administrator may in its discretion waive therender and cancellation of one or more RestriSteakes (or other ass:
attributable thereto) which would otherwise occpom the non-completion of the vesting scheduletioeroconditions applicable to those
Restricted Shares. Such waiver shall result inrtireediate vesting of the Purchaser’s interest @Rlestricted Shares as to which the waiver
applies. Such waiver may be effected at any tinfestier before or after the Purchaser’s terminatfo®ervice or the attainment or non-
attainment of the applicable conditions.

(c) Other Provisions The Stock Purchase Agreement shall contain st ¢erms, provisions and conditions not incoesistvith
the Plan as may be determined by the Administiatis sole discretion.

11. Other StociBased Awards The Administrator shall have the right to gratitey Awards based upon the Common Stock having suct
terms and conditions as the Administrator may deite, including the grant of Shares based upomiceconditions, the grant of securities
convertible into Common Stock and the grant of lstgpreciation rights.

12. Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization msBlution or Sale of the Company

(a)#Changes in Capitalizationn the event of any stock split, reverse stodk,syiock dividend, recapitalization, combinatioh
shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off oep#imilar change in capitalization or event, oy distribution to holders of Common Stock
other than an ordinary cash dividend, (i) the nunaimel class of securities available under the Klgnhe per-Participant limit set forth in
Section 4(b), (iii) the number and class of se@siand exercise price per share subject to eastaoding Award, (iv) the price per share at
which outstanding Restricted Shares may be repsechpursuant to a Right of Repurchase and (v)etimest of each other outstanding Award
shall automatically be proportionately adjustecaguro rata basis.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation In the event of the proposed dissolution or liigdion of the Company, the Administrator shall fyc
each Participant as soon as practicable priora@ffective date of such proposed transaction.Adrainistrator in its discretion may provide
for a Participant to have the right to exercisedniser Award until 15 days prior to such transactas to all of the Shares covered thereby,
including Shares as to which the Award would nbeotvise be exercisable. In addition, the Admintstranay provide that any Right of
Repurchase applicable to any Restricted

4 This section 12(a) has been restated to reflechdments to the Plan adopted by the Company’s Bolibdrectors on December 13,
2007.



Shares purchased upon exercise of an Option ok ®iexchase Right shall lapse as to all such Shpresgided the proposed dissolution or
liguidation takes place at the time and in the nesmontemplated. To the extent it has not beeniquely exercised, an Award will terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of such pegabdissolution or liquidation of the Company.

(c) Sale of the CompanyExcept as otherwise provided in any Stock Opfigneement or Stock Purchase Agreement or other
document evidencing such rights, in the event 8&k of the Company when any unexercised AwarehpiRestricted Shares remains
outstanding, the Administrator may in its discretapply one or more or any combination of the folltg provisions:

(i) the Administrator may provide that outstandiwgards or Restricted Shares shall be assumed egainalent option or
right or restricted stock substituted by the susoeentity or a Parent or Subsidiary thereof; or

(i) the Administrator may, subject to the provissoof clauses (iv) and (v) below, after the effestiate of the Sale of the
Company, permit a holder of an Award immediatelpipto such effective date, upon exercise of theaflyto receive in lieu of Shares of
Common Stock, shares of stock or other securitie®osideration as the holders of Common Stockivedepursuant to the terms of the Sal
the Company; or

(iif) the Administrator may waive any discretiondimitations imposed with respect to an Award sat tsome or all Options
or Stock Purchase Rights, from and after a date mithe effective date of the Sale of the Compamgpecified by the Administrator, are
exercisable in full and any Restricted Shares sieglbe to be subject to restrictions in whole guart; or

(iv) the Administrator may cause any outstandingafds to be canceled as of the effective date oEtie of the Company,
provided that notice of cancellation is given taleaolder of an Award, and each holder of an Awsasl the right to exercise the Award in full
prior to or contemporaneous with the effective adtsuch Sale of the Company; or

(v) the Administrator may cause any outstanding Alsdo be canceled as of the effective date oStide of the Company,
provided that notice of such cancellation is giteeach holder of an Award, and each holder of il has the right to exercise the Award,
to the extent exercisable in accordance with anijtdtions imposed thereon, prior to or contemposaseavith the effective date of such Sale of
the Company

13. General Provisions Applicable to Awardsvery Award and all Shares issued pursuant té&tae shall be subject to the following
provisions:

(a) Time of Granting AwardsThe date of grant of an Award shall, for all pesps, be the date on which the Administrator makes
the determination granting such Award, or such otla¢e as is determined by the Administrator. Tleniistrator will give notice of the
determination to each Service Provider to whom am is so granted within a reasonable time afterdate of such grant.

(b) No Rights to Employment or Other Statideither the Plan nor any Award shall confer upag Participant any rights with
respect to continuing in Service with any Relatedn@any, nor shall the Plan or any Award interfarany way with the Participant’s right or
the Related Company'’s right to terminate the Pigditt’s Service at any time, with or without cause.

(c) Rights as a Stockholdet)ntil the Shares are issued (as evidenced bgppeopriate entry on the books of the Company ar of
duly authorized transfer agent of the Companyiglat to vote or receive dividends or any othehtggas a stockholder shall exist with respect
to the Shares, notwithstanding the exercise ofward. The Company shall issue (or cause to bed3sbe

10




Shares promptly after an Award is duly exercised adjustment will be made for a dividend or othight for which the record date is prior to
the date the Shares are issued, except as pravigmttion 12 hereof.

(d) Acceleration The Administrator may at any time provide thay &wards shall become immediately exercisable Ihduin par
or that any Restricted Shares shall be free oficéishs or conditions in full or in part or otheisg realizable in full or in part, as the case may
be.

(e) Buyout Provisions The Administrator may at any time and from tiradiime offer to buy out for a payment in cash oai®is
any Award previously granted, based on such termdscanditions as the Administrator shall estabéisd communicate to the holder of such
Award at the time such offer is made.

(f) Conditions on Delivery of Share§he Company shall not be obligated to deliver 8hgires pursuant to the Plan or to remove
any restrictions from Shares previously deliveradar the Plan, until (i) all conditions of the Awldrave been met or removed to the
satisfaction of the Administrator, (ii) in the omn of the Company’s counsel, all other legal nratte connection with the issuance and
delivery of such Shares have been satisfied inrdecce with Applicable Laws; and (iii) the Partiipt has executed and delivered to the
Company such representations or agreements aothpally may consider appropriate to satisfy theirements of Applicable Laws.

(g) Amendment of Award The Administrator may amend, modify or terminatey outstanding Award, including but not limited to
substituting therefor another Award of the samdifferent type, changing the expiration date orfgise Price or Purchase Price or converting
an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonstatutory Stogiti@h, provided that the Participant’'s consentuohsaction shall be required unless the
Administrator determines that the action would matterially and adversely affect the Participant.

(h) Withholding Taxes Each Participant shall pay to the Company, orenabvisions satisfactory to the Administrator faymen
of, any taxes required by Applicable Laws to behwitld in connection with any Awards to the Participno later than the date of the event
creating the tax liability. Except as the Adminédtr may otherwise provide in an Award, when then8mn Stock is registered under the
Exchange Act, Participants may satisfy such taigatibns in whole or in part by delivery of Shareg|luding Shares retained from the Award
creating the tax obligation, valued at their Fagrkkt Value. The Company may, to the extent peeahitty Applicable Laws, deduct any such
tax obligations from any payment of any kind othisendue to a Participant.

(i) Cancellation and Forfeiture for Miscondudtiotwithstanding the terms of any Award or otheavision of the Plan, in the event
of any Misconduct by the Participant or Purchagdrether before or after the termination of Servi¢g)all Awards granted to the Participant
shall be terminated and the holder thereof shak e further rights thereunder and (ii) all Shahe=sn held by the Participant or Purchaser (or
any successor) which were acquired by the PartitipaPurchaser (or any successor) pursuant torearddunder the Plan shall thereupon be
(or revert to being) Restricted Shares and shadiutgect to a Right of Repurchase exercisable &yCbmpany at any time within 180 days &
the occurrence of such Misconduct or, if later, #189s after the Company has knowledge of such Midect. The purchase price for Shares
repurchased by the Company pursuant to the RigRepfirchase pursuant to this Section 13(i) shadichml to the purchase price originally
paid by the Participant or Purchaser for such Sharee following shall constitute “Misconduct” by articipant or Purchaser: (i) the
unauthorized use or disclosure of the confideimi@rmation or trade secrets of any Related Compalmigh use or disclosure causes material
harm to the Related Company; (ii) conviction ofriene involving moral turpitude, deceit, dishonestyfraud; (iii) gross negligence or willful
misconduct of the Participant or Purchaser witlpeesto any Related Company or (iv) the breachhbyRarticipant or Purchaser of any
material term of an agreement with a Related Compasiuding covenants not to compete and provisiefeting to confidential information
and intellectual property rights.
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(j) Limits on Transferability of AwardsAn Incentive Stock Option shall be exercisable dry the Participant during his or her
lifetime and shall not be assignable or transferaiher than by will or by the laws of descent distribution following the Participant’s death.
A Nonstatutory Stock Option, Stock Purchase Rigi8lmares may be assigned in whole or in part duliedParticipant’s lifetime to one or
more members of the Participant’s family or towstrestablished exclusively for one or more suahilfamembers or to the Participant’s
former spouse, to the extent such assignmentdsrinection with the Participant’s estate plan aspant to a domestic relations order. The
assigned portion may only be exercised by the pers@ersons who acquired a proprietary interetiiénNonstatutory Stock Option, Stock
Purchase Right or Shares pursuant to the assigniftemterms applicable to such assigned portiot Bahe same as those in effect for the
Nonstatutory Stock Option, Stock Purchase Rigl8tmares immediately prior to such assignment anill lstaet forth in such documer
issued to the assignee as the Administrator mam dggpropriate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, tlagtiPipant may also designate one or
more persons as the beneficiary or beneficiaridgbr her outstanding Awards under the Plan,thoge Awards shall, in accordance with
such designation, automatically be transferredith eneficiary or beneficiaries upon the Particifsadeath while holding those Awards. S
beneficiary or beneficiaries shall take the tramsfé Awards subject to all terms and conditionthefapplicable agreement evidencing each
such transferred Award, including (without limitat) the limited time period during which Awards mag exercised following the Participant’
death.

(k) Documentation Each Award shall be evidenced by a written imsgnt in such form as the Administrator shall detaemEach
Award may contain terms and conditions in additmthose set forth in the Plan.

() Administrator Discretion Except as otherwise provided by the Plan, eachrlwnay be made alone or in addition or in relation
to any other Award. The terms of each Award neddgddentical, and the Administrator need notttRaticipants uniformly.

14. Amendment and Termination of the Plan
(a) Amendment and Terminatiorfhe Board may at any time amend, alter, suspetetiminate the Plan.

(b) Stockholder Approval The Board shall obtain stockholder approval of Blan amendment to the extent necessary and bk
to comply with Applicable Laws.

(c) Effect of Amendment or TerminatiorNo amendment, alteration, suspension or ternunaif the Plan shall impair the rights of
any Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwitevéen the Participant and the Administrator, wiiigheement must be in writing and sig
by the Participant and the Company. TerminatiothefPlan shall not affect the Administrator’s apitio exercise the powers granted to it
hereunder with respect to Awards granted undePtae prior to the date of such termination.

15. Reservation of Share3he Company, during the term of the Plan, shalldimes reserve and keep available such numb8hares
as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requiremefthe Plan.

16. Stockholder ApprovalThe Plan shall be subject to approval by thekstolclers of the Company within 12 months afterdhee the
Plan is adopted. Such stockholder approval shadlkbained in the degree and manner required ungplidable Laws.

17. Governing Law The provisions of the Plan and all Awards madeieder shall be governed by and interpreted inraemce with
the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts,ownithegard to any applicable conflicts of law.
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Exhibit 10.8

Vo

Pegasystems Inc.

Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement Pegasystems Inc.
ID: 04-2787865
101 Main Street
Cambridge, MA 0214.

Effective __, you (the “Optionee”) have been grdrae award of restricted stock units.
The current total value of the award is

The awards will vest 20 on the first anniversaryhef date of grant and the balance of will vestrequal quarterly installments between the
first and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant.

The undersigned Optionee agrees to all of the tefrttse Plan and all those set forth on Exhibitttaehed hereto and incorporated herein by
reference.

By your signature and the Company’s signature begymu and the Company agree that this award igggdaimder and governed by the terms
and conditions of the Company’s Award Plan as aradrahd the Award Agreement, all of which are aacand made a part of this
document.

Pegasystems In

By: ff-ﬂ /f A"':-*“”

Alan Trefler, Chairman and Chief Executive Offit

First MI Last



Exhibit A
To Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement

1. Conversion of Restricted Stock Units to Common &tdeach restricted stock unit (“RSU”) granted in thetise of Grant of Award and
Award Agreement (of which this Exhibit A is a paftfie “Award Agreement”) represents the right af glerson receiving such grant (the
“Recipient”) to receive one share of the commomrlsfdCommon Stock”) of Pegasystems Inc. (the “Comyiasubject to the vesting
requirements listed in the Award Agreement andéeodther terms and conditions of this Award Agreetn@n each vesting date listed in the
Award Agreement, the Company will issue such nunafehares of Common Stock as are equal to thecad number of RSUs vesting on
such date, less such number of shares of Commak Stoare required to be withheld to satisfy Retips tax withholding obligations.

2. Vesting.RSUs will vest on the dates listed in the Award égment if the Recipient remains in the active eymplent of the Company in
good standing from the date of grant through th@iegble vesting date. RSUs will cease to vest inliately upon the cessation of Recipient’s
active employment with the Company, for any reason.

3. Recipients AgreementThe Recipient agrees to all the terms stated i\thard Agreement (of which this Exhibit is a pad}, well as to the
terms of the Plan (which shall control in caseafftict with the Award Agreement), a copy of whiishattached and of which the Recipient
acknowledges receipt.

4. Withholding. The Recipient consents to fulfill all withholdindpliyations for all applicable payroll and incoma&ea with respect to the
Award when they are due and arrange for satisfagtayment of all withholding obligations in a man@as set forth in Section 13(h) of the
Plan. The Company may satisfy such withholdinggailons by withholding such number of shares of @mm Stock as are equal in value to
the amount of the required withholding.

5. Rights as Shareholderd’he Recipient shall have no rights as a shareholdigre Company with respect to any of the RSU4 the
issuance of shares of Common Stock at the timesting, and then only with respect to those shair€mmon Stock issued.

6. Non-Transferability. The Award may not be transferred in any mannerrdtien as permitted in Section 130) of the Plare T#mms of the
Award shall be binding upon the executors, adnmaists, heirs and successors of the Recipient.

7. Compliance with SecuritiesTax and Other Law. No shares of Common Stock magsed if the issuance of shares would constitute
violation of any applicable federal or state se@silaw or any other law or valid regulation. Asandition to issuance of Common Stock, the
Company may require the Recipient, or any personigag the right to receive the Common Stock, takenany representation or warranty
the Company deems to be necessary under any dpplgecurities, tax, or other law or regulation.

8. Adjustments upon Changes in Capitalizatiolm the event of any change in the shares subjeatet®lan or to any Award granted under the
Plan by reason of a merger, consolidation, reomggioin, recapitalization, stock dividend, stockitsgbmbination or exchange of shares, or
other change in the structure of the Company, tlebrer of RSUs and the number of shares of CommackSthall be appropriately adjusted
by the Company and such adjustment shall be firiatling and conclusive.

9. No Right to EmploymentThe granting of the Award does not confer uponRkeipient the right to continue in the servicehed Company,
or affect in any way the right and power of the @amy to terminate the service of the Recipienhgttane with or without assigning a reason
therefor, to the same extent as the Company mie done if the Award had not been granted.

10.No GuaranteeThe Company offers no guarantee or assurancetth@ampany’s stock has any value at the time efghant or will have
any value or liquidity at any future tim



11. Amendment and Termination of Award-he Company may not, without the consent of theif®ent, alter or impair any Award granted
under the Plan. The Award shall be considered teatad in whole or in part, to the extent that,dnadance with the provisions of the Plan,
the Recipient no longer has the right to receivaetiof Common Stock under the Plan.

12.Governing Law.The Award Agreement shall be governed by and inéteol in accordance with the laws of The Commontexi
Massachusetts, without regard to any applicabldictsof law provisions thereof.

13. Severability.In the event anyone or more of the provisions efAlward Agreement shall for any reason be heldetinbalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of the Alvagreement shall be unimpaired, and the invalielgal or unenforceable provision shall
be replaced by a mutually acceptable provisionctvbieing valid, legal and enforceable, comes ctdsethe intention of the parties underlying
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision.

14. Definitions . All capitalized terms used herein and not othendisined shall have the meanings assigned to suntstin the Plan.



Exhibit 10.9

Vo

Pegasystems Inc.

Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreemet Pegasystems Inc.
10: 04-2787865
101 Main Street
Cambridge, MA 0214.

NAME Option Number: _ ADDRESS
Plan:__ CITY, STATE COUNTRY ZIPCODE 10:_

Effective OPTION_DATE, you (the “Optionee”) havedmegranted a Non-Qualified Stock Option (the “Optjao buy _shares of Pegasyste
Inc. (the “Company”) common stock at an exerciseepof US $__per share (the “Exercise Price”), parg to the Pegasystems Inc. 2004
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

The total exercise price of the shares grantedsis U

Shares subject to this Option will vest 20% onfttet anniversary of the date of grant and the hedaof will vest in 16 equal quarterly
installments between the first and fifth anniveiesaof the date of grant.

Expiration: Options expire in ten years from the@rDate.

The undersigned Optionee agrees to all of the teifrttee Plan and all those set forth on Exhibitttaehed hereto and incorporated herein by
reference.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Optioneetexecuted this instrument as of the date sdt fdrbve.

Pegasystems In

By: fﬁ“ /ﬁ H*'L‘”’

Alan Trefler, Chairman and Chief Executive Offit

First MI Last



Exhibit A To Notice of Grant of Stock Option and t@m Agreement

1.

EXERCISE PRICEThe Exercise Price is equal to Fair Market Valgedefined in Section 2(0) of the Plan, of a shdtb® Compan’'s
common stock on the date of the Notice of Grargtotk Option and Option Agreement (of which thihibit A is a part) (the “Option
Agreemer”).

OPTION EXERCISEOnce vested, the Option shall remain exercisablehiole or in part at any time through and includihg day
immediately preceding the date set forth undehteding “Expiration” on the Option Agreement (tlexpiration Date”), after which the
Option shall expire and no longer be exercise

The Option shall be exercisable by notice to thenfBany or the Company’s designated stock option adtnator, which shall:

(a) state the to exercise the Option, the number akshaith respect to which it is being exercised], ahdifferent than the Optione
the person in whose name the stock certificateedificates for such shares of common stock aleetoegistered, and the address
and Social Security number of such pers

(b) be signed by the person or persons entitlekéocise the Option, and if the Option is beingreised by a person or persons other
than the Optionee, be accompanied by proof sat@fato the Company’s legal counsel of the righso€h person or persons to
exercise the Option; ar

(c) if to the Company, be in writing and delivered &rgon or by certified mail to the Chief Financidfi€er of the Company or, if t
the Compan’s designated stock option administrator, be imt@ner and form specified by such stock option agstrator.

Payment of the full purchase price of any sharé$, respect to which the Option is being exercistll accompany the notice of
exercise of the Option and such payment may be rmacksh or check payable to the Company. Altevetj the Optionee may elect to
pay the full purchase price of any shares, witpeesto which the Option is being exercised, byimgthe Company withhold, or by
tendering to the Company through a stock swap, suatiber of shares of Common Stock as are equallirevto the full purchase price.
The certificate or certificates for shares of commstock as to which the Option is exercised shalldgistered in the name of the person
or persons exercising the Option.

TERMINATION OF SERVICE.If the Optionee terminates Service other than lagoe of the Option’s death, Disability or Retiremetr
the Optionee may exercise his or her Option foeehmonths following such termination to the extaat the Option is vested on the date
of termination (but in no event later than the extidon of the term of the Optior

RETIREMENT OF OPTIONEHf the Optionee terminates Service as a resultaifr@nent, the Optionee may exercise his or heioBpt
for 24 months following such termination to theextthat the Option is vested on the date of teation (but in no event later than the
expiration of the term of the Optior

DISABILITY OF OPTIONEE.If the Optionee terminates Service as a resulh@fQptione’s Disability, the Optionee may exercise hi
her Option for 24 months following such terminattorthe extent that the Option is vested on the d&atermination (but in no event later
than the expiration of the term of the Optic

DEATH OF OPTIONEEIf the Optionee dies while a Service Provider,@ption may be exercised by the Optic’s estate or by
person who acquires the right to exercise the @giiobequest or inheritance for 12 months followting Optionee’s termination of
Service because of dea

OPTIONEES AGREEMENT.The Optionee agrees to all the terms stated i®fiteon Agreement (of which this Exhibit is a pag3,
well as to the terms of the Plan (which shall colitr case of conflict with the Option Agreemerat)copy of which is attached and of
which the Optionee acknowledges rece




10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

WITHHOLDING. The Optionee consents to fulfill all withholdingligations for all applicable payroll and income éaxwith respect to
the Option when they are due and arrange for satisfy payment of all withholding obligations immeanner as set forth in Section 13(h)
of the Plan. The Company may delay issuance oftdicate until proper payment of such taxes hasrnbmade by the Optionee. The
Company may satisfy such withholding obligationsAgghholding, or by having the Optionee tenderite Company through a stock
swap, such number of shares of Common Stock asgar@ in value to the amount of the required wittiimy.

RIGHTS AS SHAREHOLDERSThe Optionee shall have no rights as a sharehofdée Company with respect to any of the shares
covered by the Option until the issuance of a stmkificate or certificates upon the exercisehaf ©Option, and then only with respect to
the shares represented by such certificate oficatés.

NON-TRANSFERABILITV. The Option may not be transferred in any mannegratin as permitted in Section 13(j) of the Plre

terms of the Option shall be binding upon the ek@s administrators, heirs and successors of fiteQee.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECURITIES. TAX AND OTHER LAWThe Option may not be exercised if the issuancghafes upon suc

exercise would constitute a violation of any apgdile federal or state securities law or any otaerdr valid regulation. As a condition to
the exercise of the Option, the Company may regheeOptionee, or any person acquiring the rigtexercise the Option, to make any
representation or warranty that the Company deerbs hecessary under any applicable securitiesptather law or regulatiol

ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATIONN the event of any change in the shares subjetiet®lan or to any Optic

granted under the Plan by reason of a merger, idaton, reorganization, recapitalization, stoékidend, stock split, combination or
exchange of shares, or other change in the streicfuhe Company, the number of shares subjecidh eutstanding Option and/or the
Option price with respect to the shares shall pr@piately adjusted by the Company and such adjeist shall be final, binding and
conclusive.

NO RIGHT TO EMPLOYMENT.The granting of the Option does not confer uponQip&onee the right to continue in the Servicehef t

Company, or affect in any way the right and powfethe Company to terminate the Service of the Q@@at any time with or without
assigning a reason therefor, to the same extegheaSompany might have done if the Option had eehbgrantec

NO GUARANTEE.The Company offers no guarantee or assurancelth&dampan’s stock has any value at the time of this gramtib

have any value or liquidity at any future tin

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF OPTION.The Company may not, without the consent of thaddpe, alter or impair any

Option granted under the Plan. The Option shalldresidered terminated in whole or in part, to thieet that, in accordance with the
provisions of the Plan, it can no longer be exectifor shares originally subject to the Opti

GOVERNING LAW. The Option Agreement shall be governed by andpnéded in accordance with the laws of The Commoitived

Massachusetts, without regard to any applicabldlictsof law provisions thereo



17. SEVERABILITY. In the event anyone or more of the provisions ef@ption Agreement shall for any reason be helgktmvalid, illega
or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of tipti@ Agreement shall be unimpaired, and the inlaliegal or unenforceable
provision shall be replaced by a mutually accegtg@bbvision, which being valid, legal and enfordeabomes closest to the intention of
the parties underlying the invalid, illegal or ufeeable provision

18. DEFINITIONS.All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwlisined shall have the meanings assigned to sunistin the Plar



Exhibit 10.25
April 20, 2004
Mr. Max Mayer
Dear Max,

Pegasystems is pleased to offer you the positidficef President, Corporate Development, reportingetly to Henry Ancona, President and
COO, in our Cambridge office. Your starting saltoythis position will be paid semi-monthly at aeaf $8,433.34 at the annualized rate of
$200,000 per year. As you know, you will also kigible to participate in our corporate incentivaml The details of this plan will be outlined
during your first week of employment.

In the event that you are terminated from Pegamysteithin the first two years of employment, foasens other than cause or resignation, you
will receive a severance package equaling six nwatlyour base salary.

In addition, you will be granted an option to puash 80,000 shares of Pegasystems’ common stoakamiit® our Long-Term Incentive Plan.
These terms, which become effective on your datgref will be conveyed to you in a separate doauraéter you become a Pegasystems
employee.

You will have the option to elect individual or fdyncoverage in our medical and/or dental plansaddition, we offer a tuition reimbursement
program, a 401 (k) plan, and child care reimburseéraecounts, which enable you to pay for dependeifdcare expenses with pre-tax dollars.
The company will also provide you with short-terisability, long-term disability, and life insuranceverage. You will accrue paid time off in
accordance with Pegasystems’ Paid Time Off Politys includes 15 of vacation per year along withpa@ Holidays plus 1 paid P per year.
Your vacation and holidays are prorated during Yioat year of employment. A summary of these bisés included for your convenience.

This offer of employment is not a contract, andd@ggtems reserves its rights as an employer athills, either you or Pegasystems may
terminate employment at anytime. As we discussedwauld like you to begin working as a Pegasystemployee on a basis on May 1, 2004.
At that time, we will expect you to sign our Stardialetter, as well as provide us with proper empient authorization. Please note that as a
requirement to work in the United States, you nzashplete the Employment Eligibility Verification-@) form and bring with you the requir
supporting documentation (i.e. drivers license soalal security card; U.S. passport; appropriatekwésa, etc.). Also, we would appreciate a
written response no later than April 26, 2004. Bdesend or fax (617-494-5581) your response t&Caunbridge office, my attention.

We are all delighted that you are joining Pega, amedvery excited at the prospect of working toggth
Sincerely,
/s/ Carmelina Procaccini

Carmelina Procaccini
Vice President, Human Resources

| accept the terms of this offer letter and wilgbework at Pegasystems on May 1, 2004.

/s Max Mayel April 26, 2004

Max Mayer Date



Name of Subsidiary
Pegasystems Limite

Pegasystems Proprietary Limit
Pegasystems Worldwide Ir
Pegasystems Investment |i
Pegasystems Compa
Pegasystems Private Limit
Pegasystems Worldwide India Private Limi
Pegasystems Mauritit
Pegasystems Gmb
Pegasystems B.\
Pegasystems A.C
Pegasystems Sp.Zi

SUBSIDIARIES OF PEGASYSTEMS INC.

State or Jurisdiction of Entity

England
Australia
Massachusett
Massachusett
Canadz
Singapore
India
Mauritius
Germany
Netherland:
Switzerlanc

Poland

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inifeggion Statement Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746, 83837, 333-104788, 333-116660, and
333-135596 on Form S-8 of our reports dated Marc@009 relating to the financial statements of Bgggems Inc. (which report expresses an
unqualified opinion and includes an explanatoryageasph relating to the adoption of FASB InterpietaiNo. 48,Accounting for Uncertainty
Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB StatementlB®, effective January 1, 2007) and our report dateddd 9, 2009 relating to the
effectiveness of Pegasystems Inc.’s internal cootrer financial reporting, appearing in this AnhB&port on Form 10-K of Pegasystems Inc.
for the year ended December 31, 2008.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 9, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

I, Alan Trefler, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or anttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13z-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargagdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatoed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdmhon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemnmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 9, 2009

/s/ ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

I, Craig Dynes, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or anttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13z-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargagdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatoed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdmhon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemnmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 9, 2009

/s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2008 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat@h@he “Report”), Alan Trefler, Chairman and Chietecutive Officer of Pegasystems
Inc., and Craig Dynes, Chief Financial Officer é@ehior Vice President of Pegasystems Inc., eatffiegrpursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1{
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@rley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: March 9, 2009

/s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)

Dated: March 9, 200



